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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded total
revenue of HK$3,951 million, down 2.5% year-on-year, and profit for the
year was HK$482 million, up 20.4% year-on-year. The gross profit margin
of the chemical operations was 29.4%, representing a 3.4 percentage
point increase compared to last year, while the Group's net profit margin
rose by 2.3 percentage points year-on-year to 12.2%.

Regarding the Group’s Chemical operations, changes in geopolitical
situations and high interest rates prevailing have kept the manufacturing
industry in mainland China on its toes. Prices of the Group's chemical
products moved on different paths, but stayed steady at large. Thanks to
the Group strengthening cost control and production automation bearing
fruit, the Group's gross profit and profit increased during the year. As for
Property operations, the Group sold 17 residential units at RIVERDALE
during the year, with only 11 units remaining. Including leasing revenue,
the total revenue of property operations amounted to approximately
HK$29 million during the year.

PROSPECTS

In 2025, the global economy remains uncertain, with the operating
environment full of challenges. To tackle this difficult situation, the Group
will continue to promote production automation at its three factories
to improve cost-effectiveness and production efficiency. At the drive
of national policies, technological innovation and market demand, the
chemical industry is expected to gradually develop and move towards
high-end, green and intelligent production.

While striving to guard its existing business, the Group will continue to
invest resources in developing diversified high-value-added chemical
products, strengthen its product portfolio, achieve vertical integration of
its production chain, and focus on maintaining the high quality of various
products, thereby build its unique competitive advantage. We firmly
believe that stable and high product quality is critical to strengthening the
foundation of the brand and boost the Group's profitability.

The Group completed the construction of the vinylene carbonate
("vC") production line at the Changshu plant and the optimization of
fluoroethylene carbonate (“FEC") capacity at the Zhuhai plant by the
end of 2024. Trial production and sales will begin respectively this year,
expected to help bolster cost-effectiveness. Moreover, the Group is
actively planning to develop a high-end fluoropolymer production line at
the new site in Jiangxi and to expand overseas sales channels to support
future sales growth.

The Group will also continue to implement various sustainable
development plans, including initiatives to improve energy efficiency,
conserve water resources and adopt green energy. It will strive to reduce
carbon emissions and build green factories to achieve sustainable
development, while bringing satisfactory returns to shareholders.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank the Company’s
shareholders, customers and business partners for their strong support
during the year. | would also like to take this opportunity to thank our staff
for their continued hard work and contribution to the Group.

Wai Siu Kee
Chairman

Hong Kong, 6 March 2025
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmRE DM

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to equity holders of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 was HK$3,951 million and HK$482
million respectively, representing a decrease of 2.5% and an increase
of 20.4%, as compared to HK$4,051 million and HK$401 million
respectively for the last year.

The basic earnings per share was HK58.5 cents for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: HK48.6 cents).

Revenue
Chemical operations

During the year under review, the Group recorded a revenue from
Chemical operations of approximately HK$3,922 million, representing a
decrease of HK$59 million or 1.5% as compared to last year.

During the year under review, the average selling price per ton (including
value-added tax, similarly hereinafter) of the products of the Group as
compared to last year, the average selling price per ton of Chloromethane
("CMS") products (methylene chloride and chloroform) was about
RMB2,850 and RMB2,640, increased by approximately 4% and 7%
respectively. Caustic soda was at about RMB940, similar to last year.
Polytetrafluoroethylene (“PTFE") was at about RMB44,960, decreased
by approximately 5%, while hydrogen peroxide was at about RMB860,
decreased by approximately 16%.

The actual production volume of our primary products for the year
(including self-consumption) was approximately 400,000 tons for CMS
products, 590,000 tons for 100% dry basis caustic soda, 9,000 tons for
polytetrafluoroethylene and 410,000 tons for hydrogen peroxide.

In 2024, the manufacturing industry faced intense “involution”
competition, leading to demand fluctuations in downstream chemicals.
The prices of chemical products mixed while overall remained stable.
Benefiting from the results of cost control and implementation of
intelligent transformation management, the Group saw a slight increase
in gross profit. During the year under review, the Group maintains
a stable full-load production of the existing product line-ups while
taking opportunities to improve efficiency and enhance processes of
the production lines for improved efficiency and improve processes.
With production efficiency advantages, the Group has established a
solid foundation to seize market demand and future development
opportunities.
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Property operations

During the year under review, the Group further sold of 17 residential
units of RIVERDALE, recorded a revenue from Property operations of
approximately HK$29 million. At the year end, over 90% of residential
units of RIVERDALE has been sold with 11 unsold units.

Gross profit

During the year under review, gross profit amounted to HK$1,164 million,
an increase of HK$102 million. The increase in gross margin was mainly
attributable to the decline in raw material prices and energy costs.

Selling and distribution costs

During the year under review, selling and distribution costs amounted to
approximately HK$203 million, similar to last year of HK§209 million. The
selling and distribution costs represented approximately 5.1% of total
revenue for the year, as compared to 5.2% for the last year.

Administrative expenses

During the year under review, administrative expenses amounted to
approximately HK$275 million, increased by approximately HK$16
million as compared to HK$259 million of the last year. The increase
in administrative expenses during the year under review was mainly
due to salary adjustment during the year. The administrative expenses
represented approximately 7.0% of total revenue for the year, as
compared to 6.4% for the last year.

Research and development cost

During the year under review, research and development costs
amounted to approximately HK$136 million and representing 3.4%
of total revenue for the year. During the year under review, the Group
focused on optimizing the process technology of its main products,
investing resources to further improve product quality and enhance
competitiveness in the market.

Finance costs

During the year under review, the interest expenses incurred was
approximately HK$22 million, decreased by approximately HK$17 million
compared to HK$39 million of the last year. The decrease in finance
costs during the year under review was mainly due to the interests saved
from repaying the bank borrowings during the year.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmRE DM

Net exchange gain

During the year under review, the net exchange gain was approximately
HK$2 million. The net exchange gain of the Group is mainly driven by the
fluctuations of Renminbi in 2024.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS’ AND CREDITORS’ TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 was 90 days, decreased by 10 days as compared to 100 days of
the last year.

The Group's debtors’ turnover days was controlled at 29 days for the
year ended 31 December 2024 as compared to 22 days for the last
year, which is in line with the normal credit period of 7 days to 90 days
granted to customers of the Group.

The Group's creditors’ turnover days was 21 days for the year ended
31 December 2024 as compared to 21 days for the last year, which is
in line with the normal credit terms of 7 days to 45 days granted by the
suppliers to the Group.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ equity of the Group as at 31 December 2024
was HK$5,936 million (2023: HK$5,800 million). As at 31 December
2024, the Group had current assets of HK$1,387 million (2023:
HK$1,513 million) and current liabilities of HK$1,146 million (2023:
HK$1,172 million). The current ratio was 1.21 as at 31 December 2024
as compared to 1.29 at 31 December 2023.

The financial resources of the Group remain strong. As at 31 December
2024, the Group's bank deposit, bank balances and cash was HK$291
million (2023: HK$264 million) and the net debt amounted to HK$358
million (2023: HK$408 million). The net debt to equity ratio of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 was 6.03% (2023: 7.04%).

During the year under review, the Group is actively optimizing financing
cost structure through moderately increasing borrowings denominated
in Renminbi. The Group would continue to maintain sufficient cash and
available banking facilities to meet its capital commitments, working
capital requirements and future investments for expansion.
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CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had capital expenditure contracted
for but not provided in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment in amounts of
approximately HK$149 million.

HUMAN RESOURCES

At 31 December 2024, the Group had a workforce of around 1,900
people. The Group maintains a good relationship with its employees, and
provides them with proper training and competitive compensation and
incentives. The staffs are remunerated based on their work performance,
professional experience and prevailing market situation. Remuneration
packages comprise salary and bonuses based on individual merits.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Apart from those stated in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis sections, the Company is exposed to the
following key risks and uncertainties which are required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

1. Risks Relating to Our Industry

Some of our raw materials and products fall within the category
of hazardous chemicals. Any leakage of such chemicals, due to
equipment malfunction or wrongful operations, may result in
personal injury. The Company regards safety as the top priority. To
minimize risks, regular maintenance of our production equipment
is conducted. Important equipment is inspected by “Special
Equipment Safety Supervision Inspection Institute”, to ensure
proper management of our equipment and devices. In addition,
the Company strictly executes safety management standardization.
The Company regularly conducts safety classes and shares safety
management experience to our production teams. Emergency drills
are organized twice a year to ensure that our staff members have
thorough knowledge in safe production and avoid the occurrence of
wrongful operations.

2. Credit Risks Relating to Customers

Exposure to bad debts attributable to customers usually intensifies
in a time of weak economic performance. To minimize credit
risks, the management of the Group has appointed dedicated staff
members to handle procedures for determining credit limits, credit
approval and other monitoring procedures, to ensure follow-up with
all receivables in a timely manner. In addition, the Group reviews
the collectability of receivables at the end of a reporting period, to
ensure that sufficient impairment losses are provided for in respect
of uncollectible amount.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEBNWR DM

Liquidity Risks

In managing liquidity risks, the Group monitors and maintains
bank balances and cash at a level which is considered by the
management as sufficient, to satisfy the needs arising from the
Group's operations and to mitigate the effect of fluctuations of cash
flow. The management closely monitors the use of borrowings to
ensure that relevant covenants relating to loans are complied with.

Currency Risks

Debts denominated in foreign currencies expose the Group to
foreign exchange risks. The Group closely manages and monitors
foreign exchange risks to ensure that appropriate measures are
taken in a timely manner. The Group will consider entering into
forward contracts in respect of foreign currencies to mitigate
relevant risks as and when appropriate. As of 31 December 2024,
the Group held a foreign currency forward contract as shown in the
consolidated financial statements.

Interest Rate Risks
The Group's interest rate risks are primarily related to its bank
balances and bank borrowings carried at floating interest rates. The

management will closely monitor interest rate risks and consider
hedging material interest rate fluctuations when necessary.
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Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. The Board of the Company believes that sound and
reasonable corporate governance practices are essential for the growth of
the Group and for safeguarding and maximising shareholders’ interests.

During the year, the Company has complied with the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code") as set out in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Board is
committed to complying with the code provisions as stated in the Code
to the extent that the directors of the Company (“Directors”) consider it is
applicable and practical to the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The objectives of the management structures within the Group, headed
by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver sustainable value to
Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer and
the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting agenda,
and ensures Directors have proper briefing, and timely receive adequate
and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. The Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-to-day
operations of the Group.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic development
of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial performance and the
internal controls of the Group’s business operations.

The independent non-executive Directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate
governance framework. The Board considers that each independent non-
executive Director is independent in character and judgment and that
they all meet the specific independence criteria as required by the Listing
Rules. The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation or confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The independent non-
executive Directors are explicitly identified in all of the Company's
corporate communications. Independent non-executive Directors
represent more than one-third of the Board and possess appropriate
legal, professional accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise.
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Corporate Governance Report
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All Independent non-executive Directors entered into service contracts
with the Company, for a term of approximately one year, commencing
upon conclusion of the AGM of the year of signing and ending at the
next annual general meeting of the Company but, in any event, no later
than 30 June to the following year of signing.

Board Composition

As at the date of publication of this Annual Report, the Board comprises
seven Directors including three Executive Directors, one Non-executive
Director and three Independent Non-executive Directors. The names of
the Directors of the Company are as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. Wai Siu Kee (Chairman)

Mr. Lee Man Yan (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Yang Zuo Ning

Non-executive Director

Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi sp

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 88S Jp

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei

Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk

The change to the composition of the Board during the year and up to
the date of this Annual Report was as follows:

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 85 to 89
to this annual report. Other than disclosed, the board members have no
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with
each other.
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The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all Directors. Notice
of at least 14 days have been given to all Directors for all regular board
meetings and the Directors can include matters for discussion in the
agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying board papers in respect
of regular board meetings are sent out in full to all Directors within
reasonable time before the meeting. Draft minutes of all board meetings
are circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time prior to
confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are kept
by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all Directors
have access to board papers and related materials, and are provided with
adequate information in a timely manner, which enable the Board to
make an informed decision on matters placed before it.

During the year, the Company held two board meetings, an annual
general meeting ("“AGM") and one extraordinary general meeting ("EGM").
The attendance of each Director is as follows:
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ITERHHEREST  HEARERLEL
BREZCQRZHE  FeBRIKINE
SERVARANBEATRES WHE EF
A ZREFEANENHER - AREHE
#F - —ExERRERRAEXMHEERS
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RENERaERBNEAXTESTEH 7
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FE O RIBAN LB E RS R
B B EEE A RRE FIEAE AR A
1B -

FAR ARBHRBITMAEZTEEH - — K
ERBFRe([RRAEFAE])E—RBER
FRIRE ([RRERAE]) - SEZZHFE
KEHIT

Attended/Eligible meeting held
HEEERY SEREEERAH

Board Meeting AGM EGM

ExgglE REREFAKE RRHIXE

Ms. Wai Siu Kee @it 2/2 X X
Mr. Lee Man Yan VB LA 2/2 v X
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning BIEESLSE 2/2 v v
Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi sp PR FT IR A 2/2 v v/
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 8BS FER S A Bes A Far+ 2/2 X v
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei TBR 4 St &= 2/2 v v
Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk FTRELSE 2/2 v v
Apart from the said board meetings, operational matters requiring board ~ Fr FilE R & &ZIN FE2EFSHEZH

approval were arranged by means of circulation of written resolutions
with supporting materials, supplemented by additional verbal and/or
written information from the company secretary of the Company as and
when appropriate.
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Appointment and Training for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on his appointment, so as to ensure that he has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Group
and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements. There are also
arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing and professional
development to Directors at the Company’s expenses whenever
necessary.

The Company provides regular updates and presentations on changes
and developments relating to the Group’s business and the legislative
and regulatory environments to the Directors at Board meetings or
through emails.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and provided a record
of training they received for the year ended 31 December 2024 to the
Company. The type of training received is summarized below:

EE 2 ZERE
BUFTESFRZERIERF —HE2H
EREAEATEZOARBES - ARERE

%$El¥%&5¢ﬁi$mTM iz

MBEHBE EMRARBEEFRE T 2B
BEREE - HEFTER ARRNSLHR
EEREBEGNREEHE  BAHAAR
AJEIE o

RRBIRAL l%i‘k?‘%&_ui)&ﬁ**

ZEE) REZRLHNIBALE %iﬁ
HRERREERFEIIER ©
HE2024F12A31HILFE » 255948

SHERLREFAWEAER TG FEER
BR - WCOAARRREREMEZEI®
BRI

Reading Attending external

regulatory seminars/

updates programmes

MEEERE SHINAHIE

Name of Director BB B ER ERAHESER
Ms. Wai Siu Kee @lmut v v
Mr. Lee Man Yan FNREE v v
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning BIFERE v v
Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi J» BRI ALEIR A P+ v v
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS P FER I s Tt v v
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wai R#EFE v v
Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk FTREESE v v

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Members of the Audit Committee include:
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei (Chairman)

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 88s Jp
Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk
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The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
accounting, business and legal on the Audit Committee. The composition
and members of the Audit Committee complies with the requirements
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee is available on the Company's website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group's financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of internal
controls, risk management and the effectiveness and objectiveness of
the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides an important
link between the Board and the Company's auditors in matters coming
within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps under review the
independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal
controls and financial reporting matters including a review of the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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During the year, 3 Audit Committee meetings were held and the &R @ BB =ZAEBEZZESEE @ ERIK
individual attendance of each member is set out below: SR HEBRFINET

Attended/Eligible

meeting held

HEEERE

SERLEEBIRE

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei (Chairman) MR T (F/E) 3/3

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 8BS Jjp FRoR L A pas Fa+ 3/3

Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk FRaESTSE 3/3

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Members of the Remuneration Committee include:
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei (Chairman)

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 88s Jp
Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk
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All members of the Remuneration Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee makes
recommendations to the Board on the Group's overall policy and
structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee ensures that no Director or any of his associate
is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee were revised in January 2023 to reflect the
relevant amendments of the Listing Rules. A copy of which is posted on
the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to Directors, the Remuneration
Committee takes into consideration factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and the
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has met during the year to determine
the policy for the remuneration of Directors and assess performance
of executive Directors and certain senior management. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, there were no material matters relating
to the share option schemes of the Company which required review
or approval by the Remuneration Committee. One Remuneration
Committee meeting was held during the year and all members have
attended in the meeting.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Members of the Nomination Committee include:

Ms. Wai Siu Kee (Chairman)
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 88S Jp
Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk

The majority members are independent non-executive Directors. The
principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
Board composition, developing and formulating relevant procedures for
nomination and appointment of Directors, making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment and succession planning of Directors, and
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.
The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is available on the
Company's website.
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The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and composition
of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. One Nomination Committee meeting was held during the year
and all members have attended in the meeting.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is a full-time employee of the
Group and he has confirmed that, in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules, he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year.

NOMINATION POLICY
Objectives

The key objectives of the Nomination Policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
shall inter-alia include the following:

«  to set out the criteria and process for the nomination and
appointment of Directors of the Company;

«  to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company's business; and

+  to ensure the Board's continuity and appropriate leadership at the
Board level.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTOR

Nomination Committee shall identify and ascertain the integrity,
qualification, expertise and experience of the candidate who is considered
for being appointed/re-appointed as Director and apply due diligence in
compliance with all applicable provisions of the laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Listing Rules including any amendments thereto from time to
time. Also, the Nomination Committee shall consider recommendations
for candidates to the Board from shareholders of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall obtain all applicable declarations and
undertaking as provided under the laws of the Cayman Islands and
the Listing Rules. In case of independent non-executive Directors, the
Nomination Committee shall ensure that the independent non-executive
Directors meet the criteria of independence as laid down in the Listing
Rules.
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While recommending any potential new Board member(s)/
re-appointment of existing member(s) to the Board, the Nomination
Committee shall consider the following:

«  candidate’s character, integrity, qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience and diversity
criteria under the Board Diversity Policy of the Company which are
relevant to the Company's business and corporate strategy, other
commitments and the like;

« any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board;

«  requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in
accordance with the Main Board Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

«  the potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence, gender
diversity and diversity of perspectives;

«  willingness and ability to devote sufficient time to discharge duties as
a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s);

«  such other criteria which are appropriate to the Company's business
and corporate strategy and the Board’s succession plan and,
where applicable, which may be adopted and/or amended by the
Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of Directors and succession planning; and

« any other factors as the Nomination Committee may deem fit to
consider in the best interests of the Company and shareholders of
the Company.

Once the Nomination Committee determines that an additional or
replacement Director is required, the Nomination Committee may
take such measures that it considers appropriate in connection with its
evaluation of a candidate, including inquiry of the person or persons
making the recommendation or nomination, engagement of an
outside search firm to gather additional information, or reliance on the
knowledge of the members of the Nomination Committee, the Board or
management.

The Nomination Committee may retain the services of other professional
third parties to assist in identifying and evaluating potential candidates.

The Nomination Committee and the Board shall ensure that the

composition of the Board is in conformity with the laws of the Cayman
Islands, the Listing Rules and all other applicable laws and regulations.
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The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of the
Directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions in 2005. All the members of the Board have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company that they have complied
with the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2024. The Model Code also applies to other
specified senior management of the Group.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group's risk management and internal control systems provide a
clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting
mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage it risks across business
operations effectively.

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists
of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Taskforce (i.e. Senior Management). The Board of Directors evaluates and
determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be taken in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and has the overall responsibility for
monitoring the design, implementation and the overall effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing significant
risks. At least on an annual basis, the Risk Management Taskforce
identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s
objectives, and assesses and prioritises the identified risks according to
a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then
established and assigned for those risks considered to be significant.
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In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional advisor
to provide internal control review services, which assist the Board and
the Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. Deficiencies in the design and
implementation of internal controls are identified and recommendations
are proposed for improvement. Significant internal control deficiencies
are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on a timely basis to
ensure prompt remediation actions are taken.

Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to
the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors at least once a year.
The Board had performed annual review on the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems, including but not
limited to the Group's ability to cope with its business transformation and
changing external environment; the scope and quality of management's
review on risk management and internal control systems; result of
internal audit work; the extent and frequency of communication with the
Board in relation to result of risk and internal control review; significant
failures or weaknesses identified and their related implications; and status
of compliance with the Listing Rules. The Board considers the Group's
risk management and internal control systems are effective.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR THE HANDLING
AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities & Futures Ordinance
("SFO") and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside information
to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information
falls within any of the Safe Harbours as provided in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that
the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that
confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would immediately
disclose the information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in announcements are not false or misleading
as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a
material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and balanced
way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the results and cash flows for that period. In preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, the directors
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently
adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong
Kong Accounting Standards made adjustments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable and have prepared the accounts on the going
concern basis. The directors are also responsible for keeping proper
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fee payable to the

Company's external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set out below:
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Audit services ETRTS 1,905
Non-audit services (including tax compliance, R R (BEREEE  HERER G 2E
review of continued connected transactions and B R E b AR )
other services) 522
2,427

DIVERSITY

The Company has devised a policy on Board diversity to ensure adequate
diversity in its Board, with effect from 1 January 2019.

Vision

The Company believes diversity is important to enhance the Board's
effectiveness by encouraging a diversity of perspectives and to maintain
high standards of corporate governance. The Company will continue to
monitor and develop new objectives for implementing and achieving
improved diversity on the Board as and when it considers appropriate
with regard to the specific needs of the Company and the market from
time to time.

Policy Statement
The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse

Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in maintaining the Company's competitive advantage.
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Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
which will include but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and the like. The
ultimate decision will be based on overall contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board and the Company.

Review of the Policy

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Policy and will from time to time review the Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of the Policy. The Nomination Committee will
discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

During the year, the Company continued to monitor the board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires board
appointments to be made based on merit and candidates to be
considered against an objective criteria, including diversity. In order to
maintain an appropriate mix and balance of talent, skills, experience
and background on the Board, the Nomination Committee developed
measurable objectives to implement this policy and monitored progress
towards achieving these objectives during the year ended 31 December
2024.

The current board composition was also evaluated by reference to,
among other things, the age, gender, cultural and educational background
and professional experience of each director, against the Company's
business model and specific needs.

The current Board composition reflects a balanced mix of age,
educational background, professional knowledge, industry experience and
length of service to the Board. The diversity mix of the Board as at 31
December 2024 is summarized below:

The Current Composition of the Board
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EERBFE

Age Gender

Fie 5

30-49 years (3 persons) Male (86%)
3052495 (3A) 5(86%)

60 years and above (4 persons) Female (14%)
60pR A E(4N) 2Z(14%)
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1-5 years (1 person)
1EZE5F(1A)

5-10 years (1 person)
SEZE10F(1A)

Over 10 years (5 persons)

T0FA E(5A)



Gender Diversity of Workforce

As set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
contained in this Annual Report, among the employees (including
senior management) of the Group. The percentage of male employees
and female employees are approximately 76% and 24%, respectively.
The Board considers that the Group’s workforce (including senior
management) is diverse in terms of gender.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company has only one class of shares. All shares have the same
voting rights and are entitled to the dividend declared. The rights of the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) are set out in Company's
Articles or Association.

Shareholders can: (i) convene an extraordinary general meeting (ii)
forward enquiries to the board of directors (iii) forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings and (iv) nominate Directors for election. Details
of relevant procedures are available on the Company’s website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about the
Group's performance to shareholders through the publication of interim
results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to dispatching
circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders, additional
information is also available to shareholders on the website of the
Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful platform for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders are
encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the Company
gives at least 21 days' notice. The Chairman and Directors and external
auditors are available to answer questions on the Company's businesses
at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, poll voting procedure is included in the circular to
shareholders dispatched together with the annual report.

Constitutional Documents

There was no other significant change in the Company's constitutional
documents for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Dividend Policy

The Board considers sustainable returns to shareholders to be one
of the main objectives of the Company. Stable dividend payment to
shareholders is the primary objective of the Company.

Under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association of the Company, all of the shareholders have equal rights to
dividends and distributions. The Board determines the interim dividend
and recommends the final dividend which requires the approval of
shareholders. In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the
form of shares. Any distribution of shares also requires the approval of
shareholders.

Retained surplus can be used to achieve growth in corporate value. The
Board has been making effective use of retained surplus to strengthen
the operating base and the development of businesses. According to the
dividend policy adopted by the Company on 1 January 2019, the Board
takes into account the following factors when considering the declaration/
recommendation of dividends:

« financial results;

. cash flow situation;

«  availability of distributable profits;

«  business conditions and strategies;

«  future operations and earnings;

«  development plans;

«  cash requirements;

«  capital requirements and expenditure plans;

. interests of shareholders as a whole;

« any restrictions on declaration and/or payment of dividends; and

« any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

In practice, the Company will not declare/recommend any dividend(s)
where:

«  there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is or
would be, after a dividend payment, unable to pay its liabilities or
discharge its obligations as and when they become due;

«  pursuant to dividend decision date, the Company is insolvent or
bankrupt or where, as a result of paying dividends, the Company

would be rendered insolvent or bankrupt; or

«  there is any other case set forth by any law.
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STATEMENT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

We are pleased to present the 2024 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (hereinafter referred to as the “Report”) of Lee & Man
Chemical Company Limited, which has been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of Appendix C2 Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide to the Main Board Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, showcasing the performance, results and the future course of
the sustainable development of the Group.

The Group has always been committed to promoting sustainable
development through communication with stakeholders and materiality
assessment conducted to identify environmental, social and governance
("ESG") topics that are important to the Group. The Board of Directors
(“the Board") is fully aware of the importance of controlling and
managing ESG-related risks. The strategy and policy direction of the
Group in relation to its ESG areas are reviewed continuously, and the
Management will work actively to implement the relevant measures
to ensure the effectiveness of the risk management, compliance, and
corresponding internal control system within the aspects of ESG.

In 2024, the Group further strengthened its commitment to sustainable
development by establishing clear and quantifiable targets, by reference
to HKFRS S1 General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-
related Financial Information issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. This enhancement reflects our thorough
review of existing policies and our ongoing efforts to promote sustainable
practices within the Group. We have implemented definitive pollutant
discharge standards that ensure strict adherence to relevant laws,
regulations, and normative documents. Throughout the year, the Group
maintained full compliance with environmental protection laws and
regulations, with no violations reported.

“Safety first” has always been a principle advocated by the Group. We
have adopted standardized work procedures for safe production, and
implemented safety and occupational health management in every
detail of daily operation. The Group has integrated green technology
into R & D and production, strengthened research in new fields, and
always strived to innovate and make progress. With the implementation
of the standardized management system, we always strictly control and
continuously improve the quality of our products.

The Group continued its commitment to intelligent transformation by
further optimizing production processes and Automated Production
Control to enhance efficiency and operational benefits. Leveraging
these improvements, we achieved further reductions in both energy
consumption and pollutant emissions.
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The Group remains committed to the principles of a “green supply
chain and high-quality low-carbon products.” With a vision of “pursuing
excellence and striving for the best,” we actively embrace the national
goals of “carbon peaking and carbon neutrality.” We leverage the
integrated development of information technology and the manufacturing
sector to accelerate our transition from traditional manufacturing
to intelligent manufacturing. By conducting comprehensive carbon
emissions inventories throughout our production processes, we aim
to minimize carbon emissions through “prevention at source, process
control, end treatment and comprehensive utilization”.

We are grateful to our employees, partners, and various stakeholders
for their participation, cooperation and support in achieving sustainable
development. Through effective use of resources, we will improve our
overall performance of environmental and social management, We look
forward to moving ahead together with everyone.

REPORTING SCOPE

This Report covers the environmental and social performance of the
Group during the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024
(hereinafter referred to as the “Reporting Period"). This Report covers the
major operations of the Group in relation to the production of chemicals
in China, including Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited (hereinafter
referred to as “Jiangsu Chemical”) and Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical
Limited (hereinafter referred to as “Jiangxi Chemical”), and Zhuhai Lee
& Man Materials Science Company Limited (hereinafter referred to as
“Zhuhai Chemical”).

In defining the reporting scope, the Group has taken into consideration
factors such as the risks of facilities in relation to ESG topics, the Group's
investment of resources to control the ESG risks of facilities and the
materiality of facilities on the Group's businesses. The reporting scope
has been defined by the Management and submitted to the Board for
review.

ESG MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Due to the higher risks of environmental pollution and work safety in the
chemical industry, compliance operation, product quality, exhaust gas,
and sewage emissions, and hazardous chemicals management have
been the ESG topics to which the Group pays the greatest attention.
Therefore, the Safety and Environmental Protection Department
(hereinafter referred to as the "SEPD") with qualified professionals
familiar with relevant environmental protection laws has been set up by
the Group to manage compliance and monitoring affairs.
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To address various challenges in sustainable development, the Board
spearheaded and led the formulation of the sustainable development
governance guidelines and policies for the Group. The development plan
of the Group is under the Board's regular supervision; they are issued
to relevant departments for implementation by the SEPD and relevant
business departments. Every factory will set annual environmental
protection targets and emission assessment targets based on the
sustainable development governance guidelines established by the Board
and take into account their actual production situation. These policies
are sent by the directors to every department with reviews conducted
regularly to follow up on the progress.

The risk management team set up by the Group will monitor the
risks, including ESG-related risks, which affect the Group on a yearly
basis. Based on the result of the risk assessment, the Group will plan
internal audit work for the risk issues and evaluate the performance and
deficiencies of the relevant internal control processes. Risk management
reports and internal audit reports will be submitted to the audit
committee and the Board.

Further to the top-down governance work, the Group also promotes
the bottom-up cooperation concept of “cooperative governance” in a
proactive manner. The senior management members of the General
Manager's Office (hereinafter referred to as “GMQ"), the SEPD, and the
Audit department will conduct featured work dispatch meetings every
week. Each department reports and discusses the production, and
follows up on the production status and the risk trends each week. The
result of the meetings is emailed to the representatives of the Board to
keep them informed. Based on the discussion, each department needs
to formulate relevant policies and implementation measures and review
the effectiveness of rectification and maintenance work regularly, so as to
ensure the effective implementation of the improvement measures.

Furthermore, the SEPD and the representatives of the Board hold
quarterly meetings, where the SEPD reports the environmental
protection and occupational safety issues and challenges faced by the
Group, follow-up the implementation of measures, and intensifies the
cooperation among various departments in driving the sustainable
development of the Group. The meetings keep the Board abreast of the
latest performance and progress on goal attainment within the aspects
of ESG, and in turn, the Board sets the Group's future direction of ESG
development and makes continuous improvements to the sustainability
performance.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This report was prepared following the four principles suggested in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide, namely,

"ou

“Quantitative”, “Consistency”, "Materiality” and “Balance”.

“Quantitative”: with reference to industry practices, guidelines of the
Stock Exchange or relevant government authority as well as laws and
regulations, the Group formulates internal guidelines and procedures,
collects environmental performance data from various business
departments, keeps record of relevant monitoring instruments or
supporting documents, and submits them to the Board for review upon
verification by the Management. Please refer to the relevant sections in
the Report for the criteria, methodologies and assumptions (if applicable)
for the calculation of performance data.

“Consistency” the disclosure and statistical methods adopted by this
Report are consistent with those adopted last year in which data are
summarized and converted in the same manner. Relevant historical
data have been disclosed in the report, allowing stakeholders to better
understand and benchmark the sustainable development performance of
the Group.

“Materiality”: when defining material ESG topics related to the Group's
business and stakeholders, we communicate internally with Group
members and externally with stakeholders to understand everyone's
expectations and recommendations. This includes stakeholders who
are impacted by or have a material impact on our operations, such as
the Management, trade union representatives, employees, customers,
suppliers, local government bodies and relevant local organizations.

“Balance”: the Group discloses its major ESG related performance
objectively to reflect the true picture of its achievements and challenges,
thus enhancing operational transparency and building stakeholder trust.

To identify and update material ESG risks and opportunities faced by
Lee & Man Chemical, we carry out a materiality assessment of ESG
topics every year. Environmental and social ESG topics are identified
based on the day-to-day operations of the Group, social trends, and
industrial landscape, upon discussions with stakeholders. To understand
stakeholders’ level of concern towards each topic, the SEPD and the
General Manager's Office will work together to distribute an ESG
Assessment Form to major stakeholders for them to rank the importance
of relevant topics. Subsequently, we will create a materiality matrix
based on the summarized survey results to prioritize the topics. With
reference to topics deemed material by industry peers, we seek to better
understand our business performance and prospects through discussions
with the Management. We will then classify ESG topics based on their
materiality and submit the matrix chart to the Board for review. With the
materiality assessment, we expect to develop a long-term development
plan that incorporates the suggestions of our stakeholders, so that we can
establish a long-term and mutually beneficial business relationship.
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In the matrix chart, the X and Y axes represent the materiality of ESG
topics to the Group's business (Internal Assessment Score) and
stakeholders (External Assessment Score), respectively. Topics with the
highest materiality are shown in the top-right corner of the matrix chart.
Conversely, topics with lower materiality are shown in the bottom-left
corner of the chart. In this Report, key topics will be disclosed in detail
in accordance with the “materiality” principle stipulated under the ESG
Reporting Guide of the HKEX.

The important issues this year include: compliance operations
(including environment, operation and employment) and operational
risk management, air pollutant emissions and management, hazardous
chemicals management, contingency mechanism in plants and product
and service quality.
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The Group's production, factory operation and sales are located in the
PRC and therefore governed by the following laws and regulations:

B

Laws and Regulations
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Environmental

B

Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Environmental Protection

Law of the People’s Republic of China

on the Prevention and Control of Water
Pollution

Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric
Pollution

Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Solid Waste
Pollution

Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Soil Pollution
Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Noise Pollution Prevention and Control
Fire Prevention Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Clean Production Promotion Law of the
People's Republic of China

Water Law of the People’s Republic of
China

Energy Conservation Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Circular Economy Promotion Law of the
People’s Republic of China

Electric Power Law of the People’s Republic
of China

Renewable Energy Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Measurement Law of the People’s Republic
of China

Statistics Law of the People’s Republic of
China

The “14th Five-Year Plan” for Greenhouse
Gas Emission Control

The Second Revision of Decision of the
State Council on Amending the Regulations
on the Administration of Ozone-depleting
Substances

Interpretation of the Supreme People’s
Court and the Supreme People’s
Procuratorate on Several Issues Regarding
the Application of Laws in Handling
Criminal Cases of Environmental Pollution
(Fa shi [2023] No. 7)

31

« (PEARKMBERBEREE)

« (REARKTBIKSRERE)

« (REARKMBEARSRIE)

« (PEARKNEEREYSARE

Boa%)

« (REARKMBE LR ZRDE)
c (PEARKMBERS SRR
« (REARKFMEDEDIE)
 (PEARKNMBEBREEREER)
« (REARKMBEINE)

c (PEARKMBEEHDRE)

« (PEARAFNBERLBRESE)
c (PEARKMEENZE)

c (PEARAMBEAIBAERRE)
c (PEARKMEEZX)

< (PEARKMELSHE)

« (TR IEEERBHRE TR &)

- KEBEANMERCERRAENE

ETRRD) HIRTE ISE —IRIERT

c AmBARER &S ARBRERBER

MBRF SAMNERTBRERE
TR AR RE OE#E[2023]75%) )



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - tERERKRE

Laws and Regulations
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Safety Specifications of Special Work in
Hazardous Chemicals Enterprises
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Environmental Noise Emission Standard for « ( TE M EMRAIRBRBEIRIZAE)

Industrial Enterprises and Factories
Emission Standards for Volatile Organic
Compounds in the Chemical Industry
Emission Standards for Pollutants from the
Petrochemical Industry

Integrated emission standard of air
pollutants

Emission Standards of Air Pollutants for
Thermal Power Plants

Emission standard of pollutants for caustic
alkali and polyvinyl chloride industry
Emission standard of pollutants for
synthetic resin industry

Standard for pollution control on hazardous
waste incineration

Emission Standards for Volatile Organic
Compounds Part II: Organic Chemical
Industry

Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China

Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Civil Code of the People’s Republic of
China

Trade Union Law of the People’s Republic
of China

Civil Procedure Law of the People's
Republic of China

Anti-monopoly Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic
of China

Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases

Regulations on Safety Production Permits
Social Insurance Law of the People's
Republic of China

Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of
China

Regulations on the Safety Management of
Hazardous Chemicals

Emergency Response Law of the People’s
Republic of China
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Laws and Regulations

EEER

Annual Report 2024 F#

Child and forced & T fn5& |
labor 2T

Product quality EREEFE
and Reasonable  IB 4§ & ERHEfE
sales and

promotion

Anti-corruption  REJS

The Group's norms are significantly affected by the above major laws
and regulations. There is no incident of non-compliance which shall be ~ HIFZ&
reported in 2024, and the Group affirms the compliance with such laws

and regulations.

Special Equipment Safety Law of the
People's Republic of China

Administrative Measures for the Withdrawal
and Use of Enterprise Safety Production
Expenses

Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child
Labor

Labor Law of the People's Republic of
China

Standardization Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Company Law of the People's Republic of
China

Food Safety Law of the People's Republic
of China

Regulations of the People’s Republic of
China on the Administration of Production
License for Industrial Products

Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China

Product Quality Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Price Law of the People’s Republic of
China

Accounting Law of the People’s Republic of
China

Audit Law of the People’s Republic of
China

Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Tax Collection and Administration Law of
the People’s Republic of China

Anti-unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Notice of the Supreme People’s Court and
the Supreme People’s Procuratorate on
Issuing the Opinions on Issues Concerning
the Application of Law in the Handling of
Criminal Cases of Commercial Briberies
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GREEN DEVELOPMENT

The Group is committed to environmental protection and has adopted
various measures and monitoring methods to fulfil its environmental
protection obligations. SEPD has been setup, with dedicated management
personnel for handling issues in relation to safety and environmental
protection. They continuously monitor relevant environmental laws and
regulations and keep themselves abreast of relevant updates, ensuring
that various departments of the Company perform according to the
requirements of the government on environmental protection and
eliminate any behaviour which is in violation of environmental laws and
regulations. We also actively carry out external management system
certification and audit to ensure that the Company’s environmental
management system meets the standards. During the year, the Group
did not find any breach of laws and regulations related to environmental
protection.

We pooled the wisdom and efforts of everyone to establish a green
factory characterized by its economical and intensive use of land,
harmless raw materials, clean production, recycling of wastes and
low-carbonation of energy sources. In the hope of minimizing the
environmental impact of the whole production process, we are
committed to applying green development to optimize the industrial
structure, properly reduce pollution and emissions, and increase resource
utilization in daily production.

Jiangsu Chemical has passed the audit for the first-level safety production
standardization (chemical industry) and has been consistently rated as
an outstanding enterprise in environmental protection and full-process
standardized management by the Changshu Ecological Environment
Bureau of Suzhou. Jiangsu Chemical has also passed the GB/T36132
Green Factory Evaluation and has been recognized as a leader in energy
efficiency in Jiangsu Province. In 2024, Jiangsu Chemical successfully
passed the mandatory clean production audit, achieving an advanced
domestic standard in clean production. The company remains committed
to green development through environmental technology innovation,
maintaining a “green and trustworthy” environmental credit status for
four consecutive years. It was awarded the title of 2024 Outstanding
Green Development Enterprise” by the Changshu Municipal Government.
Zhuhai Chemical has also passed the mandatory clean production audit,
improving resource utilization efficiency while reducing or avoiding the
generation and emission of pollutants during production, services, and
product processes, thereby eliminating harm to human health and the
environment.
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Jiangxi Chemical adheres to the principles of high-quality development,
continuous clean production, efficient resource utilization, and
benchmarking against industry leaders. All employees are committed to
the path of green and sustainable development.

The factories under Lee & Man Chemical will continue to actively play
the exemplary role of national-level green factories and take high quality
development and green and environmental protection as the main
line, developing “smart chemical factory” and “green manufacturing”
enterprises to meet the national requirements for carbon reduction and
energy- saving development and contribute to “carbon peaking and
carbon neutrality”.

Air Pollutant Emission and Management

Lee & Man Chemical actively implemented the Action Plan for Air
Pollution Prevention and Control, carried out the work of waste gas
emission reduction, practiced the concept of green and sustainable
development and realized up-to-standard emissions. Some key
performance indicators for 2024 are shown in the table below:
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Name Unit

=L By 2024 2023

Nitrogen oxides emissions®

BACHHR(INO)®
— from power plants Ton 307.2 209.2
—REAEL, WA
— from chemical production Ton 20.8 20.0
—RELITHEE Mg

Sulphur dioxide emissions®

— SRR (S0,)?
— from power plants Ton 133.3 73.2
—REAEL, WA
— from chemical production Ton 0.9 0.8
—REtITHEE Mg

Particulates emissions®

KRR P4 &
— from power plants, in terms of smoke and dust Ton 51.8 411
—REEEL, - AEEER A
— from chemical production Ton 9.2 16.6
—REtITHEE Mg
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Notes:

@ The increase in NO, emissions (from power plants) is primarily due to the increased
production operations at Jiangxi Chemical, with emission concentrations higher than last
year.

®

The total amount of sulphur dioxide (SO,) emissions is calculated based on: the
average concentration x hourly emission rate x operating time

The increase in SO, emissions (from power plants) is mainly due to the increased
production at Jiangxi Chemical, leading to higher coal consumption.

@ The 2023 data on total particulate matter emissions has been adjusted due to an error

in last year's statistics.

In 2024, neither the Company's self-monitoring nor the government-
commissioned monitoring detected any exceedances, and the air
pollutant emission compliance rate was 100%.

Strictly abiding by the “Montreal Protocol” and the “Vienna Convention
for the Protection of the Ozone Layer”, Jiangsu Chemical and Jiangxi
Chemical installed devices for converting carbon tetrachloride into
chloroform during the production of chloromethane, thus transforming
all ozone-depleting substances into products of the Companies and
effectively achieving zero carbon tetrachloride emission.

Jiangsu Chemical, Jiangxi Chemical and Zhuhai Chemical comprehensively
reviewed the links involving volatile organic compounds (“VOCs") in
the whole production process in accordance with the Comprehensive
Treatment Plan for Volatile Organic Compounds in Key Industries (H.D.Q.
[2019] No. 53), the Standards for Fugitive Emission of Volatile Organic
Compounds (GB37822-2019) and other applicable specifications. The
review process includes the VOCs emission, the VOCs monitoring system
and total quantity estimation, the preparation of the whole-process VOCs
treatment plan (one plan for one factory), production process source
control measures, customized end VOCs treatment technical solutions,
and assessments of treatment effect and emission reduction. Three
factories increased investment in environmental protection and improved
the environmental protection technique, so the total emissions after
reduction were 28,612 kg.
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Zhuhai Chemical strictly complies with the “Environmental Impact
Assessment Law of the People’s Republic of China” and the “Regulations
on the Environmental Protection Management of Construction Projects,”
implementing the “three simultaneous” system (environmental protection
facilities designed, constructed, and put into use simultaneously with the
main facilities). This ensures effective control of pollution emissions. The
company conducts regular self-monitoring of pollutants in accordance
with the “General Guidelines for Self-Monitoring Technology for Polluting
Units” and other requirements, achieving effective monitoring of pollution
sources. Environmental monitoring information is regularly disclosed,
subject to regulatory review and public supervision. Through the
optimization of the distillation tower process, Zhuhai Chemical has further
recycled and reused solvent materials, effectively reducing annual NO,
emissions.

To address fugitive emissions, all VOCs material storage tanks in the
tank area are sealed with nitrogen, and the exhaust gases are collected
through pipelines after the breather valve, treated by adsorption devices,
and discharged only after meeting emission standards. The company has
also installed negative pressure absorption systems in areas involving
VOCs materials and storage tanks, collecting fugitive VOCs emissions
for efficient treatment in incineration devices. Operations such as tank
venting, daily sampling, and opening of tanks and pipelines use negative
pressure to extract exhaust gases, which are treated before release.

The Company conducted the VOCs leak detection and repair (LDAR) in
accordance with the regulatory requirements. The Company detected
and fixed leaks in the airtight production equipment with the help of
LDAR detection devices to control the leakage loss of VOCs and reduce
environmental pollution.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Management

Currently, only Jiangxi Chemical in the Group has a thermal power plant.
We are taking strict measures to manage coal storage and transportation,
with the Group responsible for selecting high-quality coal. In addition, the
plant regularly maintains and services the generators to ensure optimal
operation, fully utilizing coal and improving energy efficiency.

The greenhouse gas emission data from the thermal power station was
collected and calculated in strict accordance with the applicable national
standards and specifications, and the relevant energy data was uploaded
to the provincial energy management system platform.
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Name Unit
£ B 2024 2023

Greenhouse gas — Scope 1

@A o 4= Eel

BEREE—E—

Carbon dioxide equivalent (CO,e) emissions from power plants® k'Ton 2,397.8 2,056.7

KREZEILE) — A L E E(CO,e)HEM® TWA

Emissions directly attributable to chemical production k'Ton 34.1 232

BEBME T AENYER T

Direct emissions from company vehicles® tCO.e 246 N/A

HEBRAREWHEAEENIR® WE — bk AN A
22

Greenhouse gas — Scope 2

AERE-HE_

Emissions indirectly attributable to chemical production® k'Ton 1,713.9 1,741.3

B TEERBER® Fma

Intensity of carbon dioxide emissions from power generators kg/kwh 0.9 1.0

(electricity supply)®

BEHA (HE) O —ALRPERERE® Fr/TRE

Resource utilization

EIREMA

Purchased electricity kwh 7,164,820.0 7,132,860.0

SNIEE TR

Notes: W -

Carbon dioxide equivalent (CO,e) emissions from power plants are calculated according to
the carbon dioxide produced by Jiangxi Chemical from coal and diesel used in power plants.

Greenhouse gas emissions directly attributable to chemical production include carbon dioxide
emissions from the direct use of fuels (including natural gas, diesel, etc.) in the chemical
production process.

Greenhouse gas emissions indirectly attributable to chemical production include carbon
dioxide emissions of the power plant shared by the company due to the use of electricity and
steam supplied by the power plant for chemical production.

@ Calculation basis of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO,e) emissions: (Calorific valuexCO
emission factor value of raw coalxoxidation ratexrelative molecular mass of carbon
dioxide)/carbon molecular mass

® Data on emissions from company vehicles have been recorded since 2024, with no
statistics available for 2023

® The previously disclosed indirect emissions from chemical production in 2023 have
been adjusted to include emissions from purchased electricity

@ Calculation basis of carbon dioxide emission intensity: Power supply coal consumption
(tce)xCO, emission of coal equivalent (t/tce)/(power supply volume (10,000
kwh)x 10,000

Additionally, during the reporting year, we identified applicable Scope 3
greenhouse gas categories and began collecting relevant Scope 3 data
from October 2024. Full-year Scope 3 data will be disclosed next year
when available.

38

REEEEEO —AEIRE 2 (Co,0)H Rt TIIELT
B BB AN S T AR — Rk o

BEERBMCTEENRERBHNE L TAERIZER
AR (BIERAR - S0h%) RELEN AL -

MEBEMETEEMREREHRESCIEECHET
PR B TR BB B AT - AR
SMEE -

©  CZE(hE R (CO) MBI B EEE « (BMEEX
[RIECO, HEMESEX A Rx — RLHITE D TR
),/ HnFad

© HEERBRAFEHEMELTHIIENZN20245
FIsRAET - 2023 KRB AT

©  EF2023FWENEEBEME TEENBREAL -
RILINBERERPREN L - FbBFrFHE

@ —A PR ERT EIKE  HEZEEERES
(tee)x BRI CO, HERLE (t/tce), /(L E & (Bkwh)
%10,000)

o - EREFER - HMIEFHHERR
ERE-SE /R - WE2024F10H 8
M EERSEE =B - TREFEER
AT - BB F R REE =& -



Waste and Hazardous Substances Management

The company strictly complies with the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Waste” and the “Technical Specifications for the Collection, Storage, and
Transportation of Hazardous Waste”. We have established a “Solid Waste
Control Process” and adhere to the principles of resource utilization,
waste reduction, and safe disposal, along with comprehensive and
classified waste management. To minimize solid waste generation and
mitigate environmental impact, we adopt clean production processes
and technologies that align with sustainability standards. Our approach
emphasizes waste reduction at the source, localized disposal to reduce
and prevent pollution, and enhanced resource utilization. By fully
utilizing and safely disposing of solid waste, we strive to achieve waste
minimization, resource efficiency, and environmentally safe treatment.

Jiangsu Chemical conducts the safe incineration of carbon tetrachloride
residues and organic exhaust gases, ensuring that final emissions comply
with GB18484-2020 and DB32/3151-2016 standards. According to the
commissioned test report (Report No. KDHJ244813-1), during normal
operation, major emissions such as nitrogen oxides, hydrogen chloride,
smoke dust, carbon monoxide, and non-methane total hydrocarbons
meet emission standards. The plant also implements 24-hour online
monitoring and full-process control, with real-time emission data
transmitted to the Changshu Ecological Environment Bureau website, the
Jiangsu Province Self-Monitoring Platform for Polluting Units, and the Key
Polluting Units Automatic Monitoring and Basic Database System.

Jiangxi Chemical has reduced sea salt consumption through technological
upgrades, adopting ceramic membrane technology to minimize the
generation of salt mud solid waste. The plant also uses a self-built
hazardous waste incinerator to treat fluorochemical residues and
high-boiling residues generated during production. The treated flue
gas emissions comply with national standards, and real-time online
monitoring is implemented for the flue gas emissions. The emission data
is promptly transmitted to the Jiangxi Province Pollution Source System
and the Key Polluting Units Automatic Monitoring Platform. In 2024,
Jiangxi Chemical was awarded the honorary title of “Zero Waste Factory”
in Jiujiang City's “Zero Waste City” and “Zero Waste Cell" construction.
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To strengthen the prevention and control of environmental pollution from
industrial solid waste and hazardous waste, the plant is committed to
managing the full lifecycle of industrial solid waste, covering generation,
collection, storage, transportation, utilization, and disposal, to minimize
environmental pollution. All new, renovated, or expanded projects
generating solid waste must conduct environmental impact assessments
and environmental protection completion acceptance for solid waste
storage, utilization, and disposal facilities in accordance with national
regulations, and inform the public.

BRI A hNoR T X ElRERE Y M e R B M B IR IR
ERRTIE BMAOERIXEREDNE
EwBH O REEL  WE IF - EE
A REZBRE  UKKX(CREHRERN
AR TEELBEREMNHE NE &
2IHA - OFRBEREAEERERRRR
EEENSRTE  HERDE MNA RE
EiaREARRRTEFEMRFE L TR
Yo WREHEAR -

Name Unit

L Efy 2024 2023
Production volume of hazardous waste® Ton 7,004.2 5,044.3
BEEERYEE® WA

Emission intensity Kg/Ton 4.6 33
e E Fr M

Production volume of general waste® Ton 317,204.2 263,724.8
—REEMEE® 7

Emission intensity Kg/Ton 210.4 173.8
BEREE Fr M

Notes: BT -

The emission intensity is calculated based on: the emission amount/the annual production
volume of the Company's major products (Note: The production volume of major products
refers to the annual production volume (in tons) of chloromethane, caustic soda, hydrogen
peroxide, polytetrafluoroethylene and fluorinated industrial products).

® Increase in hazardous waste production: Mainly due to increased production of
methane chloride and hexafluoropropylene, resulting in higher volumes of high-boiling
residues and fluorinated residues.

© Increase in general waste production: Mainly due to increased production and coal
consumption, leading to higher volumes of general solid waste.

Zhuhai Chemical utilizes a self-built hazardous waste incinerator to
treat liquid hazardous waste. The company's distillation residues are
incinerated at high temperatures, effectively reducing the amount of
hazardous waste transferred for disposal and minimizing environmental
pollution. The plant recycles and treats some waste liquids during
production, reducing waste volume. For potassium salts generated from
fluorination reactions, an optimized process is used to remove impurities.
The plant is equipped with a sludge drying device, reducing the amount
of sludge solid waste for disposal.

Office waste produced in the Company primarily consists of wastepaper
from the administrative office. Employees are encouraged to adopt
reasonable printing practices such as double-sided printing, and are
required to separate paper from other waste for recycling. To create a
paperless office, documents are distributed to employees via email and
DingTalk, which efficiently reduces the use of printing paper.
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Packaging materials used for the Group's products include CMS
packaging buckets, hydrogen peroxide buckets, bags for liquid sizing
agent etc., which will count towards tare weight. The two factories in the
PRC emphasize and encourage their employees to reduce waste during
the production and packaging process. Recycling practices are imposed
to avoid wastage of resources.

Name Unit

=L B 2024 2023
Total amount of packaging material used for finished goods Ton 2,525.8 2,782.5
amABEMEEE Mg

Annual packaging consumption per production unit® Kg/Ton 3.0 34
BFEESUGEY T, M

Note: Mzt -

©®  Annual packaging consumption per production unit, calculate the net weight of ~ © BELEBRIGE  FAEREZFEREMNFE

packaging material in the year/production of finished products that need to be
packaged in the year.

Promotion of Circular Economy

The Group deeply recognizes the importance of a circular economy for
the sustainable development of the chemical industry. Therefore, we
actively promote production innovation and conservation, striving to
reduce resource waste, minimize environmental impact, and achieve a
win-win situation for the economy, environment, and society.

Through the collaborative efforts of the three plants in advancing the
“resource-energy-waste” closed-loop management, a full-process
recycling system has been established. The ecological and economic
benefits achieved in 2024 include:

1. Jiangsu Chemical
—  Built a packaging barrel recycling network, achieving a 10%

reduction in solid waste annually with a loss rate of only 1%;

—  Applied RO membrane reuse technology to purify and recycle
strong drainage water, saving approximately 60,000 tons of
tap water;

— 100% reuse of steam condensate in the process system,

with comprehensive utilization of waste heat, recovering over
120,000 tons of steam annually.
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2.

Jiangxi Chemical

Established a multi-level reuse system for steam condensate,
simultaneously recovering waste heat for energy savings;

Innovated wastewater regeneration and reuse processes,
achieving partial recycling of production wastewater, replacing
fresh water, and saving approximately 50,000 tons of water
annually. Details can be found in the “Water Resources and
Wastewater Management” section.

Zhuhai Chemical

Achieved organic solvent recycling during the production
process, generating no organic waste liquid. Industrial
wastewater is treated by self-built treatment systems and
discharged up to standard;

Adopted steam waste heat cascade technology, fully utilizing
condensate waste heat, recovering 3,000 tons of steam
annually;

Reused steam condensate as makeup water for the circulating
water system, saving approximately 15,000 tons of water
annually.

Additionally, Jiangsu Chemical and Jiangxi Chemical jointly
developed a CTC tail hydrogen recycling chain, achieving high-
value utilization of by-product hydrogen resources, which can
replace pure hydrogen as fuel, saving 16.4 million Nm3 of pure
hydrogen annually and reducing carbon emissions from hydrogen
production. Through systematic energy-saving technological
upgrades and resource recycling, the Group has established a green
manufacturing practice model covering solid waste reduction, water
resource reuse, waste heat recovery, and clean energy, making it
more environmentally friendly.
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Water Resources and Wastewater Management

Jiangsu Chemical has continuously promoted water-saving technological
upgrades and optimized water management, with water consumption
per unit product surpassing the leading indicators in Jiangsu Province's
industrial water quota. In 2024, it was awarded the title of “Suzhou Water
Efficiency Leader.”

At Jiangsu Chemical and Jiangxi Chemical, we have formulated a
stringent management system as well as assessment indicators for water
consumption and water conservation. Per-unit water consumption of
our products is assessed daily. We continue to explore aspects where
water consumption can be potentially reduced, and have adopted
numerous water-saving measures. We also have made continuous efforts
to increase the recycling efficiency of our wastewater. By reusing the
inorganic wastewater produced by our caustic soda workshop and our
pure water extraction columns in the salt treatment process, we have
significantly reduced the amount of wastewater discharged. According to
the balanced water tests that we regularly conduct on the whole factory.

The operation of the water reuse equipment at Jiangsu Chemical
remains stable. By purifying recirculated water and forced flow water, the
equipment enabled us to collect 58,000 tons of purified water in 2024,
achieving “zero” discharge of recirculated water.

The water-saving measures implemented by Jiangxi Chemical include:
salty wastewater and chilled water from pumps produced by the caustic
soda workshop, the pure water extraction columns, and during the
regeneration of resins, are reused in salt production, to reduce the
discharge of wastewater, and achieve “zero” discharge of wastewater
from the caustic soda workshop. The cleaning water from the
polymerization workshop is also reused for refilling recirculated water, to
reduce sewage discharge; while the purified water from the recirculated
water station is reused for the desulphurisation process at power plants,
to reduce the water consumption and discharge of wastewater incurred
by such process.

Strictly abiding by the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Water Pollution, the Company enacted the
Wastewater Control Protocol to continuously increase the proportion
of sewage reuse and reduce the consumption of new water. Besides,
as a key pollutant-discharging enterprise, the Company installed online
monitoring instruments at the sewage outlet, which was connected with
the local environmental protection department through the online system
to monitor the indicators of pollutants such as chemical oxygen demand
(COD), ammonia nitrogen, pH and flow rate of the treated wastewater in
a timely manner, to ensure that the discharge meets the standards.
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Flash evaporators for wastewater are built in the chloromethane
workshops of Jiangsu Chemical and Jiangxi Chemical. Making use of the
relatively lower boiling points of organic compounds (namely methylene
chloride, chloroform and carbon tetrachloride) as compared to that of
water, we are able to filter out and recycle organic compounds from
wastewater by means of evaporation. Hence, in addition to enjoying
increased economic benefits, we can also ensure that the discharge of
organic compounds arising from wastewater is up to standard. Triple-
effect evaporators were also built at the sewage treatment stations in
both factories to comprehensively recycle and reuse wastewater coming
from the hydrogen peroxide workshops. Floodgates are installed in our
rainwater system to prevent wastewater from flowing out of the factory
and affecting the nearby ecology in cases of emergency.

Each stand-alone building of Zhuhai Chemical is provided with an
independent sewage collection pool and has an independent treatment
device, which preliminarily treats industrial sewage and domestic
wastewater to reduce some important pollution factors such as fluorides
and COD to below the indicators set by the water treatment company
cooperating with us in sewage before discharge to the designated site. In
2024, discharge was reduced effectively by improving the process and
reducing the use of sewage treatment agents. In the aspect of production
process, by using dry vacuum pumps and centrifuges, the overhaul
wastewater in the production process was reduced. The factory rainwater
drainage systems all adopt reinforced concrete structures to cope with
the cracking and leakage caused by ground subsidence in the area. A
rainwater monitoring pool is arranged in front of rainwater discharge
outlet to collect and detect initial rainwater.
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Name Unit

=% B 2024 2023
Water discharge m3 308,886.0 333,106.0
KB E LK

Discharge intensity™ m3/ton 0.205 0.220
PEEEY KA
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Note:

o Water discharge intensity is calculated based on: the total discharge amount/the annual
production volume of the Company's major products (Note: The production volume
of major products refers to the annual production volume (in tons) of chloromethane,
caustic soda, hydrogen peroxide, polytetrafluoroethylene and fluorinated industrial
products)

The Group can get suitable water supply without any difficulties. In the
current year, all waste gas and sewage were discharged in accordance
with the provisions of government departments and laws and regulations
to ensure their compliance. The equipment and facilities operated
normally, meeting the requirements for up-to-standard emission.

Energy Management and Renewable Energy Investment

With regard to energy consumption in production and manufacturing,
we adhere to high standards of regulated energy-saving management,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Conserving Energy and the
Circular Economy Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China. We
have formulated the Energy Management Program and the Resource
Management Program, established an energy management system,
and implemented standardized and systematic energy supervision and
management to support the promotion of energy conservation and
efficiency improvement. In addition, we have set the annual targets for
energy conservation and regularly reviewed the achievement of targets.
Clean production has been vigorously promoted through management
proposals and technological innovations to comprehensively improve the
efficiency of energy and resource use.

All factories in the PRC assessed the per-unit energy consumption of their
products regularly, and revised the assessment indicators at the beginning
of each year. In 2024, the per-unit energy consumption values of all
products met the relevant standards. The Energy Metrology Office of the
technology department is responsible for standardizing and supervising
the Company's energy consumption levels, metering work, audit reports
and assessments. The Office conducts investigations and provides
feedback, wherever unusual energy consumption patterns are identified.
It also conducts monthly evaluations on the energy consumption levels
of workshops. The control room is responsible for coordinating and
balancing the energy consumption levels of each production workshop,
while the workshop themselves are responsible for their energy-saving
management work, to increase energy efficiency.

In 2024, the unit energy consumption of methane chlorides, a
major product of Jiangsu Chemical, was 175 kgce/t, the unit energy
consumption of methane chlorides, a major product of Jiangxi Chemical
was 176 kgce/t (the national average value was 255 kgce/t), the unit
energy consumption of caustic soda product of Jiangsu Chemical was
306 kgce/t, and the unit energy consumption of caustic soda product
of Jiangxi Chemical was 297 kgce/t (the national average value was
325 kgce/t), all better than the industry standards.
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In 2024, Jiangsu Chemical's trichloromethane product received the
Product Carbon Footprint Certificate issued by the China Quality
Certification Center (CQC), marking the company's first such certificate.
This signifies a solid step forward in the quantification and management
of greenhouse gas emissions. Conducting carbon footprint verification will
further enhance the low-carbon competitiveness and trade advantages of
the company’s products.

Jiangxi Chemical has taken further steps to reduce electricity usage and
carbon dioxide emissions, supporting the company's goals of achieving
“carbon peaking” and “carbon neutrality”. The plant has installed a 3.5MW
PV power generation system on the roofs of the coal shed, warehouse,
and control room, generating 1.69 million kWh in 2024 and reducing
carbon dioxide emissions by approximately 1,300 tons. The plant has
saved over 10,000 tons of standard coal, forming a dual-carbon reduction
model of “green electricity-driven + process energy-saving.” Jiangsu
Chemical has installed 37.62kW PV modules from Canadian Solar on the
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office building roof, generating 45,000 kWh annually.

Some key indicators for 2024 are shown in the table below:

HA024FEM—LEEEERTE

Name Unit

=L B 2024 2023

Total coal consumption T 24,844.5 21,137.2

BOEERE JKIKEE

Coal consumption intensity® TJ/ton 0.026 0.022

FHRmEe JEIKEEE MR

Coal consumption (for electricity supply) T 15,293.5 13,498.2

BEFEE (ARHE JKIKEE

Total coal consumption amount attributable to chemical production T 12,473.0 12,160.5

BME TR EREEE JKIKEE

Total coal consumption amount attributable to chemical production T 9,952.3 9,666.6
(for electricity supply)

BrME T BFE=E (RARHEE) JKIKEE

Fuel consumption (for fire ignition in electrical boilers and power T 8.8 10.7
generation in diesel engines)

POREFEE (AN A E ISR N B AOM I E) JKIKEE

Note: Htst -

© Coal consumption intensity is calculated based on: the total consumption amount/
the annual production volume of the Company’s major products (Note: The
production volume of major products refers to the annual production volume (in
tons) of chloromethane, caustic soda, hydrogen peroxide, polytetrafluoroethylene and
fluorinated industrial products)
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In addition, residual heat dissipated from certain production facilities at
our factories is recycled and reused to optimize our production efficiency,
so as to save energy and ultimately reduce emissions per unit output.
The heating system of our industrial park makes use of the residual
heat generated from the power station of Jiangxi Chemical. This helps
to optimize our energy structure and improve our energy utilization rate.
Boilers powered by residual heat or heat exchangers for recycling steam
or hot water are installed in places with high-temperature reactive gas
(e.g. chlorinated reactive gas from our chlorinated methane device)
and burning tail gas (e.g. high -temperature pyrolysis gas from our
tetrafluoroethylene unit, incinerator tail gas, tail gas from our anhydrous
hydrogen fluoride device and hot blast stove), so as to increase our
energy efficiency and reduce the need for steam procurement. Heat
generated from our hydrogen peroxide products is also collected and
reused in the extraction columns for extracting pure water, hence
reducing steam consumption.

In terms of energy efficiency management, the production and
technology departments of the factories prepared the Energy
Management Manual, which was signed and issued by the General
Manager and implemented by the factories. Every year, the factories set
aside a specific fund for the modification of energy-saving technologies.
Specific measures of energy efficiency management include: formulating
indicators used in performance reviews, opting for efficient equipment,
upgrading and modifying existing equipment that are low in efficiency,
clarifying responsibilities in relation to energy-saving management, and
soliciting employees' suggestions on energy conservation via reasonable
channels.

In promoting a green production environment, the Group has further
explored the potential for energy saving, consumption reduction,
pollution reduction, and efficiency improvement. The Group actively
promotes the use of renewable energy, utilizing solar energy, production
waste heat, hydrogen energy, and other renewable resources to achieve
energy conservation and emission reduction. At the same time, we
encourage waste reduction, recycling of residual energy, and replacing
high-energy-consuming methods. The plant retains and constructs green
belts, allowing human activities to coexist and interact with the natural
environment, with the mission of protecting the blue sky, clear water, and
clean land. With the joint efforts of all employees, the Group continues to
explore new emission reduction pathways, deeply engaging in solid waste
comprehensive utilization, water resource recycling, VOCs treatment, and
other work, driving the company's environmental protection efforts to a
higher level.
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Case study - Plant achievements in energy efficiency:

 Integrated process waste heat from caustic soda and
methane chloride to build a cross-unit heat supply system,
recovering approximately 170,000 tons of steam annually
across the three plants.

« Recovered and recycled hydrogen from the hydrogen
purification unit in the caustic soda workshop.

+ Recovered and recycled tail hydrogen from the CTC
conversion unit in the methane chloride workshop.

+ Replaced electric fans with water turbines in the circulating
water station, saving electricity.

+ Conducted energy-saving motor upgrades, saving energy.

« Recovered heat from caustic soda and hydrogen peroxide
products, saving energy.

Biodiversity

Noise from our large compressors is inevitable during the chemical
production process and may impact the environment and surrounding
areas. Therefore, we have in place a noise management design, where
we set up green noise barriers around noise sources and our factories,
and install sound absorption materials indoors, as well as having
soundproof doors and windows. We opt for sound-friendly equipment
and seek to reduce noise at its sources, with anti-vibration pads and
other noise-reducing furniture. Employees exposed to noise are provided
with noise-cancelling earplugs and ear protectors. All personnel in the
workplace are also required to wear disposable earplugs supplied by the
Company. Moreover, to minimize workers' continuous exposure to loud
noise, we organize their job duties in alternating shifts in accordance with
the inspection schedule, to safeguard their physical and mental health.
Monthly acoustic noise

testing is conducted

by the SEPDs of the

factories, and results

are displayed on-

site, to ensure that

our factories comply

with the requirements

stipulated under the

Environmental Noise

Emission Standard for

Industrial Enterprises

and Factories.
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The Group attaches great importance to and has taken effective
measures to control the discharge of exhaust gas and sewage water,
in order to preserve biodiversity. With advanced green production
technology, we continue to reduce the emission of pollutants. We also
carried out an in-depth removal of VOC in the factory in 2024, ensuring
that organized exhaust emissions met regulatory standards while strictly
monitoring the entire production cycle to prevent potential ecological
damage Additionally, the Company promotes resource efficiency through
recycling, preventing unnecessary waste. Meanwhile, by establishing an
energy management system and adopting the ISO14001 environmental
management system, the Company incorporated environmental
protection and energy-saving practices into our daily production,
operation, and management, in advocacy of a green office and
production environment.

Moreover, the Group actively participate in public welfare undertakings
for environmental protection related to biodiversity protection, and carried
out diversified environment publicity campaigns on “June 5 Environment
Day” and other environment-themed days, for example, engaging
employees from all factories and departments in public benefit activities
for environmental protection, setting an example in sustainability efforts.

In 2024, the Company did not have any major event of litigation or
punishment resulting from environmental violations.

Environment and Natural Resources

Each plant under the group sets annual environmental protection goals,
with workshops breaking down departmental targets based on the
company’s annual environmental protection goals, including energy
conservation, emission reduction, material consumption reduction,
and minimizing significant impacts on natural resources. The Safety
and Environmental Protection Department inspects and supervises the
progress of each department’s environmental protection goals monthly,
conducting assessments. Each plant holds quarterly summary meetings,
continuously proposing improvement suggestions to ensure that the
plant's environmental affairs meet or exceed requirements.
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Lee & Man Chemical set up targets in relation to emissions, waste
reduction, energy efficiency and water efficiency. Detalils are set out in the

BT ORI AT RN - HERE
BURGEMMAKREM ST HA L BR - 18

following table: RNER
Details Goal Progress Relevant companies
BEEE EF: EERR BBLE
Emission targets Fully achieving the goal of having “zero”  Longterm  The waste has been treated Jiangsu Chemical, Jiangxi
HRERR carbon tetrachloride emission. Air harmlessly, and the air Chemical and Zhuhai
pollutant emissions are up to standard. pollutants have been tested Chemical
and are up to standard
TR BERNEHI T IH - =31 BEREE(EE KR)5 IACI IR EIA
iR ER wEtT
Air pollutant emissions (organized and Longterm  Achieved Jiangsu Chemical, Jiangxi
fugitive): 100% compliance rate. Chemical and Zhuhai
Chemical
RRBFAD(BEB K EAB)HHER RE E1T AR ¥ o M A N3 | S
%100% ° R T
Leakage rate of static and dynamic seals:  Longterm  Achieved Jiangsu Chemical and
<0.2%. Jiangxi Chemical
ERBFEHEHRRE0.2% ° =3 ER TEE TANTAT
Stable operation of incineration devices.  Longterm  Achieved Jiangsu Chemical and
Jiangxi Chemical
RECRETREEE - =31 E1T T TANIA(LT
Waste reduction targets The raffinate of carbon tetrachloride is Longterm  Achieved Jiangsu Chemical and
FEERR delivered to the incinerator for harmless Jiangxi Chemical
treatment.
ME AR A E N EEETESE KB BRI TR T TANIA(LT
BRI o
100% compliance handling rate of solid ~ Shortterm  Achieved Jiangsu Chemical and
(liquid) waste Jiangxi Chemical
(R)EBEMAEREEET100% ° 2 ER TEE TATAT
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Details Goal Progress Relevant companies
Gl B EEER EBLE
Energy efficiency The energy consumption levels of our Longterm  Achieved Jiangsu Chemical and
targets major products are better than the Jiangxi Chemical
RREMMEER  national average.
TEEMNERENEZETHE - R E1T TEC AL T
Annual coal savings in 2024: over Shortterm  Achieved Jiangsu Chemical and
5,000 tce. Jiangxi Chemical
202445 EEN BRI HB1B5000tce ° 2 #R TEMETAIAET
Q4 steam recovery (using waste heat Short term  Achieved Zhuhai Chemical
Cascade technology): 2430 tons.
FMNEEEWFTIREFHMEABR 28 E1T wEtT
IR 1T )24300
Water efficiency targets Wastewater and rainwater pollutant Longterm  Achieved Jiangsu Chemical and
FK#Es B IR emissions: 100% compliance rate. Jiangxi Chemical
K KOS RBERGERE100% R EA je2 2 T TANIA(L T
Zero discharge of clean water. Longterm  Achieved Jiangsu Chemical
B TIKTHER © =31 je2 2 TEMET
Wastewater reduction. Longterm  Achieved Jiangsu Chemical
BEAHEL ° R E1T TEME T
2024 Water Saving Target for Longterm  Achieved Jiangsu Chemical and
Jiangsu Chemical: 87,000 m?. Jiangxi Chemical
2024F ZEIKE1R8.78m’ =3t E1T TEC AL T
Q4 steam condensate recovery Shortterm  Achieved Zhuhai Chemical
(as makeup water for circulating
water system), water saving >6,000 tons.
FONEEFRVIKEUANBUERRER 28 E1T wEtT

IKEFREIK) + &I7K>6000M °
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Environmental Accident Prevention and Handling

As the national environmental management requirements and pollution
control efforts continue to tighten, the Group remains highly committed
to ecological civilization and environmental protection while strictly
adhering to environmental laws and regulations. The Company has
formulated relevant policies such as Environmental Factor Identification
and Evaluation Control Procedure, Wastewater Control Procedure, Waste
Gas Control Procedure, Water and Gas Hidden Danger Identification
and Management System, strictly implemented the identification
and management of environmental risk sources of enterprises, and
implemented measures to prevent and control air, surface water,
groundwater and soil pollution. In addition, the Group has also developed
emergency response plans for sudden environmental pollution incidents,
equipped necessary emergency response materials and carried out
emergency disposal drills to simulate environmental accidents. In
case of an environmental accident, we will actively assist government
departments to carry out investigations, identify the cause and process
of the accident and disclose the results of the accident treatment. We
will also submit an independent incident investigation report afterwards,
analyze the accident in detail and implement preventive and corrective
measures to prevent the recurrence of environmental accidents and
reduce their impact on natural resources.

Jiangsu Chemical operates an integrated environmental management
platform, allowing company leaders and environmental managers to
monitor real-time online monitoring data. Abnormal data triggers quick
responses and follow-up actions. The company also conducts manual
monitoring of exhaust gas, wastewater, and rainwater discharge outlets
periodically (monthly, quarterly, annually) as required by pollution
discharge permit management. In 2024, Jiangsu Chemical revised
its environmental accident emergency plan, adding prevention and
treatment measures for lithium battery chemical project environmental
accidents, which passed expert review and was filed with the Ecological
Environment Bureau.

In July 2024, Jiangsu Chemical, the Changshu Ecological Environment
Bureau of Suzhou, and the Changshu Economic and Technological
Development Zone Management Committee conducted a joint drill
for the "Three-Level Prevention and Control of Sudden Water Pollution
Incidents.” The entire drill process was highly recognized by the Suzhou
Ecological Environment Bureau, and the drill plan and summary were
included in the Suzhou Emergency Drill Database for promotion.
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Jiangxi Chemical revised its emergency plan for sudden environmental
incidents as required, passed expert review, and filed it with the
ecological environment department in May 2024. In accordance with
the "Measures for the Disclosure of Environmental Information by
Enterprises and Institutions,” the “Measures for Self-Monitoring and
Information Disclosure by Key State-Controlled Enterprises (Trial)," and
the “Technical Guidelines for Self-Monitoring by Polluting Units,” the
company formulated a self-monitoring plan and is now conducting
timely monitoring as per the plan. The plant has a 6,400 m3 emergency
accident pool and related emergency material reserves. The company has
also established comprehensive environmental protection systems and
emergency plans, regularly conducting potential environmental hazard
identification and providing relevant training to employees. Regular drills
are held to respond to sudden environmental incidents.

Zhuhai Chemical has implemented self-monitoring, including both
online and manual methods, to monitor the entire plant's waste gas
and wastewater emissions. They have also built a standard solid waste
storage facility, with video surveillance installed at the generation, storage,
and disposal stages of solid waste to properly manage all pollutants. The
plant has a 1,824 m3 emergency accident pool and related emergency
material reserves.
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Response to climate change

In addressing the impacts of climate change, the plant has conducted
risk assessments and control plans for extreme weather conditions,
referencing historical extreme weather events in the region,
meteorological prediction models, and environmental impact assessment
reports. The analysis considers transition risks, including regulations,
markets, supply chains, energy policies, and product services, estimating
the financial impact of potential events, affected parties in the company's
value chain, and duration. Below are the risks and measures taken for
each risk category:
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Risk Impacts
e Z

Response to Climate Risks

FES 1R

Measures

REVE e

High temperatures in summer and

low temperatures in winter may cause
abnormalities in equipment, pipelines, etc.,
potentially leading to damage to production
facilities, indirectly affecting company
capacity, and possibly triggering secondary
disasters.

EFSRAR ZFEERREGHR

Chronic Risks — High and Low-
Temperature Weather
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The increased frequency of extreme
weather events such as heavy rainfall,
flooding, and typhoons may result in
operational disruptions, even causing
damage to production facilities, leading to
a decrease in factory capacity; this could
also trigger secondary disasters, causing
safety risks to personnel and environmental
pollution.
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Acute Risks — Extreme Weather

Events
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Implement staggered delivery schedules
during high temperatures, spray cooling

for storage tank areas, and strengthen anti-
freezing measures in workshops during
extreme cold, using thermoelectric and
steam tracing, and increasing monitoring
and inspection frequency for critical
equipment.
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The company has established a “Safety
Warning Management System,” with
relevant departments monitoring weather
forecasts, regularly conducting disaster
preparedness drills, and preparing disaster
prevention and mitigation materials.
RAHIE T(REBEEEHIE) - B
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Response to Climate Risks
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Risk Impacts
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Measures

REUE e

Chronic Risks — Chronic Natural
Disasters
EliER - 1eEaANE

Policy Risks — Carbon Emission
Requirements

B R — BrBEmER

Changes in rainfall and extreme weather
fluctuations could extend infrastructure
construction periods and damage
installations; insurance costs for equipment
and personnel may increase.
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Rising or falling average temperatures could
lead to higher production operating costs,
such as increased demand for cooling water
for equipment and heating and cooling
needs for office spaces.
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The government has set carbon peaking
and carbon neutrality targets, and regulatory
authorities are expected to implement
stricter climate action and greenhouse gas
emission reduction measures, potentially
increasing the company’s compliance costs
for carbon emissions.
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Identify regional climate vulnerabilities,
optimize energy-saving and environmental
protection facilities, improve energy and
water efficiency, and provide climate
change-related training for senior
management to stay updated on regulatory
trends.
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Promote the “"Green and Clean” strategy by
advancing energy purification, scaling clean
energy, and reducing carbon emissions in
production processes. Actively eliminate
outdated and inefficient equipment, install
PV systems, and create a green industry.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES

The Group has formulated an Employee Handbook that clearly defines
the seven core elements of the corporate spirit of Lee & Man Chemical:
Integrity, Faimess, Positive Attitude, Efficiency, Commitment, Innovation,
Team Spirit. The Group aims to empower employees to fully realize their
potential, drive professional development, and foster personal growth
while promoting the implementation of the corporate culture.

We adhere to the principles of equal opportunities and faimess, and we
make decisions regarding recruitment based primarily on candidates’
abilities, qualifications, and suitability for the role. We are dedicated to
preventing any form of discrimination based on race, gender, age, marital
status, or other personal attributes. The Group complies with international
human rights standards and principles outlined in the United Nations
Convention on the Rights of the Child and the Universal Declaration
of Human Rights, encompassing the prohibition of child labor and the
protection of minors, the elimination of forced labor, health and safety
safeguards, freedom of association, non-discrimination, fair disciplinary
practices, and regulated working hours and wages. Legally concluded
labor contracts are binding, and the Group and its employees fulfill their
obligations under the labor contracts. In 2024, the Group remained in full
compliance with relevant labor laws and regulations, and no incident of
non-compliance was noted.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group employed approximately 1,930
full-time staff members.

Total Workforce by Gender
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The distribution of the workforce by position and academic qualifications is T %I iz Az FEFEH) B 8 L) -

shown below:

Total Workforce by Position
R A B2
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(1,085)

21.55%
(416)

16.37% ‘iig
(316)
5.859% .

(113)
[ Technical Positions [ R&D Positions
syl AL
[ Management Positions [ll Supportive Positions
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Distribution of Workforce by Age Group
FHAER oM

3.78%

(73)
14.25% i 29.07%
(275) (561)

52.9%
(1,021)

[11 30 years old or under W 31-40 years old

30BRIAT 31-405%
[ 41-50 years old B Above 50 years old
41-507% 5075 0A £

Distribution of Workforce by Academic Qualifications
BREKES M
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amn 15)
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[ Doctorate degree [l Master's degree
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| Bachelor's degree [l Junior college level
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[ Technical secondary school level [l Others
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Distribution of the Workforce by Region
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2024 2023
Number of Number of
people  Percentage people Percentage
A ikt A (=329
Employee turnover rate 275 8.5% 164 7.75%
AR
Male employee 215 74.24% 118 5.58%
ST
Female employee 60 25.76% 46 2.17%
Employee T
turnover rate ™0
ABRBET  ynder 30 years old 120 56.06% 97 4.58%
30BRA T
30-50 years old 133 40.91% 62 2.93%
30-50%%
Above 50 years old 22 3.03% 5 0.24%
505%bA

Note: Among employees who departed the Group during the 2024 fiscal year, one was from
HKSAR, while the remainder were from the Chinese mainland.

Employee Rights and Benefits

The Group's domestic factories provide employee dormitories and
transportation services. Each year, the Group closely monitors labor
market trends and economic conditions to adjust employee remuneration
to competitive levels. Year-end bonuses are awarded based on individual
performance and the Group's profitability. The factories are equipped with
modern facilities and hardware, providing employees with a comfortable
and clean working environment. In addition, the Group has established
a research institute with an R&D team led by academicians from the
Chinese Academy of Sciences and professors, ensuring strong support for
hi-tech innovation and future development.

Talent is the cornerstone of corporate development, particularly in
chemical enterprises. Adhering to the Labor Law, Work-related Injury
Insurance Regulations and other national laws and regulations, the
Group has established a robust system for remuneration, recruitment
procedures, and career progression planning. Employee benefits include
five major social insurance programs and a housing provident fund,
annual leave, holiday allowances, and free employee meals, etc.

To enhance employees’ sense of belonging, Jiangxi Chemical has
established a “Staff Home" within the dormitory area, featuring
recreational facilities such as basketball courts, indoor badminton courts,
table tennis rooms, billiards rooms, and yoga rooms. The facilities also
include a library with chess and other intellectual activities, enriching
employees’ knowledge and broadening their horizons during leisure time.
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The Group has implemented a comprehensive mechanism for handling
employee feedback and complaints. Employees are encouraged to
express their concerns through various channels, including the General
Manager's mailbox, email, and the internal real-time communication tool
(DingTalk). All feedback is promptly followed up and addressed to ensure
employees’ voices are heard and their concerns are resolved effectively.

Team-Building Activities

Jiangsu Chemical organized a team-building event themed “Embracing
Spring at Yushan Mountain, Making Concerted Efforts for Excellence.”
The event offered employees to engage in various activities, including
hiking, lively discussions, sharing work and life experiences, and capturing
group photos to commemorate the journey. Additional activities included
fruit and vegetable picking, crayfish fishing, and safety lectures, allowing
participants to bond with family members in a joyful atmosphere while
gaining practical home safety knowledge and skills. These activities
strengthened team cohesion, fostered effective communication,
promoted mutual trust, collaboration and team spirit, and enhanced
employees’ sense of responsibility.

Jiangsu Chemical provides badminton facilities at the Sports and
Cultural Center in the Changshu Economic Development Zone, enabling
employees to enjoy sports during their leisure time. Employees often
play badminton in groups, strategizing and competing with enthusiasm,
thereby improving interpersonal communication while staying active and
healthy.
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Hazardous Chemicals Management

As a chemical production enterprise, the Company has developed
systems related to chemical safety and environmental protection
management for all employees to consult and learn, and the safety and
environmental protection department has also worked out the following
management measures:

1. The factory establishes a ledger to record the reception and use of
each hazardous chemical;

2. Determine the name, hazard characteristics, protective measures,
first aid measures, transportation, spill disposal methods and
other signs of the hazardous chemicals according to its MSDS or
characteristics, and hang unified designated signboards in striking
places;

3. If hazardous chemicals are stored in the production line, all electrical
equipment and lighting lamps must be explosion-proof devices
with anti-static measures. Proper ventilation must be ensured, and
smoking or open flames are strictly prohibited;

4. Hazardous chemicals shall be handled with care to prevent collision,

and be stored at a place dry and away from acids;

5. When employees use hazardous chemicals, they shall strictly
follow the rules of use and take proper personal and operational
precautions.
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Contingency mechanism in plants

In order to ensure that the Company can control the spread of production
safety accidents in time, effectively organize rescue and safeguard the
personal safety of employees and the Company's property safety, we
have formulated a comprehensive Emergency Plan for Production Safety
Accidents based on the actual situation of each factory, which includes
the site disposal plans for all kinds of possible accidents, such as fire,
material leakage, electric shock, human poisoning and suffocation, vehicle
injury, operations in a confined space, and natural disasters.

In addition, we have set up emergency fire stations and emergency
equipment warehouses with sufficient materials to ensure the proper
allocation and effective use of materials during emergencies. We regularly
conduct emergency plan drills in the factory areas, and work closely
with relevant government departments to enhance the emergency
rescue capabilities and awareness of staff at all levels. This ensures that
emergency responses can be carried out quickly, effectively and orderly
once an accident occurs.

The intelligent management and control system plays a positive role in
factory-wide response. The SEPD formulates comprehensive, special, and
on-site disposal contingency plans for relevant hazardous chemicals in
the production segment. When the emergency response is activated, fire,
video control and production command will collaborate and act together.
In addition, the production facilities and office areas are equipped with
fire detection systems, alarm systems, emergency lighting and other
fire suppression systems, in compliance with the national code for fire
protection of buildings and other relevant regulations. The Company’s
existing fire safety design can ensure the safety of all employees and

property.

In 2024, the Group identified 1,204 hidden dangers through self-
inspection and self-check processes. The Safety, Health and Environment
Department carried out routine inspections on a daily basis and organized
workshop managers and above to conduct mutual inspections according
to the annual safety risk and hidden danger identification plan. Any issues
identified were addressed either during routine maintenance or fully
rectified in a closed-loop process during the annual maintenance period.
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Occupational Health and Safety

The Safety Production Commitment of Lee & Man Chemical stipulates
that we shall seek to achieve the best business performance with zero
occurrence of major incidents and no damage to employees' health or
the environment, and shall actively promote a culture of safety in the
workplace and create a safe production environment.

In accordance with relevant legal regulations and the organizational
structure of the Company, we have amended the Safety Production
Responsibility System to ensure strict implementation of the “one
post, one responsibility” principle, requiring all managerial positions
to undertake safety responsibilities aligned with their job duties. The
Company formulates annual safety targets at the beginning of each year,
requiring each subsidiary to develop corresponding implementation plans
based on the overall safety production goals. Goal evaluation is regularly
conducted by the SEPD to regulate work procedures. The Company's
leaders and production management team signed the 2024 Safety and
Environment Target Responsibility Letter to define the safety production
responsibilities of all employees strictly.
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Lee & Man Chemical’s Safety Performance in 2024 2024FEX(E TLZEFKE

Name of issue

EEER 2024 2023 2022
Mortality 0 0 0
T

Mortality rate 0 0 0
BTX

Number of traffic accidents 0 1 0
Number of work-related injuries 3 4 1
TIEEHEE

Working days lost due to work-related injury 0 0 0
BAITERETIERE

Injury rate per million working hours 0.99 0.91 0.25
BEIREGEX

Incidence of occupational diseases 0 0 0
Percentage of employees undergoing health checks 100% 100% 100%

EXEFREHREE LD

Note: Lost working days due to the factory shutdown after a work-related injury.
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In terms of employee health, we arrange the following health services
for employees in strict accordance with the relevant national laws and
regulations on occupational health:

1. Provide pre-employment and post-employment health checks for all
new employees and resigned employees of the Company.

2. Provide an annual free health check at local hospitals qualified to
examine occupational diseases for current employees.

3. Carry out an annual inspection of occupational hazards to ensure
that occupational hazards inside the production equipment meet
the indicator requirement.

4. Establish an occupational hazard prevention plan and ensure the
timely execution of tasks to safeguard the occupational health and
safety of employees in the factories.

The factory has conducted a real-time investigation and review of every
work-related injury or accident. Most of the accidents were caused by
misconduct. The Company focuses on strengthening the observation and
assessment management of personal safety behavior; strengthens the
supervision and management of team leaders, and increases the safety
psychology training of front-line operators.

In order to encourage all employees to participate in daily safety
improvements, Jiangsu Chemical has introduced a monthly “Safety Star”
selection program, rewarding winners for their contributions. Through
the selection of “Safety Star”, the factory aims to strengthen the safety
culture and foster an environment where everyone is engaged in safety
management. By selecting safety role models, recognizing outstanding
individuals, and promoting positive energy, the program intends to
leverage these exemplary figures to play a leading and demonstrative role
in safety management and further improve the safety and responsibility
awareness of all employees.

Talent Attraction, Employee Training and Development

The Group attaches great importance to employee safety training, job
skills training, career development education, etc.. A comprehensive
training system is in place, and improvement measures are formulated
according to previous training results to enhance training effectiveness
continually. In addition, in terms of technical positions, all new hires will
receive pre-employment technical training to improve professional skills
applicable to their job duties.
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In 2024, the Group's factories offered employees free training programs,
which included the following:

1. Employees patrticipated in a variety of external training courses, such
as chemical process automation control instrumentation operations,
boiler water treatment, pressure vessel filling, special equipment
safety management, and metrology.

2. Safety experts from the China Chemical Safety Association were
invited to conduct lectures on “Work-related Injury Prevention
Training.” Additionally, the Binjiang Fire Squadron of Changshu
City and the Fire Brigade of Ruichang City were invited to deliver
“Fire Prevention Knowledge Training” sessions. These programs
further strengthened all employees’ safety awareness, promoted
a culture of safety, enhanced employees’ awareness of fire safety,
improved their self-rescue abilities and firefighting skills, and guided
them in identifying risks and rectifying hazards, thereby fostering an
enhanced organizational safety awareness and culture.

3. Factories prepared and distributed “Team Journals” to facilitate the
sharing and learning of daily production management practices,
safety production case studies, and employees’ work insights.

4. Jiangsu Chemical conducted monthly specialized training sessions
for all production employees through supplementary team
meetings. Zhuhai Chemical held a monthly team safety training
session alongside at least one training session on process and
equipment operation each month to ensure the smooth operation
of production lines.

5. Jiangxi Chemical implemented safety education programs through
an online chemical safety education public service platform,
complemented by offline training sessions. These training sessions
are organized according to the annual training plans of each
workshop, aiming to strengthen production safety awareness and
improve the overall quality of safety training for all employees.
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To enhance employees’ professional competencies and job performance,
the Company has implemented a comprehensive employee evaluation
system. These assessments encourage employees to actively acquire and
master job-related skills and to improve themselves. The Company also
organizes internal and external training sessions to expand work-related
knowledge, develop employees’ potential, and align individual growth
with corporate development goals.

In 2024, the Group arranged functional training and related process
training for its employees, with 1,915 attendees in total (2023: 2,116
attendees in total).
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Percentage of

the total Average
Number of number of training hours
Classification people staff per person
ok A {48 A St A BRI
Position Above supervisor level 318 (386) 16.619% (18.24%) 74 (74)
B AR FENUE
Below supervisor level 1,597 (1,730)  83.39% (81.76%) 74 (74)
FEUT
Classification Male 1,455(1,596)  75.98% (75.43%) 74 (74)
Par | 3
Female 460 (520) 24.02% (24.57%) 74 (74)
=z

Note: Figures in parentheses represent data for 2023.
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Some of the training topics in 2024 2024 F EEAZHNAE
Department Training aspects Target
il EIHNFER EHHE R
Production workshop 1. Process specification Workshop staff & workers
HEEM TERRE EfBET
2. Specialized knowledge about equipment Workshop staff & workers
REFHEFE M ERRBET

3. Personal protective equipment wearing standards
S EARREBTE

4. Knowledge of safety and environmental laws and
regulations
ZE - RIRERER AN

5.  Special operation: electrolysis and chlorination
FIEfER - EIE SIE

6.  Operations involving special equipment: pressure
vessels, pressure pipelines
HREREER  BNHRR  BHEE

7.  Special operations: high-voltage electrician, low-voltage
electrician
FiEfE% - /S - EEEL

8. Work injury prevention knowledge

All factory staff & workers
THAZE
Supervisors or above

FTERAIALET
Workshop staff & workers
BHHEBEET

Workshop staff & workers

BHHBEET
Workshop staff & workers

BHHBEET
Workshop staff & workers

T &38R M BERBET
Department Training aspects Target
#BF EINFR EIH R
Office 1. Corporate culture, work etiquette All staff
i /NES PEXE - TE8E ERET
2. ERP computer system operation Responsible operators
ERPEfS R AR (F BEBIEAR
3. ISO Training Al staff
ISOsEHI FHEET

4. Financial system and tax regulations

BATE B ML TS EER

5. Procurement process and system

RERIE R HE

6. Safety standardization specification
L EIRE(LIRE

7. Labor laws and regulations

BEERER
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Finance department and
related departments
BT A0 K AR A BB P
Procurement department and
related departments
PRAE B0 M AB R EBPT

Al staff

FEET

Human Resources
Department
ANEIRER



Child and Forced Labor

The Company strictly monitors the age of job applicants during the hiring
process. Candidates must be over 18 years old and have to present
their ID cards, the authenticity of which will be verified by the human
resources department upon hire. Employees are encouraged to report
any instance of identity document misuse, contributing to the Company’s
comprehensive control objectives.

In addition to monitoring the recruitment process of the Group, we
also regularly investigate the recruitment process of agencies. Besides
establishing a management system to address potential breaches of
conduct, we also require suppliers to formulate measures to prevent
child and forced labor. The Company will cease business relations with
any entities found to be in violation of these standards.

Based on the internal control measures described above, the Group did
not have any violations or incidents in the year related to employment
practices, labor standards, or occupational health and safety that could
have materially impacted its business operations. In addition, there were
no identified cases of child labor or illegal labor practices.
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OPERATIONAL
Sustainable Supply Chain Management

The Group has established a complete supply chain management
process and classified qualified suppliers according to material category.
During the year, there were 930 compliant suppliers that have established
partnerships with the Group. In strict accordance with the supplier
management system, the Company carries out annual review on the
admission of suppliers whose purchase amounts exceed RMB50,000
with more than two transactions in these years. In 2024, 509 suppliers in
this category have been reviewed and passed the review.

When a new supplier is introduced, a questionnaire evaluation will be
conducted regarding its background, resources, corporate integrity and
environmental and social risks. The purchasing department will check
whether the supplier has abnormal operating conditions and serious
breach of trust and violations, and review its credit status of legal person
and business contact of the supplier through https://zxgk.court.gov.cn/,
the “China Enforcement Information Open Network”. Also, it will
understand the performance of the supplier in social responsibilities such
as labor rights, occupational health and safety, and evaluate it according
to the assessment results. Suppliers with abnormal performance will be
disqualified and alternative suppliers will be found. For suppliers with
outstanding performance, priority orders will be considered.

In addition, the supplier management system records the main
qualifications of each supplier and automatically reminds them when the
qualifications expire to avoid the situations where the qualifications expire
and are not updated. For suppliers that have not cooperated with the
Group for a long time, the system will set a fixed period and automatically
remove them from the list of qualified suppliers. To further improve the
supplier system, the Group focuses on sorting out the materials and
prices of each supplier, and re-evaluates the prices according to the
actual situation to ensure that the factories obtain the highest quality
materials and services.

68

&E
A EREE

AEERY T EBOHEREERE £
RUER B S L WYHEBERET TR
HnEyAERHBENARHEEREIZ0
R AREBERERHEESE  HZ
FREBANARBSETRBBEMRZ 5%
ERHEREARNITFENE - 202450
BS09ORERULERR - 1T T FFEAL BB -

MHEESIARSETERAESR BR
EEBENREREERBORESTE - B
RESERHUHENSSARELERRNLE
BEREREE  WEE(PERITERAFRE)
BIEANREBBGANERAMR o 7R H
AL THn  BERENZE2EZLER
ETEMRER - WIRERERETIR Y
RERBENHEEKIOEEABER - I
SHEREL : RRREFHHERRE
EREBRETIE -

gHN - HERERE RGO ENERNE
RER - WEERDHEEEREE - NP
BERBHAEFRNER - SHHERHREED
HER  FReXRTETHR - AFHEK
ERHERBETRK RE—TZEHRE
BRER AKEEHMEE —HERNYE
KB UREBEERBENENZE AR
T RS REE YRR



At present, the main raw material suppliers such as raw salt,
methanol, fluorite, vinyl chloride and vinyl carbonate suppliers have
been cooperating with the Company for many years, and they have
great advantages in terms of price and supply stability. These major
raw material suppliers have established stable strategic cooperation
relationships with the Group, and the Group will implement sustainable
procurement policies with them to ensure stable supply and help achieve
environmental and social responsibility goals.

The Group has adopted an open and transparent procurement system
to help provide a fair and transparent platform for relevant suppliers and
reduce the impact of the "human factor”. For our major raw materials, we
compare historical procurement costs with formula prices of framework
contracts, and introduce new suppliers according to the actual situation,
improve competitiveness, and strive to select the best suppliers and
obtain the best prices, thereby obtaining reduced costs and enhanced
supplier stability. At the same time, according to the national energy
conservation and carbon reduction policy, the procurement department
and professional departments give priority to energy-saving products, look
for products and raw materials with lower energy consumption in the
production and operation process, and continue to pay attention to the
new trends of relevant industries and technologies. Where feasible, the
Group will give priority to purchasing sustainable products and services.

Key suppliers have to undergo an on-site inspection every year that is
conducted by the GMO and departments in charge of quality control,
procurement and production, on a sample basis. The suppliers’
environmental performance is also assessed. Suppliers are required
to rectify the problems identified on site within a fixed period of time.
Those who fail the assessment shall have their contracts terminated. All
incoming raw materials are tested and stored in specific areas according
to prescribed standards, guaranteeing that every batch of raw materials
used for production is controllable and traceable.

In terms of product logistics and transportation, the Group only hires
qualified transportation companies to transport hazardous chemicals.
All transportation companies, drivers, loading and unloading technicians
and supercargoes have received safety training, and their performance
is strictly reviewed and evaluated by the sales department. Vehicles are
required to undergo inspection and maintenance regularly to ensure that
they are leak-proof during delivery.
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The suppliers are mainly divided into raw material suppliers, production
equipment manufacturers and suppliers for packaging auxiliary materials,
etc,, most of which are located in different regions of China. They are
close to the factory location, which shortens the transportation radius,
reduces carbon emissions, and is more conducive to ensuring the
timeliness of the supply chain. Details are shown in the below chart.

Geographical Distribution of Supplier

HERhE 5
Jiangsu [ Jiangxi Shanghai M Zhejiang [ Guangdong
TLER AN g i [pan BER

M Shandong M Anhui B Hubei l Beijing Liaoning
IR 2 s bl HE

B Hunan Hebei M Fujian Others
bisilEg] e by HAb

Product and Service Quality

The domestic factories of the Group have passed the 1ISO9001 Quality
Management System Certification, ISO45001 Occupational Health and
Safety Management System and certification of ISO14001 Environmental
Management System. Jiangsu Chemical and Jiangxi Chemical have
passed the audit of ISO50001 Energy Management System. Jiangxi
Chemical has passed the certification of GB/T23001 Integration of
Informatization and Industrialization Management Systems, and Zhuhai
Chemical has also passed the certification of IATF16949 Automotive
Quality Management Systems.
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Certification attained Jiangsu Chemical
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Jiangxi Chemical Zhuhai Chemical
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We pay attention to standardized management. Product quality
standardization is implemented during quality management, and the
implementation rate of product standards (including national standards,
industrial standards and enterprise standards) is 100%. The factory
has formulated a complete quality management manual and control
procedures, and established a comprehensive goods receipt & delivery
and quality control module with ERP system, DingTalk OA Approval
Platform and other tools, so as to effectively realize the whole process
management functions from factory entry of raw materials to production
program control, warehouse transfer of semi-finished products, product
storage and delivery, vehicle and customer terminal tracing and so on.

Both Jiangsu Chemical and Jiangxi Chemical factories have obtained the
“Food Production License” for sodium hydroxide, a food additive used in
food production. Jiangsu Chemical's food additives hydrochloric acid and
hydrogen peroxide have also obtained such license, broadening product
categories in food additives and customer base in the field. The CPVC
mixture products produced by Jiangsu Chemical have obtained UL and
NSF product certifications in the United States. The finished hydrogen
oxide disinfectant product obtained the “Hygiene License for Enterprise
Manufacturing of Disinfection Products” in 2024, and completed the
registration of the disinfection product registration certificate with the “Lee
& Man 35% Hydrogen Peroxide Disinfectant” in September of the same
year.
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The 10% sodium hypochlorite product for drinking water produced
by Jiangsu Chemical and Jiangxi Chemical has obtained the “Hygiene
License Approval for Hygiene and Safety Products Involving Drinking
Water” issued by the local health supervision department. Jiangsu
Chemical's Lee & Man brand A-IV sodium hypochlorite, Lee & Man
brand PVC-C pipes for water supply, etc. have also obtained such
approval, and have been rated as Grade A for five consecutive years
in the annual hygiene credit rating evaluation of water-related product
manufacturers organized by Suzhou Health Supervision Institute, making
the company the only Grade A hygiene credit enterprise in Changshu.
Jiangsu Chemical actively promotes the government's latest requirements
of “main responsibility for food safety of food/food additive production
enterprises” and “main responsibility for quality and safety of industrial
product production enterprises”, adds daily control, weekly inspection and
monthly scheduling records, improves the daily self-inspection process
and uploads the self-inspection records to the official supervision platform
on time, which is highly praised by the production supervision authority.

The fluoroethylene carbonate (“FEC") product manufactured by Zhuhai
Chemical is one of the additives for manufacturing lithium battery
electrolytes, which can improve the recycling performance of electrolytes
and be applied to promote environmentally friendly materials.

The Group's analytical laboratory is equipped with various advanced
equipment, such as an organic carbon analyzer (TOC), total chlorine
analyzer, inductively coupled ion emission spectrometer (ICP), and
liquid chromatograph (LC), etc., to meet the physical and chemical
performance testing of various high-purity chemicals and new materials.
In addition, the FEC laboratory of Zhuhai Chemical is equipped with gas
chromatograph, inductive coupling and other ion emission spectroscopy,
titrator, dual-station and single-station glove boxes, which can
comprehensively analyze organic substances.

Jiangxi Chemical pursues excellence in production management.
The production team applies advanced instruments such as online
chromatograph, online concentration meter and automatic titrator
to improve detection efficiency, and realize real-time and refined
quality process control. The factory laboratory has also established an
information management system to realize the integration of testing data
and production data to improve the stability of product quality. Jiangxi
Chemical won the “Outstanding Contribution Award for High-Quality
Industrial Development Enterprises” in June 2024.
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Jiangsu Chemical is committed to improving customer satisfaction
by meeting and exceeding the goal of customer service. In 2024, it
completed 38 customer audits of various types, improved more than
80 questions raised by customers, and provided customers with over
40 times of various tests, technical services and technical exchanges.
Its food additive sodium hydroxide, water-related sodium hypochlorite,
industrial methylene chloride, etc. have been well received by high-end
customers in various food processing industries, water industries, and
pharmaceutical industries.

During the year, we strictly complied with the laws and regulations on
health and safety, labeling and privacy matters related to our products
and services, and no incident of non-compliance was noted.

Responsible Marketing and Publicity

Strictly complying with the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic
of China and other laws, regulations and industrial norms, the Group
has formulated and strictly implemented a marketing management
system. Before delivery, every batch of products will undergo testing
in accordance with the items and indicators stipulated by corporate
standards and national standards; qualified products are stored separately.
Every batch of products for sale is accompanied by a product testing
and analysis report as well as a safety data sheet (SDS) for hazardous
chemicals, safety notice card, emergency contact telephone numbers
and other information. Such information is kept on delivery vehicles to
ensure product traceability by customers with respect to its safe use, and
to ensure timely support from our sales department and easy access to
enquiry in case of after-sales problems.

Information and content displayed on the Group’s advertisements, labels,
and marketing materials for all business segments are subject to review
and approval before public use. The Group strictly controls the legality
and truthfulness of the content of its promotional materials, and strictly
prohibits deceptive and misleading information. During the year, there
were no incidents of non-compliance relating to advertising of products
and services noted.

Customer Relationship Maintenance

The Group values the feedback of customers. In terms of after-sales
services and complaint handling, the sales department communicates
with customers regularly and distributes satisfaction survey reports every
year to understand their general and special needs for products. The
Company ensures that the feedback from customers is true, timely
and sufficient through face-to-face interviews, telephone calls, internet,
conferences, and exhibitions, etc. The marketing team classifies and
summarizes the various needs of customers and transmits the relevant
information to the relevant departments respectively, so that the market
response speed and service quality of the Company's products can be
improved.
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Case study - Service platform

In 2024, Jiangxi Chemical expanded the application of the online
customer service platform. On this platform, the delivery status of each
order is recorded in detail. Customers can query the purchase process
in real time. The status of open orders is clearly presented, covering
the validity period of the order, quantity and price information. At
the same time, it is also convenient for the sales team to follow up
and deal with the order in time, ensuring that the order is completed
as soon as possible. The platform also provides customers with an
extremely convenient balance inquiry function, so that they can clearly
know the account balance and better manage their funds.

In addition, the online platform has carefully developed the
reconciliation function, which lists customers' transaction records
and expense details. Customers can check the transaction situation
through the statement to ensure that each transaction is accurate. For
customers who choose to pick up their vehicles, the online platform
also provides a vehicle status query function. Customers can always
obtain information such as vehicle readiness inside and outside the
factory, as well as loading information. This not only greatly improves
customer satisfaction, but also fully reflects Jiangxi Chemical's high
concern and efforts to meet customer needs. The development and
use of the online platform has brought customers a more convenient,
efficient and transparent service experience.

Customers can raise any questions related to quality and safety through
multiple communication channels, such as contacting the designated
salesperson or by email. We will earnestly and quickly follow up on
relevant issues and give appropriate feedback. After discussion, evaluation
and investigation of related departments, we will look for any potential
risks and the Group undertakes to take corrective, recovery or preventive
measures in a timely manner. In 2024, the Group did not have any sold
products that had to be recalled for safety and health reasons.

When receiving customer complaints about product quality and service,
the Company's sales department and quality control department will
organize relevant meetings to discuss and determine the underlying
reasons, propose corrections, and take preventive measures. In 2024,
the Group received a total of six customer complaints. The Company
has arranged resolved and replaced each case, in order to meet the
requirements of each customer for high-quality chemical products.
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Handling
REER

Jiangsu Chemical Product appearance defect (1)

TEMET Em/MNEREE(1R)

Jiangsu Chemical Foreign matters or corrosion in tank car sampling
(2 cases)

TEMET BEREAEYIEHQR)

Jiangxi Chemical There are foreign matters in the goods (2 cases)

e T MR EEY(2R)

Zhuhai Chemical Abnormal filling in of product label weight
information (1)

WetT EmEHRBEEERESER(OR)
Note: In 2023, the Group received 4 customer complaints.

Information Security and Privacy Protection

Lee & Man Chemical has built multi-level network security and
convenient applications in information technology. The ERP enterprise
information management platform of domestic factories covers the
Company's process, production, sales, procurement, finance, quality and
other operation and management processes.

In terms of information security and digital conversion, we do a good
job in guaranteeing through software and hardware environment and
technical reserves. Most of the Company's operation businesses or data
have been covered in the ERP system. The information and technology
department routinely checks the virus database every day, keeps a
close eye on the traffic information of key network devices, disables the
Internet access function for all devices that are not necessary to access
the Internet, and backs up important data (such as ERP data, emails,
and shared data disks) once a day or more than once a day. Dynamic
attention is paid to the new border gateway devices in the market, and
the devices are replaced and upgraded when necessary.

In addition, in terms of digital transformation, the Company's servers and
desktops have all been virtualized, making it easier to upgrade, migrate
and expand the capacity of the business in the future and meanwhile
enhancing the confidentiality of data. The receipt and delivery system has
implemented one-card-pass and DingTalk materials collection with QR
code, which are effective for ensuring accuracy and consistency.
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The reasons have been found and the products
have been returned or changed
EEAREMETERER
The Logistics Department strengthens the control
of tank truck loading
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The causes have been found out and the quality
control has been strengthened
EERRAMIGEREEE

The reasons have been found and the products
have been returned or changed
EERRERAE

Bfaz : 7R2023%F - REBHRRE4RE PSR -

FERRENRARE

B THEEMBH EBRET ZERNEK
ZEMERCERER - BATRAERPERE
BHMLEETEG  BMETRABIE  4AE -
HE KB MK mESERAKEEES
=

EEELZENE - BB BIANREEREN
BT RIGEFRIE - RBIREDE 2 X5
HEREELIRELERPA - B R EHREFI &
BATRERSE - BREIMBERKRE
MRERFER  FEUBRATBREBNHRE &
PRI LAThEE - WEEBUR (WERPHIE - &
FEH  HEBBERZ)VETER—HH—X
ZiE - BREBITEAEERFERE &
REFFBRI -

SEAN - B ER T E - 2 E R R AR 23 A
KECEHMERERE - FREMNDCSEM -
PLCEA - EREARZENLZEREREN - BT
REEHERAITRENES - ZHAEE
BERFREE - WEERRERT —FER

WL E

SIE]TR — IR AR - EARUERREART



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RS - HERERHRE

The Group also attaches great importance to the privacy and security
of customers and individuals, ensures that employees can only access
the operating information in the permit in accordance with laws and
regulations, and does not allow any disclosure without the approval of
the data owner except for the public documents prescribed by law. We
protect the information provided by our customers and their privacy. We
keep our database safe. We had no data leakage or non-compliance
cases during the year 2024.

Sustainable product development and technological innovation

For the purpose of sustainable innovation and breakthrough, the Group
has a research and development (R & D) team that determines the
development direction according to the Company's development
strategies and technical difficulties, provides human and financial support,
continues to innovate and make breakthroughs, and creates new
products and new technology applications.

In 2024, the Group invested more than RMB120 million in R & D
projects. It has made many achievements in R & D and technical
transformation, including the technology of lithium battery electrolyte
additives, the process of hydrogen peroxide oxidation tail gas, new
CPVC fire service pipe products, resource utilization of hydrochloric acid,
etc. The R & D achievements not only enrich the Company's product
resources, but also contribute to environmental protection and emission
reduction.

Among the products of the Group is caustic soda, which uses advanced
environmentally friendly processes and equipment, and reduces the
energy consumption of unit products through energy-saving technological
transformation such as membrane polar electrolysis tank, waste heat
utilization of finished products and optimization of cold water system.

Jiangsu Chemical passed the rating review of Changshu Ecological
Environment Bureau of Suzhou City and was rated as Changshu City's
“Excellent Enterprise in Environmental Management”. In the field of
recycling of by-product hydrochloric acid, the company has developed
key technologies for the conversion and production of high-purity methyl
chloride to support the development of the domestic organic silicon
industry. Jiangsu Chemical's CPVC products have been selected into the
public list of green design products recognized by the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology for their advanced technology with low
energy resource consumption, low pollution emissions, and little impact
on the environment and human health throughout the entire life cycle.

Methane chloride (dichloromethane, chloroform), hydrogen peroxide,
polyaluminum chloride, hexafluoropropylene, polytetrafluoroethylene,
polyperfluoroethylene propylene, thionyl chloride and other products
produced by Jiangxi Chemical have been successively rated as “Jiangxi
Famous Brand” products; and methane chloride, hydrogen peroxide,
hexafluoropropylene have been awarded the title of “Jiangxi Fine
Products”. The special polymer products manufactured by the company
have excellent chemical stability, corrosion resistance, high temperature
resistance, high lubrication, and electrical insulation. They can effectively
insulate heat and meet the unique needs of different customers.
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Jiangxi Chemical adheres to technological innovation and has successfully
developed ultra-high molecular weight suspension resins for LCD screens
and 5G communications, special materials for extrusion pipes for fuel
pipelines of automobiles and aircraft, special materials for long and short
fibers for environmental protection and medical treatment, and high-
density suspension resins for semiconductors and high-purity electronic
chemicals. High-density suspension modified PTFE resin (LM-PSR111)
was independently developed by the Company, breaking the monopoly
of foreign companies. While retaining the excellent comprehensive
properties of homopolymer resin, this resin also derives other properties,
such as permeability resistance, creep resistance, weldability, and
better tensile properties and surface smoothness. It is called the “three
high resins”, that is, high strength, high density, and high penetration
resistance. Its application fields cover many important industries such as
chemical industry, machinery, semiconductor, automobile, and military
industries. This series of product innovations has enabled the Company
to achieve good economic and environmental benefits.
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The FEC produced by Zhuhai Chemical is a product optimized by
the Company's R&D team, which will help promote the use of high-
performance storage batteries in China.

Intellectual Property Protection

By the end of 2024, Lee & Man Chemical has obtained 236 granted
patents, including 45 invention patents and 191 utility model patents.

The Group attaches great importance to the establishment of intellectual
property rights. In order to safeguard the Group's interests and its
development, we require employees to remain cautious when using the
Company's resources. Sharing with third parties should be avoided, and
private and personal use in the form of replication, imitation, reproduction,
excerption and distribution is also prohibited. In terms of accessing to and
transmitting core information, only specific senior managers have relevant
authority. In addition, when developing a technical transformation with
a third party, a contract will be clearly signed to protect the interests of
scientific and technological achievements of both parties.

As an intellectual property owner, the Group will report to the local
judicial authority and resolutely crack down on infringement and illegal
acts when any product or technology is found to be used without the
Group's authorization, and upon internal review, it is confirmed that our
intellectual property rights have been infringed.
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Commercial Ethics and Anti-corruption

The Group adheres to business integrity, abides by business ethics,
resolutely resists corruption and bribery, and will continue to improve its
anti-corruption supervision system.

Lee & Man Chemical has formulated a Staff Manual. New employees
will receive training before admission, learn the contents of the Staff
Manual and understand the Company’s requirements for anti-corruption.
The Group also regularly provides bribery prevention training for senior
executives. All subsidiaries have organized staff and cadres to participate
in the special training on “bribery prevention and anti-corruption”. The
executives were deeply educated and warned after hearing typical cases
explained by law firm professionals and the Company, learning relevant
laws and regulations, and watching short anti-corruption education films.
The Group also provided anti-corruption training to the Board to create a
clean working environment in all aspects.

The Company has formulated a Management System for Conflicts of
Interest Arising During An Employee’s Service, which stipulates that all
relevant personnel related to new recruits, promotions and transfers
must truthfully fill out the Employee Interest Statement which will be
verified by the human resources department, so as to eliminate all risks
of conflicts of interest. The General Manager's mailbox has been made
available and it is opened at least once a week by specific personnel.
All employees can report corruption, bribery, acceptance of improper
gifts or remuneration and other violations or personnel through the
General Manager's mailbox. Once the violations are verified, the relevant
parties will be punished in the form of labor contract cancellation.
Such arrangement is considered an effective tool for preventing acts of
corruption and bribery.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no internal and
external corruption complaints received by the Group and no corruption
litigation cases brought against the Group or its employees.

SOCIAL ENGAGEMENT AND CO-CONSTRUCTION

Lee & Man Chemical places great importance on corporate social
responsibility by contributing to various societal aspects, including
community development, healthcare, employees’ team building activities,
and sports promotion.

To share its corporate philosophy with various stakeholders and
promote safety values, Lee & Man Chemical’s factories have consistently
invited individuals from different sectors to participate in exchanges
and communication for consecutive years, fostering a deeper public
understanding of chemical enterprises.
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Community Communication

In April last year, Jiangsu Chemical hosted an “Factory Open Day,” inviting
20 representatives from the development zone, local communities,
school-owned enterprises, neighboring enterprises, and employees'’
family members. Through site visits, presentations, and discussions, the
event showcased Lee & Man Chemical's image as a “safe and intelligent
chemical plant.” Participants gained a first-hand experience of the
Company's automated and intelligent production process, its safe and
reliable working environment, and developed a deeper understanding
of the Company's operations. Last year, the company also donated
RMB100,000 to changshu charitable foundation, aimed at helping the
vulnerable and alleviating poverty.

Jiangxi Chemical welcomed a group of Hong Kong students participating
in the “2024 Fan Changjiang Initiative”. The visit provided insights into
factory operations and management, and promoting exchanges. Last year,
Jiangxi Chemical donated nearly RMB60,000 worth of comfort items and
flood prevention supplies to the Nanyang Township Elderly Home and
Yangtze River flood control departments respectively, providing support.

Zhuhai Chemical collaborated with the local government to promote
the visibility of the Zhuhai Economic and Technological Development
Zone. As an exemplary enterprise and representative, it participated in
the filming of a promotional video titled “Impressions of the Economic
and Technological Development Zone: Listen to Their Stories,” sharing its
journey of establishment in the development zone and contributing to
public awareness.
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Health Protection

As a chemical manufacturing company, the Group actively responded
to government health department initiatives by producing disinfectant
products and donating disinfectant solutions and protective supplies,
dutifully contributing to society.

Jiangsu Chemical assists field management in installing multi-media filters
in the employee dormitory building to ensure the health of employees’
drinking water.

Sports Development

Jiangsu Chemical organized its employees who enjoy running to
participate in the 2024 Changshu Shanghu Half Marathon. Over 50
employees enthusiastically joined the event. Despite the rain, they
demonstrated their passion and perseverance, encouraging each other
along the Shanghu Lake. Upholding the Lee & Man spirit of “endurance,
diligence, and determination to succeed,” all participants completed their
races, earning medals and creating cherished memories of their energetic
and unstoppable journey.

Jiangsu Chemical sponsored students to participate in martial arts
competitions at Changshu Kanggiao International School in 2024, and
donated RMB40,000 to support the promotion of martial arts.
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The Company's labor union also organized employee teams to participate
in mixed-team badminton matches within the community. Throughout
the matches, the teams demonstrated exceptional teamwork and a
courageous and competitive spirit.

The Group continued its title sponsorship of the Lee Man Football Club
this year, contributing to the development of football in Hong Kong.

In the 2023/2024 season, the Lee Man Football Club’s professional
team achieved an undefeated record in all matches, securing the
Hong Kong Premier League championship for the first time. The club
also represented Hong Kong in international competitions of the AFC
Champions League 2. Several players from the team were selected
for the Hong Kong Representative team to participate in international
competitions, bringing pride and recognition to Hong Kong.

The Lee Man Football Club also established the Lee Man Youth
Academy to nurture young local football talents. The Academy provides
systematic training for youth aged 8 to 18, emphasizing professionalism
and scientific foundations to support their development and future
advancement. The Academy has achieved one-star certification under the
“Asian Football Confederation Elite Youth Scheme.”
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Awards and Honors in 2024

In 2024, the Group received multiple accolades and recognitions. A part

of the awards and honors are as follows:

Issuer

RIREN

Award or honor

RIFSRE

2024 FERSHRIER L8

REBFE2024FF © B/ TZHHE

- TRIABSEERLE

Company
N

Changshu Municipal Committee of the CPC
Changshu People's Government
hHREATEES

BEAARBA

CPC Working Committee of the Changshu
Economic Development Zone

Administrative Committee of the Changshu
Economic and Technological Development Zone
hRAEARBERERIIERZES
BAREBERMREREEEES

CPC Working Committee of the Changshu
Economic Development Zone

Administrative Committee of the Changshu
Economic and Technological Development Zone
PHAEACERER TFRES
FAKBRMARRERERE S

Ecology and Environment Bureau of Changshu,
Suzhou
N EAERRRER

Suzhou Water Authority
#RINKIE R

Industry and Information Technology Department
of Jiangsu

THRE TEMEAEE

JIANGXI ASSOCIATION FOR SCIENCE AND
TECHNOLOGY

THEEMSRMGE

Outstanding Green Development Enterprise

in 2023

2023FEEFREERLE

Transformation and Upgrading Benchmark

Award 2023

2023 FEAVH AT

Outstanding Investment Contribution Award

2023

2023F &% &z Tk

Top 10 Outstanding Enterprises in 2023

2023 F HEBF

Suzhou “Water Efficiency Leader” Enterprise

in 2024

2024 EERMN T KB RBE B

“Specialized, Refined, Characteristic, and

TEMET

12 TERMET

i L& T

TELT

TERET

Innovative” SMEs in Jiangsu Province in

2024

20245 T & E [ BT I/ EE

In the 2024 China Innovation Method

TEMET

Competition, he won the third prize in the
Jiangxi Provincial Enterprise Innovation
Method Regional Competition

2024F R BEIF T AAE T AE XA

IPET

377 AR B e A =
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Jiangsu Chemical

Jiangsu Chemical

Jiangsu Chemical

Jiangsu Chemical

Jiangsu Chemical

Jiangsu Chemical

Jiangxi Chemical
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Issuer Award or honor Company
AREN RIF RE N

China Association of Fluorine and Silicone Industry ~ “Preparation technology of dispersed PTFE  Jiangxi Chemical
resin for filament fiber” was awarded the
second prize of China Flurosilicone Industry
Science and Technology Innovation Award

TEREARMH T E RS (REBHERABENA L FHERER  IRatkT
MR AT EAETER AR %
#

Jiangxi Provincial Federation of Trade Unions “Preparation Technology of Filament Fiber  Jiangxi Chemical

Dispersion PTFE Resin” won the third
prize in the “Five Small” activities of Jiangxi
Provincial Employees in 2024

IRERIE (R MENA L BB RUBRMT) TAfkT
2024 THEB T A/ EBRE=%
2
Jiangxi Provincial Brand Building Promotion The Lee & Man brand hydrogen peroxide  Jiangxi Chemical
Association produced by Jiangxi Science and Culture
Chemical Co., Ltd. is a high-quality product
in Jiangxi
THE miE R RES TP E TERARAEREN MBS JIAET
bR IEEm
Jiangxi Provincial Brand Building Promotion Jiangxi Science and Culture Engineering Jiangxi Chemical
Association Co., Ltd. produced Lee & Man brand

hexafluoropropylene is a high-quality
product in Jiangxi

IHREAmEEREES IAEM(ETARARIEEREX A JIftT

AW AL
Jiangxi Provincial Brand Building Promotion The Lee & Man brand thionyl chloride Jiangxi Chemical
Association produced by Jiangxi Science and Culture

Chemical Co., Ltd. is a famous brand
product in Jiangxi

IR M ERRES TAEMETAERAREEREX S TRT
A IR Em

Jiangxi Provincial Brand Building Promotion The Lee & Man brand polyperfluoroethylene Jiangxi Chemical

Association propylene dispersion resin produced by

Jiangxi Science and Culture Chemical Co.,

Ltd. is a famous brand product in Jiangxi
TEmEEREES TREXETERARAENENERES2 JTH(ET

ARG DB RE AT R ER

Ruichang Federation of Trade Unions In 2024, it will be an excellent organization  Jiangxi Chemical
unit of the “five small” activities of Ruichang
employees

mERTE 2024 ImEMBII A/NEBERMAR TAET
B
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Color classification

EeER

- Green environment related
REIRIEIEE

Product quality related
EmmE i

- Industry development related
TEERAH

84



Annual Report 2024 F#

Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EERESREERBN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. WAI Siu Kee, aged 80, Chairman of the Group who joined the
Group since its establishment in 1976. Ms. Wai has extensive experience
in the manufacturing industry of over five decades. She is responsible
for the development of corporate strategies, corporate planning and
overall management of the Group and in particular the marketing and
development of the business of the Group. Ms. Wai is the mother of Mr.
Lee Man Yan, an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group.

Mr. LEE Man Yan, aged 47, the member of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Committee of Jiangxi and Chief Executive Officer of the
Group. He joined the Group in 2000. Mr. Lee is in charge of the
corporate and strategic planning of the Group, and is responsible for
the management operations, procurement of mechanical materials,
staff management and public relations in the PRC of the business.
He graduated from the University of British Columbia, Canada with a
Bachelor's Degree in Commerce. Mr. Lee was awarded Young Industrialist
Award of Hong Kong 2013 and Young Entrepreneur Award 2013. He is
appointed as member of the Departmental Advisory Committee for the
Department of Chemistry of City University of Hong Kong and Committee
Member of Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council. Mr. Lee is a son of Ms.
Wai Siu Kee, an Executive Director and the Chairman of the Group.

Mr. YANG Zuo Ning, aged 62, an Executive Director of the Group and
General Manager of Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical Limited. He joined
the Group in 2006. He is a national acclaimed senior engineer and has
over 40 years of production experience in chlor-alkali industries. He is
responsible for the strategic planning, general management and advisory
of production engineering to the Group.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Professor CHAN Albert Sun Chi Jr, aged 74, the 12th and 13th
CPPCC National Committee, a Non-executive Director of the Group. He
joined the Group in 2015 as Chief Strategist. In 2016, he was designated
as an Executive Director and re-designated as a Non-executive Director
in 2024. He is a world-renowned organic chemist, Member of the
Chinese Academy of Sciences and President Emeritus of Hong Kong
Baptist University. Professor Chan received his bachelor degree from
International Christian University in Japan in 1975 and his MSc and
PhD degrees from the University of Chicago respectively in 1976 and
1979. Upon graduation from the University of Chicago, he started an
industrial career at the Monsanto Corporate Research Laboratories where
he had worked for 13 years, rising through the ranks of Senior Research
Chemist, Research Specialist, Senior Research Specialist and finally
Monsanto Fellow. Since joining the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
1994, Professor Chan had served as Chair Professor and Head of the
Department of Applied Biology and Chemical Technology, Dean of the
Faculty of Applied Science and Textiles, and Vice President (Research
Development). He was the 4th President and Vice-Chancellor of Hong
Kong Baptist University in 2010-2015. Elected as Member of the
Chinese Academy of Sciences in 2001, Professor Chan has received
numerous prestigious awards including State Natural Science Award of
China (second class), Lectureship Award by The Society of Synthetic
Organic Chemistry, Japan and Invitation Fellowship of Japan Society for
the Promotion of Science.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WAN Chi Keung, Aaron 88s Jp, aged 75, an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Group. He holds a Master's Degree in
Business Administration of the Chinese University of Hong Kong and
a Master's Degree in Buddhist Studies of the University of Hong Kong.
He is also an associate of the Institution of Business Agents, a member
of the Land Institute (London), an associate of the Chartered Institute
of Arbitrators, a fellow of The Institute of Administrative Accounting and
a fellow of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. He is engaged
in the business of property and chattel valuation and auction and has
over 40 years of related experience. Mr. Wan serves as an independent
non-executive director in Tongda Hong Tai Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
2363).

Mr. HENG Victor Ja Wei, aged 47, an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Group. He is a partner of Morison Heng, Certified Public
Accountants. He holds a Master of Science Degree of the Imperial
College of Science, Technology and Medicine, the University of London.
He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Heng serves as an independent non-executive director
in Matrix Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1005), Veson Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1399) and TradeGo FinTech Limited (Stock Code: 8017).
He also serves as the company secretary and authorized representative
of China Life Insurance Company Limited (Stock Code: 2628).
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Mr. WONG King Wai Kirk, aged 42, an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Group. He holds a Master's degree in business
administration from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology. He is a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong since 2010.
He is the founder and a director of Marvel Group Holdings Limited, a
company that manufactures disposable baby products since April 2012.
He has also been a director and legal counsel at Keenway Industries Ltd.,
a plastic toy manufacturer since September 2009. Mr. Wong serves an
independent non-executive director in Thing On Enterprise Limited (Stock
Code: 2292).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LAM Hiu Fung, aged 54, Financial Controller of the Group. He
joined the Group in 2005 and has 30 years of experience in financial
management. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in Accountancy from City
University of Hong Kong and a Master's Degree in International Business
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
is responsible for the supervision on the financial matters, tax issues and
general management.

Mr. XIA Xu Dong, aged 50, Deputy General Manager of Jiangsu Lee &
Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2006 and has 28 years
of production experience in chlor-alkali industries. He is responsible for
the supervision and general management of production of Jiangsu Lee &
Man Chemical Limited.

Dr. TSE Man Kin, aged 53, Executive Dean of Research & Development
of the Group. He joined the Group in 2008 and has 30 years of
experience in chemical research and research management. He holds
a PhD in Chemistry from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and is
a member of the American Chemical Society. He is responsible for the
research and development of the Group and advising on manufacturing
process.

Mr. WU Zeng Long, aged 55, Deputy General Manager of Jiangsu Lee
& Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2007 and has over 30
years of experience in sales, marketing and business development. He
holds a Bachelor's Degree in Applied Chemistry. He is responsible for
sales and logistics activities of Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited.

Mr. WAI Hiu Yu, aged 39, Deputy General Manager of Jiangxi Lee &
Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2008 and has 16 years of
management experience in manufacturing industry. He holds a Bachelor's
Degree in Engineering from The University of British Columbia, Canada.
He is responsible for developing of Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical Limited
sales strategies, exploring potential markets and logistics management.
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Mr. CHEAH Ming Huat, aged 52, Deputy General Manager of Jiangxi
Lee & Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2011 and has 27
years of experience in financial management. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and chartered
accountant of Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He is responsible for
the supervision on the financial matters, treasury management, internal
control, tax issues and general management.

Mr. DING Yao, aged 40, Deputy General Manager of Jiangxi Lee &
Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2008 and has 17 years
of production engineering experience in refined chemicals and chlor-
alkali industries. He is responsible for the production of fluorochemical
and chlor-alkali chemical and general management of Jiangxi Lee & Man
Chemical Limited.

Mr. QIU Yi Lin, aged 52, Deputy General Manager of Jiangxi Lee &
Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2006. He acquired
qualification of mechanical engineer in 2003 and has 28 years of
management experience in power station and electrical and mechanical
equipment. He is responsible for the operation and general management
of power station as well as facility maintenance of Jiangxi Lee & Man
Chemical Limited.

Professor SUN Wai Yin, Raymond, aged 48, General Manager of
Zhuhai Lee & Man Materials Science Company Limited and Deputy
General Manager of Guangzhou Lee & Man Technology Company
Limited. He holds a Ph.D. in Chemistry from The University of Hong Kong
and has engaged in the R&D of novel organic and inorganic materials
including fluorinated additives and key components for lithium batteries
for more than 25 years. Professor Sun had worked at Shantou University
(China) as Professor in Chemistry and Director of the International
Affairs Office, and also served as Honorary Professor (2016—2018) and
Invited Visiting Professor (2015) at The University of Hong Kong and The
University of Toulouse (France), respectively. Professor Sun joined the
Group in 2016 and is responsible for the general management, and the
research and development of the Zhuhai Lee & Man Materials Science
Company Limited and Guangzhou Lee & Man Technology Company
Limited.

Mr. ZHOU Wei, aged 43, Director of Information Technology of the
Group. He joined the Group in 2006 and has over 20 years of experience
in software development and information system management. He is
responsible for the execution management of information system of the
Group.
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Mr. SHU Dong, aged 42, Director of Procurement of the Group. He
joined the Group in 2006 and has 19 years of experience in chemical
production and supply chain management. He has a bachelor's degree
in chemical engineering from Anhui University. He is responsible for the
management of the Procurement Department of the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. HUNG Siu Yin, aged 36, Company Secretary of the Group. He
joined the Company as the assistant financial controller in June 2024
and is appointed as the company secretary of the Group in August
2024. He is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, with over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting
and financial management. Mr. Hung obtained a Bachelor's Degree in
Business Administration in Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and a Master of Science in Risk Management Science from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is responsible for the treasury
management, accounting and company secretarial matters of the Group.
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024,

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group is
principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of chemical products.

The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 39
to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a fair review of the
business and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group, particulars of important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the financial year 2024, an indication of likely
future development in the Group's business, a discussion of the Group's
environmental policies and performance, and its compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
and an account of the Group's key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers that have a significant impact on the Group
can be found in the sections “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis”, “"Corporate Governance Report” and
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this Annual Report.

The aforesaid form part of this report.
RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 105.

An interim dividend of HK14 cents per share amounting to
HK$115,500,000 in aggregate was paid to the shareholders during the
year.

The directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK15
cents per share to the shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members on 19 May 2025, amounting to HK$123,750,000 in total,
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

SHARE CAPITAL
There was no movement in the share capital of the Company during the

year. There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries, of the Company's listed shares during the year.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's reserves available for
distribution to shareholders represented the aggregation of the
share premium and retained profits of HK$211,857,000 (2023:
HK$419,371,000).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations by the Group during the year amounted
to HK$10,371,000.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 188.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive directors

Ms. Wai Siu Kee (Chairman)

Mr. Lee Man Yan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning

Non-executive director

Professor Chan Albert Sun ChiJp (Redesignated from
an Executive Director on 8 March 2024)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 88S Jp
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei
Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive directors are independent.
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In accordance with Article 87 of articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles of Association”) and Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”), Mr. Lee Man Yan and Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei (“Mr. Heng") shall
retire by rotation at the 2025 Annual General Meeting and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election. Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron and Mr. Heng
have served as Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company for
more than nine years. Pursuant to the Code, their re-appointment shall
be subject to separate resolution to be approved by the shareholders at
the 2025 Annual General Meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company not terminable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of directors
and chief executives of the Company and their associates in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance
(the "SFO")) which have been notified of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the "Model Code") of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) were as follows:

(a) Long positions in shares of the Company

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company
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Percentage of the

Number of issued issued share capital

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares held of the Company
FrisB 817 HARATSRIT

EEMR 51 ZEREAE BEABDL

Mr. Lee Man Yan Beneficial owner 536,250,000 65%
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Ms. Wai Siu Kee Beneficial owner 82,500,000 10%
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(b) Share options
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(b) fBAR#E

Number of ordinary
shares subject to

Percentage of the
issued share capital

Name of director Capacity options granted of the Company

R RE ERD T DT

EEMSR 54 Iy RNEEREE BAEABDL

Mr. Lee Man Yan Beneficial owner 82,500,000 10%
TXBE EnlEEA

Other than disclosed above, none of the directors or the chief executive, & FXFrH TSN - MEBEZEENHSTHAE

or any of their associates, had any interests or short positions in any
shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations, which had to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 14 July 2017,
under which the directors or the chief executive of the Company or
their associates may be granted options to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

Unless approved by the shareholders, the total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted under
the share option scheme of the Company (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each participant in any twelve months period
must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue for the time being.

In addition, any share options to a substantial shareholder and/or an
independent non-executive Director of the Company or any of their
respective associates, and where the total number of shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options granted or to be granted to such
person in any 12-month period exceed 0.1% of the Company's shares
in issue and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
shares on the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, are subject to the
Company's shareholders’ approval in general meeting.

As at the date of this report, the Company has 82,500,000 share options
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme, representing approximately
10% of the shares of the Company in issue.

Detalils of the share option scheme and movement of the share options

during the year are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme disclosed above, at no time during
the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2024, shareholders (other than directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had interests and short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which have been disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company
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Percentage of the

Number of issued issued share capital

Name of shareholder Capacity ordinary shares held of the Company

HARATE BT
RERH A B4 EERHE RAF L
Ms. Kwok Ching Yee Lorinda (Note)  Interest of Spouse 536,250,000 65%

MEHa L (H7E) foiEtEss
Note: Ms. Kwok Ching Yee Lorinda is the spouse of Mr. Lee Man Yan. She is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Mr. Lee Man Yan under the SFO.

Other than disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
has not been notified by any persons (other than directors and chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are disclosed in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements. Some of these transactions also
constituted continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, as
identified below.

Continuing Connected Transactions

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited ("LMP") and its subsidiaries (the
“LMP Group”) is a group beneficially owned and controlled by the family
members of Mr. Lee Man Yan, the ultimate controlling shareholder of
the Company. The below transactions constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company accordingly.

On 29 December 2023, the Company and members of the Group
renewed and entered into certain agreements governing the continuing
connected transactions with LMP and members of the LMP Group (as
the case may be), each for a term of three years commencing from 1
January 2024 and ending on 31 December 2026.

Details of the transactions, the annual caps and the counterparties are
defined and as more particularly described in the announcements of the
Company dated 29 December 2023.

2024 Chemicals Purchase Agreement

The Company or members of the Group sells various industrial chemical
products to LMP or members of the LMP Group. There is no minimum
amount of industrial chemical products required to be purchased by the
LMP Group.

The annual caps for chemicals purchase transactions for the three
financial years ended/ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026
are RMB390,000,000, RMB390,000,000 and RMB390,000,000
respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate transaction
amount of chemicals purchase received/receivable by the Group from
the LMP Group was RMB151,399,000.

2024 Jiangsu Steam and Electricity Agreement

Jiangsu Paper supplies steam and electricity to Jiangsu Chemical. Jiangsu
Chemical provides the steam pipelines, electrical cables and relevant
facilities to transfer steam and electricity to its production facilities. Jiangsu
Chemical is also responsible for the maintenance and repairs of such
steam pipelines, electrical cables and relevant facilities.
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The annual caps for Jiangsu steam and electricity supply transactions for
the three financial years ended/ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and
2026 are RMB120,000,000, RMB130,000,000 and RMB130,000,000
respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate transaction
amount of Jiangsu steam and electricity supply paid/payable by the
Group to the LMP Group was RMB81,913,000.

2024 Jiangxi Steam and Electricity Agreement

Jiangxi Chemical supplies steam and electricity to LMP (or members
of the LMP Group). The LMP Group provides the steam pipelines,
electrical cables and relevant facilities to transfer steam and electricity
to its production facilities. Jiangsu Chemical is also responsible for the
maintenance and repairs of such steam pipelines, electrical cables and
relevant facilities.

The annual caps for Jiangxi steam and electricity supply transactions for
the three financial years ended/ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and
2026 are RMB130,000,000, RMB135,000,000 and RMB135,000,000
respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate transaction
amount of Jiangxi steam and electricity supply received/receivable by the
Group from the LMP Group was RMB100,749,000.

2024 Jiangxi Lease Agreement

Jiangxi Chemical leases to Jiangxi Paper and Jiangxi Tissue certain staff
quarters as well as guestrooms (per actual use basis) in properties
located in Jiangxi.

The annual caps for Jiangxi rental transactions for the three financial years
ended/ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026 are RMB5,000,000,
RMBS5,000,000 and RMB5,000,000 respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate transaction
amount of Jiangxi rental received/receivable by the Group from the LMP
Group was RMB2,933,000.
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2024 Loading Agreement

Jiangxi Paper provides loading and unloading services to Jiangxi Chemical
for its bulk carriers which carry industrial salt and other containers
and Jiangsu Paper provides loading and unloading services to Jiangsu
Chemical for its bulk carriers which carry industrial salt and coal.

The annual caps for loading and unloading transactions for the three
financial years ended/ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026 are
RMB 15,000,000, RMB16,000,000 and RMB17,000,000 respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate transaction
amount of loading and unloading paid/payable by the Group to the LMP
Group was RMB9,970,000.

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive directors of the Company reviewed the continuing
connected transactions disclosed in this report and confirmed that the
transactions were entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iif) according to the relevant agreement governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company's auditor was
engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) "Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued a letter to the Company’s directors
confirming nothing has come to the auditor's attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the continuing connected transactions disclosed in
this report:

(i) have not been approved by the Company’s board of directors;
(i) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, the transactions were not, in all material respects, in

accordance with the pricing policies of the Company;

(i) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing such transactions; or

(iv) have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.
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Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which need
to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Related Party Transactions”,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which
the Company or subsidiaries was a party and in which a director or a
connected entity of a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly and indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

MAIJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five
largest customers were less than 20% of total turnover.

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers were approximately 38% of the Group's total purchases
and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier were
approximately 10% of the Group's total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders which, to the
knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's
issued share capital had any interest in the share capital of any of the five
largest customers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman lIslands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company's operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to

directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out in
Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31 December 2024
and as at the date of this report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required
by the provisions of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong).

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 of the
Company have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touché Tohmatsu
("Deloitte”) who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment, at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wai Siu Kee
Chairman
Hong Kong, 6 March 2025
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Chemical Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 105 to 187,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment, was of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current year. This matter was addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this
matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter
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BRELBH(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FEFT AR ERREREE

Valuation of investment properties

REYRP1GE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter due to the significant judgements and estimation
involved in determining the inputs used in the valuation as
at year end date.

BPRRREDEEERERERFE  EARNEENE
B E kA B EER 2P REAAE MGG

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's investment
properties amounted to HK$212,903,000. The investment
properties were a carpark building and a commercial
building which comprises shops, service apartment and
offices, located in Changshu, the PRC. As disclosed in note
16 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group's
investment properties were stated at fair values based on
valuation performed by an independent professional valuer
(the "Valuer”). The fair value of the investment properties
was derived using income capitalisation method. The
valuation was dependent on certain significant unobservable
inputs that involve significant judgements and estimation by
the management of the Group, including market rents and
reversionary yields.
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the investment
properties included:

SREMEME  BARTZEFERE

«  Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the Valuer;

AHEEERMBERE - e REEIE

«  Understanding the Valuer's valuation methodology,
significant assumptions adopted, critical judgmental
areas and significant unobservable inputs used in the
valuation; and
THREERMNBERE - RANEARRRK - B
BRI ERERANERTAIAREARE &

«  Assessing the reasonableness of the market rents and
reversionary yields used by the Valuer in the valuation
of investment properties by (i) checking the details of
rental to the underlying existing tenancy agreement;
(i) comparing with relevant market information on the
market rents achieved and reversionary yields adopted
in other similar properties in the neighbourhood.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

«  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

«  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

«  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concem.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

«  Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lee, Carmen Kar Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

6 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GEBERREMZEHBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE2024F12A31HIEFE

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mzt FHET FHET
Revenue — Chemical WA —{£T 3,922,260 3,980,919
Revenue — Property WA -3 28,573 69,662
Total revenue WA KRR 586 3,950,833 4,050,581
Cost of sales — Chemical HERA—{T (2,769,404)  (2,944,692)
Cost of sales — Property HERA— % (17,385) (43,718)
Total cost of sales SHE AL (2,786,789)  (2,988,410)
Gross profit EA 1,164,044 1,062,171
Other income H A 7 62,895 79,946
Other gains and losses HAbWas R &R 8 (1,349) (13,619)
Selling and distribution costs HE R A (202,556) (209,433)
General and administrative expenses THER (275,183) (258,700)
Research and development costs B AR (135,796) (120,751)
Finance costs BMEKA 10 (21,899) (39,282)
Net exchange gain (loss) BE 5 R e (B518) 2,354 (6,977)
Share of results of joint ventures and JEIGE S R E b EFER
associates 3,688 543
Profit before taxation R 75 AT ) 596,198 493,898
Income tax expense FR{SHisZ 9 (113,914) (93,233)
Profit for the year FREF 10 482,284 400,665
Other comprehensive (expense) income  HM2H (ZH) W
ltems that will not be reclassified to profit or ~ BEE TS EH 7 EZEr2
loss: IEH -
Exchange differences arising on translation EinE mEERE S =5 (114,983) (53,825)
Revaluation gain upon transfer of property, M - BELRBEEZRE
plant and equipment to investment W3 2 B E
properties - 1,792
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to B {Z R[4 E# 7 3E 2 15752
profit or loss: IBH -
Share of other comprehensive expense of joint (G &4 REE ¥t 2 E
ventures and associates X (332) (418)
Other comprehensive expense for FREMEEXZH
the year (115,315) (52,451)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREHE WAL 366,969 348214
Earnings per share BRREF 11
Basic (HK cents) AR () 58.5 48.6
Diluted (HK cents) g (BL) 58.5 47.8
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e AR R

At 31 December 2024 720249 12A831H

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FExT FBT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - B MR 15 5,134,140 4,706,893
Investment properties WEWZE 16 212,903 217,582
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 194,051 196,132
Intangible assets BV EE 18 79,461 83,885
Deposits paid for the acquisition of property, ~ FBEEWIZ - HE R&EHE 2
plant and equipment BEfET& 41,900 166,330
Interests in joint ventures BEDE I ER 19 99,881 98,780
Interests in associates B R 20 25,180 23,888
Deferred tax assets RIEFIAE 2= 9 18,980 19,908
Goodwill Bl 22 2,537 2,593
5,809,033 5515991
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories =& 23 600,940 787,749
Properties held for sale FEMHE 24 8,267 23,806
Trade, bills and other receivables JEWE 5 EEREMFE 25 467,907 408,230
Tax recoverable B dEE 3,463 1,321
Amounts due from joint ventures JEUE B ERIA 21 139 11,140
Amount due from an associate JFE LA Bh A 1 SEFIA 2] 2,329 1,796
Amounts due from related companies JEULRAEB A A RIA 26 12,616 15,268
Derivative financial instrument PTESBTA 41c 1,089 =
Short-term bank deposits with original maturity  RIAZ 58 A 838 = E A &9
more than three months REHERIRITIE AR 27 67,879 =
Bank balances and cash RITEBRNIRE 27 222,781 263,666
1,387,410 1,512,976
CURRENT LIABILITIES nREEE
Trade and other payables e E 5 KR EAhFIA 28 493,417 383,345
Contract liabilities AHEE 29 41,446 59,102
Amount due to a joint venture FEREEREENRIEA 21 514 525
Amounts due to related companies FERTRAE A AIFRIA 26 9,310 8,551
Taxation payable JERTAEIE 11,244 46,167
Lease liabilities HEBE 30 2,308 2,359
Bank borrowings RITRER 31 587,937 671,767
1,146,176 1,171,816
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 241,234 341,160
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #AEERABHERE 6,050,267 5,857,151
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Wai Siu Kee
BOH
CHAIRMAN
FE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 105 to 187 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 6 March
2025 and are signed on its behalf by:
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2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
it FHT FH&TT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBAE
Other payables FETE M 7R0IE 28 21,798 24,897
Lease liabilities HEBE 30 2,378 4,789
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEE 9 29,680 27,710
Bank borrowings RITER 31 60,441 -
114,297 57,396
NET ASSETS EEFE 5,935,970 5,799,755
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRRHE
&7 32 82,500 82,500
e 5,853,470 5,717,255
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 5,935,970 5,799,755

FI105BEF187EMB AV HBHREERN
20253 A6AKEES BB REET LA
THEERRERE :

Lee Man Yan
E 3
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
BEEHNITE



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE20245F12A31HIEFE

Non- Safety Share
Share Share distributable fund Translation ~options Special Other  Retained
capital  premium feserve Teserve Teserve Teserve Teserve feserve profits Total
BE  ROEE FUARER Z2ESRE  EXHE BRERE  BIRE  HeEE  REEA @
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK§000  HK$'0000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wit TEn T T T T T T T TEr TEr
(Note ()~ (Note (i) (Note (i)
wa0)  (wH) (i)
At 1 January 2023 #2023%1A18 82,500 20307 980,162 117 (335,636) 154200 (97,362) (686) 4829439 5633041
Other comprehensive (expenses) income for the year — FREM2E (it iz - = - - (4283) - - 1792 - (52450)
Profitfor the year EREH = = = = - - - - 400665 400665
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year  £M2E (%) KE4HE - - - - (54243) = = 1792 400665 348214
Cash dividends recognised as distibution BERZREREA R 12 - - - - - - - - (1815000  (1815500)
Transfer to non-distributable reserve EAMA KGR - - 53,189 - - - - - (53189 =
Appropriation of safety fund resenve BAZ2ECRE - - - 249% - - - - (249%) -
Utlisation of safety fund resenve BlR2ESHE - - - (4329) - - - = 24329 =
At 31 December 2023 20235128318 82,500 20307 1033351 784 (389879) 154200 (97,362) 1,106 4994748 5799755
Other comprehensive expenses for the year EREHEETH - - - - (115315) - - - - (115315)
Profit for the year EREH = = = = - - - - 48284 482284
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year — FRZE (1) Mz LE - - - - (5315 - - - 482284 366969
Cash dividends recognised as distribution BRRLREREAR 12 = - - - - - - - (2310000  (231,000)
Undaimed dividends reverted to the Company AEERREAGAAR - - - - - - - - 26 26
Transfer to non-distributable reserve EAR S RGEE - - 65,798 - - - - - (65,798) -
Appropriation of safety fund reseve BAREECHRE - - - 21,046 - - - - (204) -
Utiisation of safety fund resenve BER2ECRE - - - (20603) - - - - 20603 -
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 82,500 20307 1,099,149 1227 (505,194) 154,200 (97,362) 1,106 5180037 5935970
Notes: i
()  According to the relevant laws in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"), wholly () RIRFEARLME ([HEDERER - EFEH
foreign-owned enterprises in the PRC are required to transfer at least 10% of their net INE R EALEER D100 T8 F (REPRE St
profits after taxation, as determined under the PRC accounting regulations, to a non- MEER)ETAD KGR - BEREERES T
distributable reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of their registered capital. BA50% © MBS KA B BR AT A S A o
The transfer to this reserve must be made before the distribution of a dividend to equity TR DIKFEAAIEREAEFEBR(INE) - K
owners. The non-distributable reserve can be used to offset the previous years' losses, ERRIN - TR DIKFEER TR °
if any. The non-distributable reserve is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.
(i)  The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value (i)~ A&EZ 4RI #E T AR FZEE2001F12 42 & H
of the share capital issued by the Company and the nominal value of the share capital EHRMKE 2 HBA R BRAREEARREHET
of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in December 2001. BAHEZ 25 °
(iiiy  Pursuant to the relevant regulation in the PRC, certain subsidiaries of the Company are (i) RIFHEIERARE - Bl AR E 2 TAAFREK

required to provide for safety reserve based on revenue. These subsidiaries utilised the
safety reserve when they improve, transform and repair their safety protection facilities
and equipment.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

Annual Report 2024 F#

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FHETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES e
Profit before taxation B AR B Al 596,198 493,898
Adjustments for: HE
Depreciation of property, plant and M BERZBEINE
equipment 70,548 56,016
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 5,963 5,724
Finance costs BB AR 21,899 39,282
Amortisation of intangible assets | B 2 BN 2,581 2,640
Write down of inventories FEZRE 6,442 7,203
Write down of properties held for sale HEMEZRE 1,252 =
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and BREMHE - WERZEFEX
equipment 2,438 2,667
Net fair value changes on derivative financial ~ $TA£ & BT A2 AT EFE
instrument (1,089) 2,109
Decrease in fair value of investment properties % & ¥1% 2 A FERH - 8,843
Interest income FLEWA (4,585) (4,536)
Share of results of joint ventures and associates fEfh & & (b3 KB & P E (3,688) (543)
Operating cash flows before movements in LEECHPR CRERT
working capital WemE 697,959 613,303
Decrease in inventories FERD 517,178 412,013
Decrease in properties held for sale FEWERRD 13,987 42,831
Increase in trade, bills and other receivables JEWE 5 - RiE R EAFRIAE N (50,127) (56,906)
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from FEM B s&E 1~ m FRIER A (35 0)
related companies 2,956 (2,378)
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables B & 5 & H thFIEE O ) 40,069 (130,867)
Decrease in contract liabilities SRBERD (18,752) (9,539)
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to JERT & R Al FIag O )
related companies 564 (2,646)
Cash generated from operations MEEIRASIRE 1,203,834 865,811
Income tax paid EERE (147,725) (109,360)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RE&EKEHESFHE 1,056,109 756,451
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXK
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BEKRR (555,790) (177,587)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEWE BEARRBZEMNT2
plant and equipment (209,034) (370,512)
Payment for right-of-use assets BETREEE (9,264) (66,143)
Addition to investment properties NEWREWE - (9,212)
(Advance to) repayment from an associate GEPEZ(ERER (572) 3,736
Repayment from joint ventures B ZENR 11,001 3,244
Proceeds from disposal of property, BREYE - WERZETEHIE
plant and equipment 485 356
Payments for settlement of derivative financial A& T4 SR T AN FUEFH
instrument - (2,109)
Interest received BUFE 4,585 4,536
Placement of bank deposits with original TFERRAA S B B B3R = A A AR Hf
maturity more than three months HRITIF (67,879) =
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXKFIARESEHE (826,468) (613,691)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES eSS
Dividends paid EAIERE (230,974) (181,455)
Repayment of bank borrowings EBRITENR (772,210) (909,396)
Interest paid EAFLE (21,899) (39,282)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEaE (2,360) (2,407)
Bank borrowings raised ERBITER 762,010 834,175
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES REXIEFH AR FHE (265,433) (298,365)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERREEEYWHD
EQUIVALENTS (35,792) (155,605)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHAZRERBESEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 263,666 421,696
EFFECT OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN EXSBH o HE
EXCHANGE RATE (5,093) (2,425)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND SARZREREBESSEY -
OF THE YEAR, represented by bank BSRITREBRERAS
balances and cash 222,781 263,666
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e TSR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

GENERAL

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its ultimate controlling
party is Mr. Lee Man Yan, who is the chief executive officer and
executive director of the Company. The address of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed
in the section “Corporate Information” to the annual report.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi ("RMB"), while
the consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK dollars”) as the Company is listed in Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 39.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group's annual period beginning on
1 January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification and
and HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent

and HKFRS 7 Electricity®
Amendments to HKFRS Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
10 and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture!
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting

Standards — Volume 112
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements*

l Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
N Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new HKFRS mentioned below, the directors of the
Company anticipate that the application of all other amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in
financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements ("HKAS 1"). This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while
carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation of
information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures. Minor amendments to HKAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also
made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard is
expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss
and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group is in
the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation to the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain properties and
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving
the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Material accounting policy information

The material accounting policy information are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses

and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the joint arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the joint arrangement.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used
for equity method purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, investments in associates or joint ventures are initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associates or joint ventures.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interest in the associate or joint venture that are not
related to the Group.

115

3.

Annual Report 2024 F#

RBGEMBHRRNEERTESH
BUR (&)

3.2 EAEHBRER(E)

REZTEREETECRE
BECEDREASEHERAEX
TEN—AEE -

AECETE—EHALEE MY
BRI N 2 RN =R | A=k
BZIAHE LR FEERNER -

]]

HEPERESE ﬁ%Z%F&ﬁF
KB BETIARER AT ARG MR
i’*:z LARE RS ?EJ%EEZ BEPERE
EREMBRER I AEE RN A
M’\ /RTZ %&%ﬁ-ﬁﬁhﬂ?%ﬁ

B R - RiEER

ﬁﬁéﬁﬁiA%ﬁ%mhéﬁ*W
?ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ??éﬁﬁﬁ“ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁm i
REBELAZE  UEREAEERE
HEERENEELENEE A
2 EHES ©

EEEERRASENBELRS
BECRETR SR - EBELE
HEEREETRHMELNFE
REERAEENGEPBHRERT
ﬁEE’u 1B R BN 6% (8] 4 R O B
BhRIEEDENES



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 Leases at inception
of the contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
The Group also applies the recognition exemption for lease of
low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-
use assets that meet the definition of investment properties
and inventory are presented within “investment properties”
and “properties held for sale”, respectively.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. After the
commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
operating leases. Rental income from operating leases is

recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.

Assets and liabilities of the Group are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income (“OCI") and accumulated in equity
under the heading of “translation reserve”. Such exchange
differences accumulated in the translation reserve are not
reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowings that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in
the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate
on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount of
the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and
rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets as
reduced deprecation expenses.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are reasonably certain to become receivable.
Government grants relating to compensation of expenses are
deducted from the related expenses, other government grants
are presented under “other income”.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. RAGSUBBRNEERTEST
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY BER(#E)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 EASHBERERE)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
national statutory social security insurance scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payment arrangements
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to a director

Equity-settled share-based payments to a director are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity, under the heading of “share
options reserve”.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, and
interests in joint ventures and associates, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of investment properties are presumed to
be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group's
investment property portfolios and concluded that the
Group's investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the directors
of the Company have determined that the presumption of
investment properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use
in the production of goods or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Properties, plant and equipment in the course of construction
for production or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
other than construction in progress less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment loss. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit ("CGU")) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount
of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the CGU or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the CGU or the group of CGUs. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific
identification basis including allocation of the related
development expenditure incurred and where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for the properties less estimated cost
to completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

«  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

125

3.

Annual Report 2024 F#

RBGEMBHRRNEERTESH
BUR (&)

3.2 EAEHBRER(E)

&

FETRRARAZHRFEZBRE
FIHNFR - FERAREASTHERE
E o RRFEREFEGEER
ERF TR TR 2 2 RB A A R HE
PR - HEMBEXABEHE
BEREIEIBERARAEEHER
WAELEMIHEERA -

FEYH

FFEWMRTIARA K ] 23R F{EM
FHZBIEEARR o RATIIRIFE
BEEETFIBED BN ERIEEH
XM REEENBRNERMZ
fEEMRA o TR FEER—&KE
BRRT YR 2 BT EER AT
PR AT B2 B RTARA © 3
EMERNBIEHERREHRIEE
AR A EBHER B BELENIE
KB o

Z@TA
TREEZ D ENEKE

HE OGS BAER AR
SR AEE

- EHESRRKEAHNBRDR
EBEAABEZEREE
R

. ANBRAERFERMEL
ARG RARENEAEZFE

ZBE °



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling the financial asset; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit and loss “FVTPL".

0)

(i)

Bills receivable measured as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for
receivables measured as at FVTOCI as a result of interest
income calculated using the effective interest method
are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes in the
carrying amount of these receivables are recognised
in OCI and accumulated under the heading of FVTOCI
reserve. Impairment allowances (if any) are recognised
in profit or loss with corresponding adjustment to
OCI without reducing the carrying amounts of these
receivables. When these receivables are derecognised,
the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
OClI are reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial assets measured at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOC! are measured at FVTPL.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(it)  Financial assets measured at FVTPL (Continued)

Financial assets measured at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the heading of “other gains and losses".

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on lease receivables and financial
assets (including trade and other receivables, bills receivable,
amounts due from joint ventures/an associate/related
companies, short-term bank deposits with original maturity
more than three months and bank balances) and loan
commitments which are subject to impairment under HKFRS
9 financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9"). The amount of ECL is
updated at the end of each reporting period to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and bills receivable.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL (“12m ECL"), unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. RAGSUBBRNEERTEST
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY BUER(#E)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 EASHBERERE)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, the loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Except for bills receivable measured at FVTOCI, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
For bills receivable measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance
is recognised in OCI and accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve
without reducing the carrying amount of these receivables.
Such amount represents the changes in the FVTOCI reserve in
relation to accumulated loss allowance.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. In addition, if the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
does not retain control over the transferred asset, the Group
derecognises the financial asset and recognises separately
as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or
retained in the transfer. If the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of bills receivable measured at FVTOCI, the

cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. RAGSUBBRNEERTEST
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY BUER(#E)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 EASHBERERE)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts
due to a joint venture/related companies and bank borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instrument

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the directors
of the Company are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Derecognition of discounted or endorsed bills

The Group conducted certain bill discounting with several banks in
the PRC (the “Discounted Bills") and also endorsed certain bills to
its suppliers in order to settle trade payables due to these suppliers
(the “Endorsed Bills"). As stated in the material accounting policy
information in note 3.2, the Group derecognises a transferred
financial asset only when substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset has been transferred or if the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset.
The directors had made an assessment on whether to derecognise
the Discounted Bills and Endorsed Bills at the time of discounting
and endorsing respectively by applying the aforementioned
accounting policies, taking into consideration of credit and interest
rate risks of the related bills. In the opinion of the directors,
the Discounted Bills and Endorsed Bills meet the conditions of
derecognition in accordance with the Group's accounting policy
and therefore the Group derecognises the Discounted Bills and
Endorsed Bills at the time of discounting and endorsement
respectively.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Fair values of investment properties

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the Group's
investment properties was HK$212,903,000. The valuation of
investment properties was based on valuation on these properties
conducted by an independent professional valuer using property
valuation techniques which involve certain assumptions of market
conditions as disclosed in Note 16. Favourable or unfavourable
changes to these assumptions would result in changes in the
valuation of the Group's investment properties and corresponding
adjustments to the fair value changes reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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REVENUE WA

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers EFEHNWBADE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Caustic soda B 1,612,206 1,585,516
Chloromethane products Sy 921,461 887,382
Fluorochemical products I EM 317,382 201,559
Hydrogen peroxide BAELE 352,491 423,419
Liquified chlorine RILE 13,662 13,690
Polymers 29 FME 409,537 543,872
Styrene acrylic latex surface sizing agent RN B 85,037 85,990
Lithium-ion battery additives SR St A AN 3,898 12,818
Others Hith 206,586 226,673
Manufacture and sale of chemical products SEMEE TER 3,922,260 3,980,919
Sale of properties YIEHE 24,935 67,552
Revenue from contracts with customers EPEHBA 3,947,195 4,048,471
Rental income e WA 3,638 2,110
Total revenue WAEFT 3,950,833 4,050,581

All of the Group's revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised at a point in time and most of the revenue is derived

from the PRC.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

5.

REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Manufacture and sale of chemical products with product
delivery services

The Group manufactures and sells chemical products directly to
customers. Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
been transferred, being when the goods have been shipped to the
customer's specified location (delivery). The normal credit term is
7 to 90 days upon delivery, except for those sales settled by bills
which mature within 180 days.

Sale of properties

Revenue from sale of properties is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtained control of the completed property,
being at the point that the completed properties are transferred to
the customer.

The Group receives certain percentage of the contract value as
deposits from customers when they sign the sale and purchase
agreements and receives the remainder within 120 days from the
date of agreements. The deposits and advance payment schemes
result in contract liabilities being recognised until the customer
obtains control of the completed property.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

For both the manufacture and sale of chemical products
with product delivery services and the sale of properties, the
performance obligation is expected to be completed within one
year. As permitted under HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts as at 31 December 2024 is not disclosed.
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OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group manages its different businesses by their unique
attributes. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, below describes the operations in each
of the Group's identified reportable operating segments as at 31
December 2024 and 2023:

«  Chemical: manufacture and sale of chemical products

«  Property: development and sale of properties, properties held
for rental, and supply of related properties services

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group’s most senior executive
management monitors the results attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to revenue directly generated by those segments
and the expenses directly incurred by those segments. Segment
results form the basis of measurement used for assessing segment
performance and represent profit or loss before other income, other
gains and losses, finance costs, net exchange gain (loss), share of
results of joint ventures and associates, income tax and items not
specifically attributed to individual reportable segments, such as
unallocated head office and corporate expenses.

Assets and liabilities are centrally-managed and assessed by
the Group’s most senior executive management. No segment
information on assets and liabilities is therefore presented.

For “chemical” operations, the information reported to the Group's
most senior executive management is further categorised into
different locations within the PRC, each of which is considered as a
separate operating segment by the Group’s most senior executive
management. For segment reporting, these individual operating
segments have been aggregated into a single reportable segment as
they share similar economic characteristics. For “property” operation,
no operating segment has been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segment.

Segment information below is presented in a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally to the
Group's most senior executive management for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. RENT(E)
(a) Segment revenues and results () ZHBRARESE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 B£E2024F12A31ALFE
Chemical Property Consolidated
ftT L/ wa
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET FET
Revenue from external customers  2RESNEERF Z YA 3,922,260 28,573 3,950,833
Segment results DEHEER 591,182 (201) 590,981
Unallocated head office and RO BARIREEE
corporate expenses EDEEE] (40,472)
Other income HABA 62,895
Other gains and losses Hbias BB (1,349)
Finance costs BhE A (21,899)
Net exchange gain R RET G 2,354
Share of results of joint ventures JEIG & S R E
and associates E 3,688
Profit before taxation FR A% AR A 596,198
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE2023F12A31HILFE
Chemical Property  Consolidated
ftT IES fre
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT T T
Revenue from external customers R E4MNEES 2 WA 3,980,919 69,662 4,050,581
Segment results D EBELE 522,112 4,522 526,634
Unallocated head office and RO BRARIREESE
corporate expenses FRFRE (53,347)
Other income Eablg A 79,946
Other gains and losses HbUgzs RE1E (13,619)
Finance costs BLE KA (39,282)
Net exchange loss b 5 &1 (6977)
Share of results of joint ventures e g R R EPE
and associates ES 543
Profit before taxation FREE RT3 A 493,898

136



6.

OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(0

(d)

Geographical information

The Group's operations of the two segments are both located
in the PRC. Most of the Group’s revenue from external
customers is derived from the PRC and most of the Group's
non-current assets are located in the PRC for both years.
Revenue from major customers

None of the corresponding revenue from customers contribute
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Annual Report 2024 F 3k

REDE(E)

(b)

()

(d)

HEER
ANEERMRIED S ESH R
Bl - EEMEFE  fBXBMHKRE
INBRE Z AR BB & AE K
D2 IEREEEHMNAE o
REXEFFHNE
HZE2024F 12 A31H 1F X202345F
A8 IEFE @ BEXFHA
FEW S AREEERSERBS
10% °

HthpEHER

FFADEEEA BN

HZE20245128318LLEE

Chemical Property

T LIES

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET THET

Depreciation e 75,019 1,410

Amortisation By 2,663 -

Write-down on inventories FEZRE 6,442 1,252
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BZE2023F 12318 ILFE

Chemical Property

tT ES

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Depreciation e 57,033 4,622

Amortisation 5K 2,724 =

Write-down on inventories FEZRIE 7,203 =
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e VIS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

7.

OTHER INCOME 7. HfblgA
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Bank interest income RITH B UA 4,375 4,048
Interest income from a joint venture adnal 2 MEWA 210 488
Government grants TR T 478 B 37,484 64,660
Scrap sales BEmm i A 434 1,278
Electricity and steam income, net B REFFRA 10,513 5,085
Rental income He A 3,641 3,032
Others Ef 6,238 1,355
62,895 79,946
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HttWmERER
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Net fair value changes on derivative financial ~ TS BT A2 A FELE)FHE
instrument 1,089 (2,109)
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and BREME - WERREFELX
equipment (2,438) (2,667)
Decrease in fair value of investment properties & 13 2 A B - (8,843)
(1,349) (13,619)
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE FriSdi &z i
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
The charge comprises: X HEE
Current tax NERTR IR
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") HR B ZEATIS AR 102,824 80,294
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") o B T bR (E R 2,366 5,101
PRC withholding tax on dividend income A AR BRI A TR 18,563 39,577
Hong Kong Profits Tax HEBNER - 538
Overprovision in prior years — EIT VAR E %4 — R B ZEFTISH (528) (2,644)
Overprovision in prior years — LAT AR E 242 — R B+ I8 (E R (12,235) -
Deferred tax — current year BIERIR — NFERET IR 2,924 (29,633)
113,914 93,233

The Group’s major business is in the PRC. Under the Law of
the PRC on EIT and its Implementation Regulation, the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to corporate income tax at the
rate of 25% (2023: 25%) except that four (2023: four) of these
subsidiaries are entitled to a favourable EIT rate of 15% (2023:
15%) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, represented by the excess of sale
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs. Prescribed direct
costs are defined to include costs of land use rights, development
and construction costs, as well as certain costs relating to the
property development. According to the State Administration of
Taxation’s official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally upon
sale of the properties, followed by final ascertainment of the gain at
the completion of the properties development.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated

assessable profits for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

According to Cai Shui 2008 No.1 published by the State
Administration of Taxation (“SAT"), dividend distributed out of the
profits generated since 1 January 2008 by a PRC entity to a non-
PRC resident shall be subject to the PRC EIT pursuant to Articles
3 and 27 of the Income Tax Law Concerning Foreign Investment
Enterprises and Foreign Enterprises and Article 91 of the Detailed
Rules for Implementation of the Income Tax Law for Enterprises
with Foreign Investment and Foreign Enterprises. Under the Double
Taxation Arrangement between Hong Kong and the Mainland China,
the withholding tax rate applicable to the Group is 5%.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

FREB (&)

BERRFGHER((ERHRELER]) T
Bt 7 B R 7200855 198 3014+ - B 20084F
1TA1RR  FREEEEMEENGF
FREFREBEFERSBRS @ BRE
IR E R ERMINE S EERASEINR
27E LA RSNERE B EFINE S EFTS
FAEmAAAISE ZE 2 3 T8+ Bt
EHEH - REFEFHEAHAE R
SEERFEORTE - AEEBANTENH
K550 o

FARERX GG Ra REBEEE
SRR AT AMESRRINT

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Profit before taxation BRE R A 596,198 493,898
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% S b B RS R 25005 & RITE
(2023: 25%) (20234 : 25%) 149,050 123,474
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures ~ FE{EA &b EMBE D EELE
and associates 2B E (922) (136)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible in T FE AR AR N AT 077 2 H
determining taxable profit 2B E 14,434 16,035
Tax effect of income not taxable in determining 7 & & "R Bt i FII B TH 7B FE AR R U
taxable profit 2B E (1,178) (4,852)
Effect of concessionary rate granted to PRC MEAREEEREZZE
subsidiaries (88,016) (74,471)
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries HihREmMEER 2 &
operating in other jurisdictions (281) (616)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences  RIER ARG FIE =R 2 575
not recognised R 29,032 21,288
Overprovision in respect of prior years RIS E %R (12,763) (2,644)
Withholding tax on dividend income R EIHTE A RMRE & F 2 FEIF 22,192 10,054
Land Appreciation Tax T b ER 2,366 5,101
Income tax expense for the year FAMETZH 113,914 93,233
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

Annual Report 2024 F#

9. FIEHXH(E)

AT B E AR T

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET T
Deferred tax assets EEHREE 18,980 19,908
Deferred tax liabilities FEFIAEE (29,680) (27,710)
(10,700) (7,802)
The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets UTAEXZELEHE(BE EERFEA
recognised and movement thereon during the current and prior Ko £ BRI R S D -
reporting period:
Accelerated
Withholding tax Right-of-use
tax depreciation assets Others Total
BB NBERENE GAREE Hitr CE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
(Note (i) (Note (i) (Note (i)
(Hizt() (Hrzt (i) (Hizt (i)
At 1 January 2023 #2023%1 A1H (38890)  (18295) 20,647 993) (37531
Credited (charged) to profit or loss & A (F08) &8 & 29,524 48 (519) 580 29,633
Exchange realignment B 5 BE 112 198 (220) 6 9%
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 128318 (9,254) (18,049) 19,908 (407) (7,802)
(Charged) credited to profit or loss ~ (¥IB% st AZ B2 (3,629) 974 (509) 240 (2,924)
Exchange realignment IS 74 366 (419) 5 26
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 (12,809)  (16,709) 18,980 (162)  (10,700)
Notes: izt :
()  Atthe end of the reporting period, the Group had retained profits of certain PRC () REEHR FEKE2ETHENE QA

(i)

(i)

subsidiaries amounting to HK$1,386,685,000 (2023: HK$1,509,845,000).
Deferred tax liabilities have been recognised in respect of HK$256,160,000
(2023: HK$185,076,000) of such accumulated profits. No deferred tax liabilities
has been recognised in respect of the remaining HK$1,130,525,000 (2023:
HK$1,324,769,000) of such retained profits as it is the intention of the Directors
of the Group to retain certain earnings within these subsidiaries.

This related to the temporary differences arising from right-of-use assets
acquired. In prior years, the Group received government grants relating to
acquisitions of land use rights, which have been presented by deducting the
grants in arriving at the carrying amounts of the leasehold land. The grants were
recognised in profit or loss over the useful lives of the relevant assets as reduced
depreciation charges.

This is the deferred tax derived from the cumulative fair value gains before the
development of the relevant land of the property project in previous years, and it
is expected to be credited to profit or loss when the properties held for sale are
sold or written-down.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. FREF
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHT
Profit for the year has been arrived at after FREMEMNRGEA)
charging (crediting):
Directors’ emoluments (Note 13) EEREHMHETI3) 16,288 17,629
Other staff costs (excluding directors): Hh B TRA(EERRIN) ¢
Salaries and other benefits e LHEMER 353,378 328,430
Retirement benefit schemes contributions RUKEHET B R 19,108 18,968
Total staff costs B TR AR 388,774 365,027
Capitalised in inventories EFFATEZ&HE (205,251) (212,228)
183,523 152,799
Finance costs: BB
Interest on bank borrowings RITERZ M EX 21,719 39,224
Lease liabilities HEAE 180 58
21,899 39,282
Auditors' remuneration LGN
— Audit services — B RIS 1,905 2,020
— Non-audit services — JEBET IR 522 460
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses EERAXENEFEXRAN(BTE
(including write-down of inventories and FERSEMEIREDHIR
properties held for sale of HK$6,442,000 6,442,000/ 7T K& 1,252,000/ 7T
and HK$1,252,000, respectively (2023: (20234 : 5 51/7,203,000% 7T
HK$7,203,000 and nil, respectively)) ) 2,786,789 2,988,410
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% « BE REE 2 ITE 391,062 389,580
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEZITE 7,042 6,640
Amortisation of intangible assets BIVEE 2 #H 2,663 2,724
Total depreciation and amortisation WENEBEAS 400,767 398,944
Capitalised in inventories EtAFEZERE (321,675) (334,564)
79,092 64,380
Gross rental income from investment KREMENRESHA
properties (3,638) (2,110)
Less: direct operating expenses incurred for B BFEEESBANKRE
investment properties that generate MERMEENEEESE
rental income during the year ER 2,103 1,254
(1,535) (856)

142



EARNINGS PER SHARE 11.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year of HK$482,284,000 (2023: HK$400,665,000)
and 825,000,000 (2023: 825,000,000) shares in issue during the
year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit
for the year and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue after adjusting for the potential dilutive effect caused by the
share options granted under the share option scheme.
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BRER

ERERNBFDEERARNBDEBEAZ
F N & F 482,284,000 /& 7T ( 2023
F : 400,665,00078 70 ) & B B 17 R 8K
825,000,000 % (2023 4F : 825,000,000
BROVERTE o

FREERNGFHEIRIEARBBRIRE
B M & B BT IR 19 B AR AR B
B RBBRAER 8IR L BT
REBERE Y BF LA -

Number of shares IR
2024 2023
‘000 ‘000
TR FAR
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ SLEtEEREARBFINE 2
for the purpose of basic earnings per share E RN T8 825,000 825,000
Effect of deemed issue of shares under the RIEAR R R EARES 2
Company's share option scheme WRIERD BTN T E - 13,289
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ FistESREERFME 2
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share 3% HNEFH 2K 825,000 838,289

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the computation of diluted
earnings per share does not assume the exercise of the Company's
share options because the exercise price of those options was
higher than the average market price for the shares during the year.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

12. DIVIDENDS 12. K2
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Dividends recognised as distributions during ~~ FREER DK ZIRE. :
the year:
Final dividend of HK17 cents per share for BZE2022F 12 A3 1B IEFEARE
the year ended 31 December 2022 B ER 7781 - 140,250
Interim dividend of HK5 cents per share for BZE2023F 12 A3 1B ILFEHH
the year ended 31 December 2023 IR B BRR5EAL - 41,250
Final dividend of HK14 cents per share for B ZE2023F 12 A31HIEFERE
the year ended 31 December 2023 REER1 48 115,500 -
Interim dividend of HK14 cents per share for ~ #Z2024%12 A31H [EFEH
the year ended 31 December 2024 RS 48 115,500 -
231,000 181,500
A final dividend of HK15 cents (2023: HK14 cents) per share EEECERREBE20245F 1231
amounting to HK$123,750,000 (2023: HK$115,500,000) in BIEFEZ RAREEZKR 1512023
respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 has been proposed F 1 147%11) $£123,750,000/8 75 (2023
by the directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in % : 115,500,000 7T) + HEAFRREL
the forthcoming annual general meeting. B RITZRF ARG LI -
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’' EMOLUMENTS 13. EERFETHRAEEMH
Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments for the year, disclosed BEERFETHABRAEE 2FH MR
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong BE A TR B R ES R ARG EE 0
Companies Ordinance, are as follows: T~
Salaries Discretionary
and other bonus
Fees benefits payments Total
Fek 305
e HipEF ReXf aFt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THERT FTHET THET
(Note)
(Hiat)
Year ended 31 December B Z2024F12831H
2024 HEE
Ms. Wai Siu Kee ArmiLt 960 1,200 4,823 6,983
Mr. Lee Man Yan (“Mr. Lee")* ENREE(EEED 3,000 1,175 - 4,175
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning BIEE LS 600 1,022 1,150 2,772
Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi P BRETZAZIR A FaH* 147 1,671 - 1,818
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron B8S Jp PGSR T EBBs A Faht 180 - - 180
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei TBRAE - 180 - - 180
Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk** FiRiE R 180 - - 180
5,247 5,068 5,973 16,288
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’' EMOLUMENTS

13. EERFERITHRASHME)

(CONTINUED)
Contributions
Selaries  toretirement  Discretionary
and other benefit bonus
Fees benefits schemes payments Total
Gek RN (i
e EftfEA EIF Uiios #EXfH CEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT AT Thx TAT TAT
(Note)
(W)
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE2023F12A31HLFE
Ms. Wai Siu Kee foBLL 960 1,200 - 4,007 6,167
Mr. Lee Man Yan (“Mr, Lee")* ENRRE(FREN 3,000 1,199 - = 4199
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning BEERAE 600 1,051 1 - 1,652
Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi jp B AR = 4996 = = 4996
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 885 /» Fl T Eapst Tar 180 - - - 180
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony* TRUR A 105 - - - 105
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei MxRExE 180 - - - 180
Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk* TRGEREM 150 - - - 150
5175 8,446 1 4,007 17,629
& Mr. Lee is also the chief executive officer of the Company. z FRERBTRARRZBBRITE -

* Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony resigned on 2 August 2023.
** Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk was appointed on 1 March 2023.

*#%  Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi sp was redesignated to non-executive director on

8 March 2024.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group. The non-executive director and the
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above

were for their services as directors of the Company.

Note: Discretionary bonus payments were determined with regards to individual

performance. None of the directors waived any emoluments in both years.
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14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year,
four (2023: four) were directors of the Company, details of whose
remuneration are set out in Note 13. Details of the remuneration for
the year of the remaining one (2023: one) highest paid employee
who is neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

14.
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BLERESHMAL

FRN - AEBRERSFMALH @ 45
(20234 : 4R) BANRIES » Ef&
HEHRHEIZ - R T 1B R EHE
B (2023%F : 18) BIERNRRIESFHIT
BAEE, - EFFFHBHOT -

follows:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Salaries and other benefits e REMmEF 1,479 1,522
Their remuneration fell within the following bands: HEMN AT E
2024 2023
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AE
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 HK$1,000,001 & HK$1,500,000 1 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 HK$1,500,001 & HK$2,000,000 - 1

No compensation was paid to the above individuals and directors
during the current year and prior year for the loss of office or as an
inducement or upon joining the Company.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BERRE

Buildings Furniture,
and leasehold  fixtures and Motor Plantand  Construction
improvements  equipment vehicles  machinery  in progress Total
BFREE &
NERE  RERRR RE EREREE EBIR ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT Thx ThT TAT TAT
cosT B
At 1 January 2023 R202351 A1 733,228 58,259 17,871 5982,747 806576 7,598,681
Additions AE 112 9,287 1,488 58818 362,921 432,626
Disposals e = (176) (1474) (7,937) - (9,587)
Transfer g% 29,595 1239 - 211611 (242,445) -
Transfer to investment BERAME
properties (Note 16) (Hiitie) (31,868) - - - - (31,868)
Exchange realignment AR (9365) (1018) (235) (74,458) (2535) (87,611)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 124318 721,702 67,591 17650 6,170,781 94517 7902241
Additions HE - 3271 3,064 67,196 857,668 931,199
Disposals = - (982) (1,764) (9.851) - (12,597)
Transfer 2% 47532 21 - 86,938 (134491) -
Exchange realignment e (15,535) (1492) (381) (134,259) (33,182) (184,849)
At 31 December 2024 #2024512A318 753,699 68,409 18569 6,180,805 1614512 863599
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 January 2023 R202351818H 206,691 41411 12542 2,590,294 - 2850938
Provided for the year BENE 35470 5,687 1415 347,008 - 389,580
Elimination on disposal HERLH = (152) (1,327) (5,085) = (6,564)
Elimination on transfer BRREH (1792) = = = = (1792)
Exchange realignment B iR (2815) (535) (148) (33,316) - (36,814)
At 31 December 2023 R2023512A318 237,554 46411 12482 2,898,901 - 3195348
Provided for the year BERE 33,133 5,059 1413 351,457 - 391,062
Elimination on disposal L EREH - (861) (1,588) (7,225) = (9,674)
Exchange realignment i (5,647) (1,066) (260) (67,909) - (74,882)
At 31 December 2024 #2024%12A31R 265,040 49,543 12,047 3,175224 - 3,501,854
CARRYING AMOUNT REE
At 31 December 2024 #2024512A318 488,659 18,866 6522 3,005,581 1614512 5,134,140
At 31 December 2023 120235124318 484,148 21,180 5,168 3,271,880 924517 4,706,893
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15.

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment except for
construction in progress, and after taking into account the residual
values, are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates
per annum:

Buildings and leasehold improvements 5%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Plant and machinery 5%—20%
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s leasehold land and
buildings represent buildings in the PRC and leasehold land and
building located in Hong Kong amounting to HK$484,773,000 and
HK$3,886,000 (2023: HK$479,894,000 and HK$4,255,000),
respectively.
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15. Y% - BMERREE)

Hiix - BEREEHEHREREZTR
SN E BRIBRMEBERTIA BRI T
FRITE -

EFREEYHEEE 5%
BRI~ BB KRB 20%
B 20%
= N2 5%—20%

R2024F 12 A31H ' Z"EEMHHE
EITHEREFRRURS HMHIE
FOURBEENHEELHREFS
Rl & 484,773,000 & JT & 3,886,000
78 7T (2023 £ : 479,894,000 4 7T &
4,255,000/ 7T) °

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. BEYHE

HK$'000

FHT

FAIR VALUE DFE
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1HA1H 187,778
Addition = 9,212
Transfer from property, plant and equipment HEEYE - WEREE 31,868
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss FFAERZ ATFERD (8,843)
Exchange realignment B 3, R B (2,433)
At 31 December 2023 2023 12A31H° 217,582
Exchange realignment bE 3 SEEE (4,679)
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 212,903
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 16. REWEE)

The Group leases out the commercial building and carpark building
for generating rental income. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 5 years for the commercial building and 2 years for the
carpark building.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currency of the group entity. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase
the property at the end of lease term.

The fair values of the Group's investment properties as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on those respective dates by Messrs Cushman
& Wakefield Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected to the Group (the “Valuer”) and were derived using
the income capitalisation method.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the Group
engages the Valuer to perform the valuation. The management of
the Group works closely with the Valuer to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use
of the properties is their current use.
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 16. BEWE(H)
The following table gives information about how the fair values TREIZFREWENR2024F12 A
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the 31AFI2023F 12 A31 AN A TFEZE
valuation techniques and inputs used) as at 31 December 2024 EE(LHERMETERFAMEAZE) -
and 2023.

Relationship of

Significant unobservable unobservable inputs
Valuation technique  inputs to fair value
TUBREARBERTE
fR{ER % BERFAHESH ZBR
Commercial units, Income capitalisation Market rents, taking into account  The higher the market rents,
comprising the shops, ~ method the differences in location, the higher the fair value.
service apartments WA EREE and individual factors, such as TS HEESHE - AFEBS -
and offices and frontage and size, between the
located in Changshu, comparables and the properties,
the PRC which ranged from RMB20 to
PEE AR R EEH RMB44 (2023: from RMB23
HefEmd R to RMB46) per square metre
NBEHAE of the shops, apartments and

offices per month.

mEiHe  BERIVENEZR -
VA K2 AT EE 2 B ) 5 2 R ) P
EMEEFENEE - & -
REXNABMPRAENTE
FHARERAARE20E447T
(2023% : AR¥23E467T) ©

Reversionary yields, taking into The higher the reversionary
account the capitalisation of yields, the lower the fair
rental income potential, nature value.
of the properties, and prevailing EHEWEE LS @ AFEB
market condition, of 4.5% to K-

5.5% (2023: 4.5% to 5.5%).
EFEREE  ZRIHESWAE
MERB S - MENMENE
RTRITIZARN © T F4.5%%E
5.5%(2023%F :4.5%-5.5%) °
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Valuation technique

16. IREWE(E)

Significant unobservable
inputs

EXFABRZE

Relationship of
unobservable inputs

to fair value
THBREAMBEATE
ZBE

fh{ETT %
Carparks, located in Income capitalisation
Changshu, the PRC method
hEERNIEES WAB AR EIE

The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair value

hierarchy.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

Market rents, taking into account
the differences in location
between the comparables
and the properties is RMB205
(2023: RMB212) per car
parking space per month.

MimiHE - ZRIIFILLYEEY
ECHUENZR  GFHEM
FAARMK2057T(2023F : A
R¥E2127T) 75 -

Reversionary yields, taking into
account the capitalisation of
rental income potential, nature
of the properties, and prevailing
market condition, of 4.5%
(2023: 4.5%).

EElaE  ZEIEEKAE
RNMeeyEN - MENEENE
RIS - £54.5% (2023
F 1 45%) °

152

A &

The higher the market rents,
the higher the fair value.
misiels A HEYS °

The higher the reversionary
yields, the lower the fair
value.

EHEREEES
& e

N EY

FAMBEE=RNEAREL -



17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
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17. FREEE

Office
properties
Leasehold and
land dormitory Total
MAEYE
HE Lt kES &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
(Note)
(Hi7E)
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 131,468 2,381 133,849
Addition NE 66,143 7,078 73,221
Depreciation e (4,318) (2,322) (6,640)
Exchange realignment (RIS (4,307) 9 (4,298)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12H31H 188,986 7,146 196,132
Addition NE 9,264 - 9,264
Depreciation e (4,628) (2,414) (7,042)
Exchange realignment FE 5 2 (4,188) (115) (4,303)
At 31 December 2024 72024512H31H 189,434 4,617 194,051
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Expense relating to short-term leases REHESER 126 144
Total cash outflow for leases MEBR M85 11,804 68,752

Note: In prior years, the Group received government subsidies relating to acquisitions
of land use rights, which have been presented by deducting the subsidies in
arriving at the carrying amounts of the leasehold lands. As at 31 December
2024, the government grants amounting to HK$100,387,000 (2023:
HK$108,037,000) remained to be recognised in profit or loss over the lease
terms as reduced depreciation expenses.

For both years, the Group leases office properties and dormitory
from Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited and its subsidiaries
(the “LMP Group") for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of three years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all
leasehold lands.
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$4,686,000 are recognised with
related right-of-use assets of HK$4,617,000 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: lease liabilities of HK$7,148,000 and related right-
of-use assets of HK$7,146,000). The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

17.

EREEE(E)
5 RO PR A 22 5

AN - R2024F 12 A31H > HEA
& 4,686,000 7 T F L FHRE £ A #E &
EE 4,617,000/ 7L (20234 : HEAE
7148000 T I E B FE A IEEE
7,146,000/8 70 ) &L E MR - HEWZER
HHEAFENHEEEEFR KT ERIN
THENEMRE - HEEETSRES
EER -

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. BEE
Technical
knowhow Software Total
i 9l7 AN EE B &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FAIT FAIT
COST R
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 111,740 532 112,272
Exchange realignment i R B (1,228) 6) (1,234)
At 31 December 2023 F2023F12A31H 110,512 526 111,038
Exchange realignment & H (2,377) a1 (2,388)
At 31 December 2024 7A2024F12831H 108,135 515 108,650
AMORTISATION #e
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1 518 24,503 238 24,741
Provided for the year B 2,649 75 2,724
Exchange realignment HE 5, 8 2 (308) @) (312)
At 31 December 2023 MR2023%F12A31H 26,844 309 27,153
Provided for the year (oS 2,595 68 2,663
Exchange realignment bE AT (619) (8) (627)
At 31 December 2024 2024512831 H 28,820 369 29,189
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 31 December 2024 7A2024F12831H 79,315 146 79,461
At 31 December 2023 MR2023%F12A831H 83,668 217 83,885

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the following

periods:

Technical knowhow
Software

10 to 39 years
5 years
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
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2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

T FHTT

Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures  3E_F & &b ¥ 2 IR ERAR 125,166 125,166

Exchange realignment b H % (13,363) (12,608)
Share of loss and other comprehensive FEEREREMPES H

expense (11,922) (13,778)

99,881 98,780

Details of each of the Group's joint ventures at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

BEREHR  ~KEREBHAELE
HFFIEESIANT -

Proportion of

ownership
Place of establishment/ Class of interest held Principal
Name of entity incorporation shares held by the Group activity
FERE AEEBEREN
BERZR B B kil ERTRAZERLH TEXH
2024 2023
FARBEERARAA PRC Registered capital 40% 40%  Provision of port
(Note) (Hzt) F AR facilities
RAE ORI
Southern Hill Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 50% 50%  Investment holding on
HEBRAR BE Lk port facilities services
business
REZBNE DR
EY) ]

Note: The Group is able to exercise joint control over the relevant activities of this
entity, as the major decisions regarding the relevant activities of this entity
require unanimous consent of their respective shareholders according to the
shareholders agreements.
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information of the major joint venture is as
follows. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts shown in the joint venture's financial statements prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs:

SRR ER(E)

ABOETEOE AGA BTERS -

BREZRZCEXZIMBERDOT - T
XAEM B ER R B RRBET B R
SEANRE B ERAPBEREATE
L

Southern Hill Company
Limited and its subsidiary

HEERAGARENEAT

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FBT

Current assets MBNEE 9,576 13,230
Non-current assets IEmENEE 206,537 212,513
Current liabilities mENAE (675) (262)
Non-current liabilities ERBALE (54,586) (63,909)

The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:

NEBERABERBIENT ¢

Southern Hill Company
Limited and its subsidiary

MEFRARRAEKEQRE

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHTT

Cash and cash equivalents RERREEFEY 9,144 12,880
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 19. BROE R ()
Southern Hill Company

Limited and its subsidiary

MEERATDREWEAR

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHTT

Revenue WA 8,731 8,921
(Loss) profit for the year FRER) RN (57) 62

Other comprehensive expense for FAHEMEE S

the year (663) (836)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREEXZH (720) (774)

The above (loss) profit for the year includes the following:

AEFER(ER)EMEFEAT

Southern Hill Company
Limited and its subsidiary

MEFRARRAEKEARE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHTT
Depreciation and amortisation HrEe R (5,111) (5,217)
Interest income FLEKA 95 11
Interest expense FESH (1,681) (1,932)
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20.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 19. SEOESER(E)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to NEEBEBEER B RENBATZ
the carrying amount of the interest in Southern Hill Company ERIRE S ENMIEE R AGZE M
Limited and its subsidiary recognised in the consolidated financial wR 2R
statements:
Southern Hill Company
Limited and its subsidiary
HEFRARARAEKEQRE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Net assets HEE 160,852 161,572
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest ~ AEBEHH 2 A D 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest AEERE 2 RESRE 80,426 80,786
The carrying amount of the Group’s interest and share of total SEES—RKITERNELEREP 2 #
comprehensive income of another joint venture which is individually mMhEEMTEZES D RIA19,455,000
not material are HK$19,455,000 (2023: HK$17,994,000) and 7 7T (2023 FF 17,994,000 7% 7t ) &
HK$1,885,000 (2023: HK$512,000) respectively. 1,885,000 /% 7T (2023 4 : 512,000 /&
JT) °
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. BELEIER
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Cost of unlisted investment in associates FELFMEELEZIREKAK 25,796 25,796
Exchange realignment b H A% (1,565) (1,025)
Share of profit (loss) and other comprehensive (k% F| (E518 ) K EoAth 2 T M 25
income (expense) () 949 (883)
25,180 23,888
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

21.

Details of the Group's associates at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

20.

Annual Report 2024 F#

Behxomm(E)

BEAGEHN  FEEZBELEY
SAERIIT -

Proportion of

Place of Class of ownership interest
Name of entity establishment shares held held by the Group Principal activity
igsTE FEERIGH
BERER B SZ 3t B o] R Lo TEEHR
2024 2023
InEmESRANBRAR  PRC Registered 49% 49%  Sale of steam, construction
H capital and maintenance of steam
&R pipelines, sale of heat-supply
equipment and appliance
HERR  BEREEAR
B HERER 2
R KA
ITEIEMEEHEAR AR PRC Registered 28% 28%  Research and product
H capital development
AR WE R EmmE

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) JOINT VENTURES/AN
ASSOCIATE

As at 31 December 2023, the amount due from a joint venture
amounting to HK$ 11,085,000 represented the loan to HAREE
¥ BR AR During the year ended 31 December 2024, the loan
was fully repaid.

The remaining amounts due from (to) a joint venture and the
amount due from an associate are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 41.
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22. GOODWILL 22. B8
HK$'000
FHT
COST AND CARRYING VALUES B R AR EI (B
At 1 January 2023 E2023F1 18 2,622
Exchange realignment b SR B (29)
At 31 December 2023 FE2023F12H31H 2,593
Exchange realignment b 3, B (56)
At 31 December 2024 R20245F12H31H 2,537
23. INVENTORIES 23. &
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET
Raw materials and consumables RATE R FEA 428,461 531,468
Work in progress & m 25,647 41,057
Finished goods BURK i 146,832 215,224
600,940 787,749
24. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 24. FEYE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Properties for sale FEWE 8,267 23,806
The properties held for sale are located in the PRC. HEWMELCINFAE -
As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of leasehold land R2024F12A31H  FEYEREE

included in properties held for sale was HK$1,034,000 (2023:
HK$2,614,000). The carrying amount of leasehold land is measured
at cost less any accumulated depreciation. The residual values are
determined as the estimated disposal values of the leasehold land
component. No depreciation charge is made on the leasehold
lands taking into account the estimated residual values as at 31

December 2024 and 2023.

PYEMBENEE L HOEREES
1,034,000 7T (2023 4F : 2,614,000
70) o ME LAY ER B AR AR = 1F
MIRFINETE - IEEREAEE
TSR EERE -  ERIEE
202412 831 HM2023E12 A31HH
Hat(E - AYHELHHRITEER -

160



25. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group allows its trade customers a credit period ranged from 7
to 90 days.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables and bills receivable based
on invoice date/the date of revenue recognition at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

Annual Report 2024 F#

25. BWES @ RERHEMKIE

REE-RETEIEPZHRERHRTE
90K °

R I - NS SR R
BT A AR B E Y R A
e

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Not exceeding 30 days T EB30KR 121,035 112,991
31-60 days 31 260X 23,790 31,498
61-90 days 61290K 8,893 11,728
91-120 days 91E 120K 8,434 13,587
Over 120 days F838 120K 47,469 20,049
Trade receivables at amortised cost FEUE ZERFR + FRE SR AR 209,621 189,853
Not exceeding 30 days T EEB30K 123,944 52,405
31-60 days 31 260K 12,635 35,303
61-90 days 61E90K 6,130 2,467
91-120 days 91E 120K 1,571 3,050
Over 120 days FB38 120K 2,205 995
Bills receivable at FVTOCI EWEE  ZATEFAEMEZA
Was 146,485 94,220
Prepayments and deposits to suppliers ENFERNEERR S 43,034 88,716
Value-added tax receivables FEWUEETLIE 56,529 22,578
Other receivables H b e W F A 12,238 12,863
Total trade, bills and other receivables BWE S  BEREMKIBEEGT 467,907 408,230

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer's credit quality by investigating its historical
credit record and then defines its credit limit. Trade receivables that
are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be recovered
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.

At 31 December 2024, trade receivables (excluding bills receivable)

of HK$77,274,000 (2023: HK$29,981,000) was past due. The
Group does not hold any collateral over the overdue balance.
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25.

26.

27.

TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group endorsed
bills to suppliers to settle the accounts payable of same amounts
and discounted bills to banks. As at 31 December 2024, the
amounts of immature endorsed bills and discounted bills were
HK$485,992,000 (2023: HK$389,126,000) and HK$448,429,000
(2023: HK$510,315,000), respectively. In accordance to the
relevant laws in the PRC, the holders of the relevant bills have a
right of recourse against the Group if the issuing banks default
payment. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the
Group's obligations relating to the recourse are insignificant.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 41.

25.

EWES  RERHEMKEAGE)

HE2024F12A31HIEFEERN » A&
EEmREEE S EZRAEERBZIE
MERFRAMIRITEIR TR © 2024512
A318 - RIHEEZBRRUBRRES
% 5 Bl 485,992,000 JT (2023 4 :
389,126,000 7t ) & 448,429,000/ 7T
(20234 : 510,315,000/ 7C) ° BIEF
AR AR - MMRAZRITESL - 18R
ZEFBEAGEAASERR - EER
& AEEEEREHERENATEL
TEK -

ERHE F BRI KT ©

AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED COMPANIES 26. FEUR(FE(T)BIE A RKE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Amounts due from the LMP Group JEUIE X E R E 12,616 15,268
Amounts due to the LMP Group ERIESGERER (9,310) (8,551)

Note: The LMP Group is beneficially owned and controlled by Mr. Lee's family
member. The amounts represent trade balances which are unsecured, interest-
free and aged within 45 days.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 41.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH/SHORT-TERM BANK
DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY MOVE THAN
THREE MONTHS

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short
term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.
The deposits carry prevailing market interest rates which range up to
5.3% (2023: 5.4%) per annum.

Short-term bank deposits with original maturity more than three
months carried fixed interest rates of 4.2% to 4.4% (2023: nil) per
annum with original maturity over three months but not exceeding
one year for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Details of impairment assessment on bank balances and short-term

bank deposits with original maturity more than three months are set
out in Note 41.
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28.

29.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

28.

Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding
for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The credit period obtained

for trade purchases is 7 to 45 days.

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date at

the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Annual Report 2024 F#

BNEZ R EMRIE

ENESREMFEFERIEESBE
FEFEBERSTYNAZANRIE - EZEE
ZIRERERATEA5K -

ENEZRFARNBERRREZAZR
BN

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHTT
Not exceeding 30 days T EB30KR 101,822 88,893
31-60 days 31E260K 20,842 28,398
61-90 days 61290k 9,386 6,846
Over 90 days ClENY 25,536 34,696
Trade payables FERTE SR 157,586 158,833
Construction costs payable and accruals FERT TI2RIERTEIRE A 185,835 129,550
Other payables T RRIR 126,370 90,474
Value-added tax accruals TRTRIEERIA 13,773 658
Other accruals EMFERER 31,651 28,727
Total trade and other payables e E 5 R EMRIAEET 515,215 408,242
Analysed for reporting purposes as: ERRED RS ¢
Non-current liabilities FERBBE 21,798 24,897
Current liabilities mENEE 493,417 383,345
515,215 408,242

As at 31 December 2024, the balance of other payables included
a non-current deferred income, amounting to HK$17,289,000
(2023: HK$19,061,000), received from the PRC government for an
innovative technology project. The amounts will be utilised to the

relevant research and development expenses.

7202412 A318 » WER T R EBF
LT BRI IE B £% 417,289,000
BT (20234F  19,061,000/87T) Z 367
FREEWAECBEEEMERZKF - &
EFEGANEREFEER -

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29. EXAEE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHT
Manufacture and sale of chemical products BLENHE TEMm 40,953 57,914
Sale of properties MEHE 493 1,188
41,446 59,102
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29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$66,466,000.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in
the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

BREEE)

R2023FE1 A1 H - AWBEEA
66,466,000/ 7T, ©

TRINTRAFEZRAERT B
LEBANAERESE -

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

T FHTT

Manufacture and sale of chemical products BLETNHE TEMm 48,479 54,194
Sale of properties MEHE 1,188 1,915
49,667 56,109

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Manufacture and sale of chemical products

Contract liabilities represent receipts in advance from customers and
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs its obligations
under the contracts. Performance obligation is expected to be
satisfied within one year from the inception of contracts.

Sale of properties
The Group receives the consideration in advance from sale of
properties to customers. The advanced receipts result in contract

liabilities being recognised until the customer obtains control of the
completed property.
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30. LEASE LIABILITIES

31.

30. HEEE

Annual Report 2024 F#

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Lease liabilities payable: ERHEERE:
Within one year —FA 2,308 2,359
Within a period of more than one year but not %1 — 48 N1/ 4
exceeding two years 2,378 2,395
Within a period of more than two years but not 1 48 i1 7 4F
exceeding five years - 2,394
4,686 7,148
Less: amount due for settlement within 12 B FHEREBREMAR12MEA R
months shown under current liabilities FEAES 2 FKIA (2,308) (2,359)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months  ZI{EIEREN B EM SR 12/E A& E
shown under non-current liabilities Hi%E B 2 3RIE 2,378 4,789

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease

liabilities is 3.00% (2023: 3.00%).

Lease obligations are denominated in RMB.

FERNHEE A B INEF L8 B RA

R £3.00% (20234 : 3.00%) °

HERBIAARKHE -

BANK BORROWINGS 31. RITEM
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHETT
Unsecured bank loans EIIRIRITER 648,378 671,767
Carrying amount of bank borrowings based on &R I BRHER B2
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan  $R1T& FRAIBRE(E -
agreements:
Within one year —FA 587,937 671,767
More than one year, but not exceeding two w—F AT RS
years 21,806 -
More than two years, but not exceeding five BRFETE AT
years 38,635 -
648,378 671,767
Less: amount due for settlement within 12 B FERE B EMAR12EA R
months shown under current liabilities R H45E 2 FOAE (587,937) (671,767)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months  FIfEIEREN B EM AR 121E A& 5
shown under non-current liabilities Hi#EE 2 IR 60,441 =
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31.

BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The exposure of the Group'’s borrowings are as follows:

31.

RITERE)

AEE 2 ERRABRNT

2024 2023

HK$000 HK$'000

THET FHETT

Fixed-rate borrowings EBER 648,378 597,011
Variable-rate borrowings FRER - 74,756
648,378 671,767

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's variable-rate borrowings
carry interests at 0.75% over Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
("HIBOR") (2024: N/A).

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum on the Group's
borrowings are as follows:

M2023F 12 A31H ° AEBERNFE
BERIEEABRITRAERE £F0.75%

(2024%F : TN@EA)

AEEBERERFENREEMT

2024 2023

Effective interest rates: RIEBHR 2 BEFIER
Fixed-rate borrowings ERMERK 2.20% to 2.60% to
3.00% 4.18%
Variable-rate borrowings FRAER N/A 4.05% to
TiE A 6.69%

The following amounts of bank borrowings are denominated in
currency other than the functional currency of the relevant group
entities.

AT BN RITERAREEEEEN

R AN B ETE -

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FETT

HK dollars BT - 74,756
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32.

33.
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SHARE CAPITAL 32. |RA
Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
EEROEAE &8
HK$'000
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each: FREEI0E T2 LBk -
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and M2023F1A18 ~ 2023F12A318 K&
31 December 2024 2024F12A31H 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BITRER -
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and M2023F1H1H ~ 2023F 124318 K
31 December 2024 20244 12A31H 825,000,000 82,500

There was no movement in the Company’s share capital for both
years.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company's share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 14 July 2017 for the
purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible persons
(the “Participants”). The Scheme has a term of 10 years from the
date which the Board of Directors resolved to offer the options to
the Participants, i.e. 13 June 2017, and therefore it expires on 12
June 2026. On 14 July 2017, 82,500,000 share options with an
aggregate market value of HK$154,200,000 were granted and the
provision of the Scheme shall remain in full force and the holder
of all options granted under the Scheme prior to such termination
shall be entitled to exercise the outstanding options pursuant to the
terms of the Scheme until expiry of the said options.

The purpose of the Scheme is to reward the Participants who has
contributed or will contribute to the Group and to encourage the
Participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders
as a whole. The Scheme expressly provides that the Board of
Directors may, with respect to each grant of options, determine the
subscription price, the minimum period (if any) for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised, performance targets (if
any) and other conditions that apply to the options.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 33. BREEI(E)

The options granted on 14 July 2017 were vested on 1 April 2022.
These options are exercisable by Mr. Lee during the period from
1 April 2022 to 31 March 2027 as the Group had achieved the
performance targets.

The exercise price of the options granted to Mr. Lee is HK$3.72,
which was determined at the Board meeting on 13 June 2017 by
reference to the highest of (i) HK$0.10, being the par value of a
share in the Company, (i) HK$3.72, being the closing price of the
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of the above Board meeting approving the
exercise price and the grant, and (iii) the average closing price of
the shares in the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the above Board meeting approving the
exercise price and the grant.

The following table discloses movements of the Company's share
options during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

R2017F7R14BRHMEBEREE R
2022F 4R HEB - EAEEEERK
B RZ BRI B ER2022
F4R1BE2027F3A31 HEHEAF N
178 -

BYFEEZEREZITEEBARIT2E
T BR2017F6 R 1ZEMESE SR
F2ETI =2 2BR(UEaE AE)
EFE () 01087 - Bl E(E @ ()R
HETEEREBRLZ LTSS
EEHEBRAEL ZEAREBERAM
Z BRI TE3. 7277 R (iR BER
HETEERAEEEMAR LMES
EEHEANAMRS AEHIAMED
2B HBERHMZRHFHRTE -

HZE2024F 128318 %2023%F12 A31
BIEEER @ AR A BIREZE 50
I

Number of
Director Date of grant Exercise price  Exercisable period share options
2= E-di=h i TEE  TEH BREHE
HK$
BT
Mr. Lee 14.7.2017 3.72 1.4.2022 — 31.3.2027 82,500,000
e 201778141 2022F 48 1H-2027F3 8318
Exercisable as at:
Al FATHEER ¢
31 December
2024 and 2023
2024F 12 A31H K
2023%F12A31H 82,500,000

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no expense was
recognised in relation to share options.
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34.

35.

36.

Annual Report 2024 F#

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 34. EAREIE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  BEEWERE K& E 148,663 285,372
Acquisition of right-of-use assets BECRAEEE - 8,791
148,663 294,163
OTHER COMMITMENT 35. HhEig
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments RBEERR  KXEEBARFHT
for granting shareholder’s loan of HK$26,458,000 (2023: 26,458,000 7T (2023 FF : 26,458,000
HK$26,458,000) to Southern Hill Company Limited to cover the BT HIRER ER T REEBR A R A ER
initial costs and expenses of undertaking the pier construction in REEMCNRFBEIIAECBREES 21
Jiangxi Province, the PRC. HARK AR H ©
RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 36. ERBRIFHE
Defined contribution scheme REMIEE

The Group operates the Mandatory Provided Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme") for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes monthly
the lower of HK$1,500 or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs
to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the
government of the PRC. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make
the specified contributions.

The Group's contributions under the above-mentioned defined
contribution schemes are expensed as incurred and not reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the defined
contribution schemes prior to vesting fully in the contributions.

The total cost recognised to profit or loss of HK$19,108,000

(2023: HK$18,969,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group in respect of the current reporting period.
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 37. BEXZREER

BRBIRE17 ~ 21 R26FTAIE 2 BB A £
52BN AEEEBEEATRER

Apart from the transaction and balances with related parties as set
out in Notes 17, 21 and 26, the Group had significant transactions

with related parties during the year as follows: T2 EARR ST
2024 2023
Name of related party Relationship Nature of transactions HK$'000 HK$'000
BERER EES RE5ME THET FET
The LMP Group A Group beneficially owned  Electricity and steam fee paid 89,458 78,300
BGERER and controlled by Mr. ENBEERERE
Lee's family members
AEREREKE Sales of chemical products 165,549 176,138
ERBARES AR HELIER
Electricity and steam fee received 110,106 68,526
EREBRERE
Rental income received 3,206 2,709
BEHAESBA
Loading fees paid 10,921 4328
ERERHER
BRARABER A joint venture Management fee paid 7,483 6,110
ARRAT BERE ENEREE
Interest received 210 487
BIFIS
SISBER &7 A joint venture Management fee paid 2,607 2,660
ABRRAT RERE ENEREE
InEmiGsEEN An associate Steam fee received 20,912 21,667
ABRRAT Badx BlERE
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317.

38.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 37. BEXZREHE)
(CONTINUED)
Except for the related party transactions and balances described B EXCPTILREE A £ 5 RIS - K
above, the Group has entered into a joint venture arrangement with SEEBYEAEEITIAERER
the LMP Group. Details of the joint venture and the commitment to B BB RERUEEREZ KA
the joint venture are set out in Notes 19 and 35, respectively. B BIE M 1935 o
The remuneration of directors and other members of key EERHEMFEEEEXENE A2
management during the year was as follows: ST
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Short-term employee benefits RHIE T&H| 30,470 27,676
Post-employment benefits RIKRER 188 157
30,658 27,833
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 38. TEHRERH

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's acquisition
of property, plant and equipment of HK$318,351,000 (2023:
HK$255,039,000) was settled through transfer of deposits paid in
the prior years.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's property,
plant and equipment of HK$32,238,000 (including revaluation
gain of HK$1,792,000) (2024: nil) was transferred to investment
properties.
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 39. KARIEENBEA A
COMPANY
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31 December 202412 A31 8 k2023412 A31H
2024 and 2023 are as follows: RRBIZEEMBARGFBEET :
Nominal value of issued
Name of Place of and fully paid share Attributable
subsidiary incorporation  capital/paid-in capital equity interest Principal activities*
BRTRAZRE
WEAREE ML EE/ BRRE Frib gz TEXK
2024 2023
Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical ~ PRC Paid-in capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
Limited (Note) H - US$136,780,000 chemical products
THEXETBRAR (2023: US$108,750,000) HSEREETENIER
(Hit) BRRA
—136,780,000% 7T
(2023 : 108,750,000% )
Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical PRC Paid-in capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
Limited (Note) H - US$368,956,543 chemical products
IAEXEIBE AR (2023: US$354,956,543) EEREETIENIER
(#1:t) BRRA
—368,956,543% T
(2023 : 354,956,543% )
Lee & Man (International) Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% Investment holding
Investment Limited BB - HK$100 REER
B (ER)RERRAR LRK
—100/87C
Lee & Man Chemical Investment British Virgin Share 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited Islands - US$1 REFER
B TREBRAA RERNES Kb
—1%
Changshu Yunhong Realty PRC Paid-in capital 100% 100% Property development
Limited i — RMB350,000,000 ES
RRERERARAT BAKRA
— AR%350,000,0007C
Guangzhou Lee & Man PRC Paid-in capital 100% 100% Research and product
Technology Company Limited - RMB11,000,000 development
BEMEX AR AR BRRA R REmpF %
— AR¥11,000,0007C
Zhuhai Lee & Man Materials PRC Paid-in capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
Science Company Limited A — US$24,000,000 chemical products
RS AR (2023: US$21,600,000) HERBETHIER
—24,000,000%7C

(2023 : 21,600,000%7T)

& The principal place of operation of each company is the same as its place of < BRIFSEHA  TABRARANFEEE M
incorporation unless otherwise stated. ShER H b EARR) o

Note: These companies are registered in the form of wholly-owned foreign investment M - ZERRHUINEBE B EHA M -
enterprise.
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39.

40.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Only Lee & Man Chemical Investment Limited is directly held by the
Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results and/or net
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the
end of the year.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the bank borrowings disclosed in Note 31, net of short-
term bank deposits, bank balances and cash, and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues
as well as issue of new debts.
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41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

41a.

41b

Categories of financial instruments

41. €@MTH

4la. R T A >8R

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiBT
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEENA SREE 527,603 494,422
Financial assets at FVTOCI BEAFEGFAEMEZEKE 2
TREE 146,485 94,220
Derivative financial instrument PTESRITA 1,089 =
Financial liabilities THEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost WHEE A 2 SRV A E 1,110,703 1,041,297

. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, bills receivable, derivative financial
instrument, amounts due from (to) joint ventures/an associate/
related companies, short-term bank deposits, bank balances
and cash, trade and other payables and bank borrowings.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(1)  Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and the exposure
in exchange rate risks mainly arises from fluctuations of
foreign currencies, including HK dollars and US dollars
against the functional currency of the relevant group
entities. Material transactions and balances that are not
denominated in the functional currency of the relevant
entities give rise to foreign currency exposure as follows:

(i) US dollars — in terms of bank balances and cash.

(i) HK dollars — in terms of bank balances and cash
and bank borrowings.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) M. SMIAE)
41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies 41b. I EREE B ERBEK(E)
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) 5 EE (&)
()  Currency risk (Continued) () E®mEEE)
Exchange rate fluctuations and market trend have REE— ﬁf"‘ﬁ/ﬂ: R B Ko T
always been the concern of the Group. Management iﬁﬁfi‘“ - BIREG T BN
will monitor the foreign currency exposure closely and b @\ P W E R ER R P T A o
consider the use of hedging instruments when the need
arises.
Non-derivative foreign currency financial assets and ENTEINECREERTRE
financial liabilities &
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount RIEHIR - ANEERR AR
of the Group's financial monetary assets and financial BENEEEIIN E¥ECE
monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than NeRmEEEEREREYS
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are as & AEREENT -
follows:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Assets BE
HK dollars BT 7,134 83,254
US dollars e 91,077 2,578
Liabilities afE
HK dollars BTT - 74,756
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(1)  Currency risk (Continued)

Non-derivative foreign currency financial assets and

financial liabilities (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
appreciation and depreciation in the functional currency
of the relevant group entities (i.e. RMB and HK dollars)
against the above foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity
rate and represents management's assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis adjusts their translation at the
period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A
strengthening of the functional currency of the relevant
group entities against the above foreign currencies would
give rise to the following impact to post-tax profit for the

year and vice versa.

41. ERMIAE(E)

Mb. YEEBREEBERBE(E)

R ()

®

EEmR (&)

FITEINECREERSRA
&(#&)

TRAMFIIA A EE AR
SEERYEESE (AR
KETT) ik Bl SN RY BTt
K NBE5% 2 BURRE © 5%H)
RJE MR E TR B AT (MK E
KM SRR LML - £ HIRRS
50 SN E REE - FRIR
BE 5 =R A SR AT A
R - EHREEER Y
BEERN G E SN R RS
B K< FERBRERMNA T
FERZIA -

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Financial assets and liabilities: HEEUEERAE
(Decrease) increase on post-tax FERBE RN ORD)
profit for the year 2
— HK dollars — &I (268) (319)
— US dollars —ET7T (3,415) 97)
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk
Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities

The Group's cash flow interest rate risks mainly relate
to its variable rate borrowings (see Note 31 for details
of these borrowings). The Group's bank balances also
have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due to the
fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on bank
balances.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed rate bank borrowings (see Note 31 for
detail of these borrowings). The Group aims at keeping
borrowings at variable rates.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group's cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
HIBOR arising from the Group's HK dollars denominated
borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
financial instruments at the end of the reporting period.
For variable rate bank borrowings and bank balances,
the analysis is prepared assuming the stipulated change
taking place at the beginning of the financial year and
held constant throughout both years in the case of
instruments that have floating rates. 10 (2023: 10) basis
point and 50 (2023: 50) basis point increase or decrease
are used by the management for the assessment of the
possible change in interest rates of variable rate bank
balances and variable rate borrowings, respectively.

177

Annual Report 2024 F 3k

41. ERMIAE(&E)
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If interest rates had been 10 basis point higher or lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2024
would increase or decrease by HK$164,000 (2023:
HK$136,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its variable rate bank
balances.

If interest rates had been 50 basis point higher or lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2023
would decrease or increase by HK$280,000 (2024: nil).
This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to
interest rates on its bank borrowings.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties arises from the carrying amounts of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the amounts
of immature endorsed bills and discounted bills.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) M. SMIAE)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies 41b. AR EE B ERBEK(E)

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers (other
than bills receivable)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of
the Company have delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, except for those
which had been determined as credit impaired of which are
assessed individually (if any), the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade debtors by assigning
each of them to different groups by industry and using a
provision matrix on different aging of receivables. For the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group assessed
the ECL for trade receivables were insignificant and thus no
loss allowance was recognised.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 2.49% (2023:
3.39%) and 21.25% (2023: 20.18%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group's largest customer and
the five largest customers, respectively.

Bills receivable

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group would only
accept bills issued by banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies as the agreed payment
method from certain customers. The directors of the Company
consider the credit risk on bills receivable is limited.

Other receivables and amounts due from joint ventures/an
associate/related companies

The Group assessed the impairment for its other receivables
and amounts due from joint ventures/an associate/related
companies individually based on internal credit rating and
ageing of these debtors which, in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, have no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. ECL is estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of debtors and
is adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. For the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, the Group assessed the 12m ECL for other
receivables and amounts due from joint ventures/an associate/
related companies were insignificant and thus no loss
allowance was recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Short-term bank deposits with original maturity more than
three months and bank balances

Credit risk on short-term bank deposits with original maturity
more than three months and bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for bank balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss given default of the
respective credit rating grades published by external credit
rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m
ECL on short-term bank deposits with original maturity more
than three months and bank balances is considered to be
insignificant.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

41. ERMIAE(E)

Mb. REREEREREEE)

=EmERE R A EE(E)

JRA5 B 5 F 8 48 = 18] A 6942 B#R 7T

AR IRTTHEER

B PR SRR T35 R BIFR (= A AP AR
BHEENERFRREHRT - &
JRIAEIHA B BB =1 A 82 HAER 1T
FRERITESRZEERREAR -
AEBEFERITAESKO T —EAE

HEEERE2ZEINEER

T&%?Xﬁﬁﬂ’ﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁiﬁ PR EREE
M EMEXEE - RIBFHER
3? RIABIH B BB =8 A HE R

RITERRRITES 2T —EAE

,ﬁﬁﬁﬁ)’éﬁg%&u R RERX o

AEBEARREERR RS RTE

BEATEEER -

Trade receivables/

Category Description bills receivable Other financial assets
B2 BUIRR
5l Bt eSS Hit S MEE
Performing ~ The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
credit-impaired
FB#) RPUFREARERZORR TR EEE - 1218 AR EEE
FEEERE
Doubtful There has been a significant increase in credit Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
risk since initial recognition credit-impaired credit-impaired
AT &R EE R B IR HERIA R AR I TR EEE - BREEBEEEE -
FHEEERE FEERE
In default There is evidence indicating that the assetis  Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
) BRBELZEELREERE HRETRREEBE - BRETEBEEEE -
EERE EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor ~ Amounts are written off  Amounts are written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
G| EEBELEBALEHREVHRAEHEE MRS it

AN B B BRI R W 508
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

41. ERMIAE(&E)

Annual Report 2024 F 3k

Mb. eREREEBERBEE)

=E R R A EE (E)

TRAVAEREHNEX AL EE
RN EREENEERR :

External Internal 12-month Gross
credit rating  credit rating  or lifetime ECL carrying amount
HBEE wEEE REASARE
A B2 BHEERE BEEE
2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Hizt TET THT
Bills receivable at FVTOCI 25 Baa3-Aa3 N/A Lifetime ECL 146,485 94,220
— not credit-impaired
BRAVEFAEMZE Baa3-Aa3 TNEA KEEHEERR
W& ENER - FEERE
Financial assets
at amortised cost
RBERAzSHEE
Trade receivables 25 N/A Performing Lifetime ECL 209,621 189,853
— not credit-impaired
B E 5308 EHR JEES) KEEHEEER
- EERE
Other receivables 25 N/A Performing 12-month ECL 12,238 12,863
Hi W HIE i BY REABHEERRE
Amounts due from 21 N/A Performing 12-month ECL 139 11,140
joint ventures
e A& CEFA NEA B4 REABRBEESE
Amount due from 21 N/A Performing 12-month ECL 2,329 1,796
an associate
JE B & (> £ 30R EHR BY REABHEESE
Amounts due from 26 N/A Performing 12-month ECL 12,616 15,268
related companies
e EE N R FUR NEA Y REABHEERRE
Short-term bank deposits with 27  Aa3 N/A 12-month ECL 67,879 -
original maturity more than
three months
[RIZIHRBR=EA MG Aa3 TEA REABRBEESE
RITER
Bank balances 27 A2-Aaa N/A 12-month ECL 222,781 263,502
FITHER A2-Paa TEA REABREESE
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the Group's liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows.
The management of the Group monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and lease
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent the interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

The table includes both interest and principal cash outflows. To
the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the discounting
rate and the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate
at the end of the reporting period.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

41. ERMIAE(&E)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

M1b. YEEBREEBERBE(E)

REELEE(E)

Annual Report 2024 F#

Weighted  Repayable
average o demand Total
effective ~orless than undiscounted ~ Carrying
interestrate ~ 30days 31-60days 61-90days 91-365days  1-2years  2-5years cashflows  amount
RRIE  EEXRE Rt
FHHE  dORNK 3160k 6190 91-365% 1-2% 5% REREAT AR
%  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
Tin Thn TR Tin TR TR Tin TR
Asat 31 December 2024 12024512318
Trade and other peyables B AR M58 - W - - - - 4509 452501 452501
Amounts duetoelated  ERBRATHE
companies - 9,310 - - - - - 9,310 9,310
Amountduetoajont  EREERETE
venture - 514 - - - - - 514 514
Lease [ibiltes HERE 300 m 201 01 1813 2417 - 4,904 4,686
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEH 159 21,528 13,350 79,993 420,438 2,657 023 660,189 648,378
479,616 13,551 80,194 22,251 25,074 467132 1127418 1115389
Weighted ~ Repayeble
auerage o demand Total
effectie  orless than undiscounted Carying
interest rate 0dys  31-60deys  61-%0days 91-365days  1-2years  2-5yeas  cashfows amount
BRME  ERRER ZRi
TR BOM0K 360K 6190k 91-365K 12 255 Fenest  KEE
U6 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR Thn T Thn T T Thn T
As at 31 December 2023 72023%12A31R
Trade and other peyables BB REMFE - 354618 - - - - 58% 360454 360454
Amounts duetoelaied  ERBEATHE
companies - 8551 - - - - - 8551 8551
Amowntdietoajont  ERAEREHE
venture = 525 = = = = = 525 525
Lease liabilties HEEE 300 216 206 206 1852 2410 2410 7,480 1148
Fredraeborowings TS 2% 33005 - 53933 50008 - - 60946 597011
Varieble-ate borowings 25 £ 641 - - - TI810 - - TI810 74756
396,975 206 54,139 599,670 2470 8306 1061766 1048445
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) M. ERMIBE)

Ac. RTENAFEFE

41c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The Group's derivative financial instrument and bills receivable
at FVTOC!I are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives information about
how the fair value of the financial assets is determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as
well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair
value measurement is categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on

AEENITESR T AMRAE
AAREMEENENERERES
AR SRR A FETE - TRIE
HAE B HEE S /A E R FER
=B (R Bl 28 A &Y (s (B B g A 8
A) - UEBREBEAFERESEA
AEEEE  BAFEINEDED

AFEEREET R (FIRE
FIR) - ARREFERR - REFEE
A 75 R h R S AN B R & B
BERGRABEMNREERESH
RE)RFEARS o

the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurement
is observable. The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values at the end of the
reporting period.

Financial assets/ Fair value Valuation techniques and

(liabilities) Fair value hierarchy key inputs

cREE(AR) ATE NEEER HERTREZZEGASE
2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT TAT

Foreign currency forward 1,089 — Level 2 Discounted cash flows. Future cash
contract classified as FH flows are estimated based on
derivative financial forward exchange rates (from
instrument in the observable forward exchange
consolidated statement rates at the end of the reporting
of financial position period) and contracted forward

EAHIERARS rates, discounted at a rate that
HINERHRE N A reflects the credit risk of the
PTHESRBTIA - counterparties, as appropriate.

FIRBELR - AARBELRER
IR IR HARE R (RS HARA
AIE SR HANE 3 ) A4 ERYE
HARE BTN E - WIARMRAZ
SHFERREBRE TR EITI
| RERME °

Bills receivable at FVTOCI 146,485 94,220 Level 2 Discounted cash flows. Future cash

R R - mATERA E_H flows are estimated based on
Hith 2 E e discount rate taking into account

the market interest rate and
credit risk of the corresponding
counterparties.

FIRBLR - ARBDRER
EITIRERETHE - EEBT™
SHEFMBERZZHFNER
[
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42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 42.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

Annual Report 2024 F#

HREEBMELEAEZHIR

TRHFEAEERERETHNAEE
B BRASMIFRSED  BELD
ELfNABARASREIRKATRE
HEARESARERERTOESR
BRPReRENAE -

activities.
Bank Lease Dividend
borrowings liabilities payable Total
RITER HEAE EARE &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FHIT FAT FET
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1A1H 743,992 2,469 367 746,828
Financing cash flows RERERE (114,445) (2,465) (181,455) (298,365)
Dividends recognised as distribution B 2.2 I8 2k - - 181,500 181,500
New lease entered HMAIEE - 7,078 = 7,078
Finance costs recognised EHRZNBER 39,224 58 = 39,282
Exchange realignment BEE 5 2,996 8 - 3,004
At 31 December 2023 M2023F 128318 671,767 7,148 412 679,327
Financing cash flows MERERE (31,919) (2,540) (230,974) (265,433)
Dividends recognised as distribution B #E#R2 %8 5k - - 231,000 231,000
Unclaimed dividends reverted to REFIRR BB ARA]
the Company - - (246) (246)
Finance costs recognised BHRZUEER 21,719 180 = 21,899
Exchange realignment B 5 SR (13,189) (102) - (13,291)
At 31 December 2024 2024128318 648,378 4,686 192 653,256
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=2024F12A31HIEFE

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

43. KRBT T

2024 2023
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in a subsidiary WEBARIRE 52,064 53,208
Amount due from a subsidiary e — R P8 A R IR - 356,329
52,064 409,537

CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments TERTFIE 218 179
Amount due from a subsidiary R —K B A 7RI 271,229 160,000
Bank balances RITHR 1,360 560
272,807 160,739
CURRENT LIABILITY REBAG

Other payables H IR 6,501 5,678
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 266,306 155,061
NET ASSETS EEFE 318,370 564,598

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EARRf#HE
Share capital AR AR 82,500 82,500
Reserves {1 235,870 482,098
TOTAL EQUITY peayob ) 318,370 564,598
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Annual Report 2024 F#

43. KA BERREKE)

(CONTINUED)
Movement of the reserves #EEE
Share
Share Contributed  Translation options  Retained
premium surplus reserve reserve profits Total
BB  EHRK W EXRE BRERE  REEH fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx Thx Thx THT TAT TAT
At 1 January 2023 #0231 418 20,307 (102,808) 10,500 154,200 593,512 675711
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (12,948) (12,948)
Exchange differences arising from ~ FAEMES L
translation EHEE - - 835 - - 835
Total comprehensive income ERZERE ()
(expense) for the year k] - - 835 - (12,948) (12,113)
Dividends BE - - - - (181500)  (181,5500)
At 31 December 2023 12023%12A31H 20,307 (102,808) 11,335 154,200 399,064 482,098
Profit for the year EREMN - - - - 23,240 23,240
Exchange differences arising from ~~ FMEMELZ
translation EHEHR - - (38,714) - - (38,714)
Total comprehensive (expense) ~ FR2E(TH )iz
income for the year B% - - (38,714) - 23,240 (15,474)
Dividends BE - - - - (2310000  (231,000)
Undlaimed dividends reverted to the - REERR SR AL
Company = = = = 246 246
At 31 December 2024 120245124318 20,307 (102,808) (27,379) 154,200 191,550 235,870

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the offsetting
of (i) difference between the aggregate net tangible assets of
the subsidiaries acquired by the Company pursuant to a group
reorganisation in December 2001 and the nominal value of the
Company's shares issued for the acquisition and (i) distribution in

specie in 2011.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Financial Summary

MERE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT FET FET FHBT
RESULTS ES
Revenue A 3,099,685 5,185942 5,867,037 4,050,581 3,950,833
Profit before taxation BRE R A 628,102 1,611,081 1,398,119 493,898 596,198
Income tax expenses FiS Rz i (125,474)  (323,072)  (241,344) (93,233)  (113,914)
Profit for the year F RN 502,628 1,288,009 1,156,775 400,665 482,284
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
eIl pee (il B (Il B4l
Basic earnings per share BRERER 60.9 156.1 140.2 48.6 58.5
Dividends per share BRRE 24 58 55 19 29
Dividend payout ratio (%) &8 Et % (%) 39.4% 37.2% 39.29% 39.1% 49.6%
At 31 December
M12831H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET T T FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ZEREE
Total assets BEBER 6,778,807 7,618,032 7,076,354  7,028967 17,196,443
Total liabilities BERE (2,335,243) (2,043,102) (1,443,313) (1,229,212) (1,260,473)
4443564 5574930 5633041 5,799,755 5,935,970
Total equity RARHER A
JE(E RS 4,443 564 5574930 5,633,041 5,799,755 5,935,970
Current ratio mEpLL X 1.52 1.60 151 1.29 1.21
Net debt ratio (%) FREE (%) 12.70% 24.97% 5.72% 7.04% 6.03%
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